THE NEUROBIOLOGY OF CROSS-DISORDER PSYCHIATRY AND THE TRANSLATABILITY OF RODENT MODELS

Alana Castro Panzenhagen Ph.D. Thesis

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO RIO GRANDE DO SUL INSTITUTO DE CIÊNCIAS BÁSICAS DA SAÚDE PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS: BIOQUÍMICA

Alana Eduarda de Castro Panzenhagen

THE NEUROBIOLOGY OF CROSS-DISORDER PSYCHIATRY AND THE TRANSLATABILITY OF RODENT MODELS

Porto Alegre 2023

CIP - Catalogação na Publicação

```
de Castro Panzenhagen, Alana Eduarda
  The neurobiology of cross-disorder psychiatry and
  the translatability of rodent models / Alana Eduarda
  de Castro Panzenhagen. -- 2023.
    353 f.
    Orientador: José Cláudio Fonseca Moreira.
    Tese (Doutorado) -- Universidade Federal do Rio
  Grande do Sul, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde,
  Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas:
  Bioquímica, Porto Alegre, BR-RS, 2023.
    1. bioquimica. 2. psiquiatria. 3. neurobiologia. I.
Fonseca Moreira, José Cláudio, orient. II. Título.
```

Elaborada pelo Sistema de Geração Automática de Ficha Catalográfica da UFRGS com os dados fornecidos pelo(a) autor(a).

Alana Eduarda de Castro Panzenhagen (Pseudonym for publications: Alana Castro Panzenhagen / Panzenhagen, A.C.)

THE NEUROBIOLOGY OF CROSS-DISORDER PSYCHIATRY AND THE TRANSLATABILITY OF RODENT MODELS

Thesis presented to Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica from Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde from Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul as partial requirement for gaining the doctor of biochemistry (Ph.D.) title.

Advisor: Prof. José Cláudio Fonseca Moreira (Prof. Ph.D.) Advisor for Bi-nationally supervised PhD Program: Prof. Bertram Müller-Myhsok (Prof. Ph.D.)

We inhabit a universe where atoms are made in the centers of stars; where each second a thousand suns are born; where life is sparked by sunlight and lightning in the airs and waters of youthful planets; where the raw material for biological evolution is sometimes made by the explosion of a star halfway across the Milky Way; where a thing as beautiful as a galaxy is formed a hundred billion times - a Cosmos of quasars and quarks, snowflakes and fireflies, where there may be black holes and other universe and extraterrestrial civilizations whose radio messages are at this moment reaching the Earth. How pallid by comparison are the pretensions of superstition and pseudoscience; how important it is for us to pursue and understand science, that characteristically human endeavor.

- Carl Sagan, Cosmos

À minha familia, Neila, Arlindo e Marius, aos meus avós (in memorium) e aos meus orientadores, José Cláudio e Bertram, que fizeram tudo possível.

To my family, Neila, Arlindo, and Marius, to my grandparents (in memorium) and to my supervisors, José Cláudio and Bertram, who made everything possible.

Agradecimentos

Primeiramente, gostaria de agradecer à banca examinadora por aceitar o convite para avaliar esta tese. Também gostaria de começar agradecendo ao Prof. José Cláudio Moreira e ao Prof. Bertram Müller-Myhsok por tudo que me ensinaram ao longo desses quase cinco anos. Vocês foram essenciais para o meu desenvolvimento como pesquisadora e como pessoa.

Um agradecimento mais do que especial aos nossos principais colaboradores, por todo o apoio e esforço: Prof. Flávio Shansis, Prof. Eugenio Grevet, Prof. Diego Rovaris, Prof. Roberto Almeida e Dr. Philipp Sämann. Aprendi muito com vocês!

Aos colegas do Lab 32, grupo StatGen, Lapets e BRISA, obrigada pela alegria de passar o dia a dia com vocês. E para aqueles que também se envolveram nos meus esforços, obrigado pela paciência e apoio às minhas grandes (nem sempre excelentes) ideias. Obrigada, Augusto Maffini, e Luiza Behrens por inúmeras reuniões.

Agradeço aos esforços de todos os participantes dos estudos incluídos - os verdadeiros heróis que dão sentido a tudo isso.

Gostaria também de agradecer à Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) e ao Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) pelas bolsas concedidas a mim, que tornaram esta pesquisa possível.

Por fim, gostaria de agradecer ao meu apoio fora da academia, tão necessário para seguir em frente. Neila, Arlindo, Marius, Tesla, Sheldon, Megas... Muito obrigada!

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank the examination board for accepting the invitation to evaluate this thesis.

I would also like to start by thanking Prof. José Cláudio Moreira and Prof. Bertram Müller-Myhsok for all you taught me throughout these almost five years. You were essential for my development as researcher and a better human being.

A more than special thanks to our main collaborators, for all your support and effort: Prof. Flávio Shansis, Prof. Eugenio Grevet, Prof. Diego Rovaris, Prof. Roberto Almeida, and Dr. Philipp Sämann. I learned a lot from you and with you.

To my colleages from Lab 32, StatGen group, Lapets, and BRISA, thank you for the joy of spending everyday life with you. And for those who also stepped into my endeavors, thank you for the patience and support to my big (not always great) ideas. Thank you, Augusto Maffini, and Luiza Behrens for countless meetings.

I appreciate the efforts of all participants of included studies – the real heroes that make this all have meaning.

I would also like to thank Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) and Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) for the scholarships awarded to me, that made this research possible.

Finally, I would like to thank my support outside science, so necessary to keep me going. Neila, Arlindo, Marius, Tesla, Sheldon, Megas...Thank you!

Preamble

This thesis (written in English) is organized in three parts, in accordance with the rules of the Graduate Program in Biological Sciences: Biochemistry (UFRGS):

Part I: Introduction and objectives (up to 20 pages).

Part II: Results presented as scientific articles. Each article corresponds to one chapter. Five (5) articles were published in peer-reviewed journals. Two (2) articles are under review in peer-reviewed journals. Other two (2) articles are submitted to peer-reviewed journals. Other three (3) are published as preprints in repositories. And other two (2) articles are in preparation for publication.

Part III: Discussion and references (up to 20 pages). References correspond to citation in Parts I and III. References in Part II are within each chapter.

The work presented in this thesis was performed in both the Department of Biochemistry at UFRGS (Porto Alegre, Brazil) and the Department of Translational Psychiatry at the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry and the Technical University of Munich (Munich, Germany). This was enabled by Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) and the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD - german for Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst) through the following funding programme: Bi-nationally Supervised Doctoral Degrees/Cotutelle, 2020/21 (57507869).

Table of contents

Part I	1
1. Abstract	2
1.1. Resumo (Portuguese abstract)	2
1.2. Abstract (English)	3
2. List of abbreviations	
3. Background	6
3.1. The health impact and socioeconomic burden of psychiatric disorders	6
3.2. An overview of the cross-disorder concept	7
3.2.1. Clinical perspective	8
3.2.2. Neuroanatomical perspective	8
3.2.3. Molecular perspective	9
3.2.3.1. Central nervous system	10
3.2.3.2. Peripheral markers	11
3.3. Animal models in psychiatry and their validity	12
3.4. State-of-the-art neuroimaging in psychiatry	14
3.5. Suicide behaviour as an extreme cross-disorder phenotype	16
3.5.1. The heritability and genetics	17
3.5.2. The environment	18
3.5.2.1. Distal factors	18
3.5.2.2. Proximal factors	19
3.5.3. Key-differences between suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, and death by suicide	20
4. Objectives	22
4.1. Main objective	22
4.2. Specific objectives	22
	VI

Table of contents (continued)

Part II	25
The importance of biological psychiatry research	
Chapter 1: Increased psychiatric drug use in Brazil over the years	27
The translatability of cross-disorder endophenotypes	
Chapter 2: Gene expression overlap between neuropsychiatric disorders and translatability of rodent models	53
The validity of animal models in psychiatry	
Chapter 3: Systematic review and meta-analysis of the behavioral effects of methylphenidate in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder	72
Chapter 4: An animal model of what? The case of spontaneously hypertensive rats	87
Chapter 5: Expanding the discussion on experimental models of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder	90

Ways to tackle variability in psychiatry through neuroimaging analyses

Chapter 6: Emerging findings of glutamate-glutamine imbalance in the	
medial prefrontal cortex in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder:	
systematic review and meta-analysis of spectroscopy studies	95

Biobehavioral markers of suicide across psychiatric disorders

Chapter 7: Personality traits, impulsivity and suicide behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis	114
Chapter 8: Early-life trauma, impulsivity and suicide attempt: a systematic review and meta-analysis	193
Chapter 9: Inflammatory markers and suicide behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis	226
Chapter 10: The association of CD33 levels and inflammatory markers in suicide attempts during and after the COVID-19 pandemic	266

Table of contents (continued)

Part	111	291
1. Di s	scussion	292
Refe	rences	303
Anne	exes	314
	1. Protocols pertaining to the research in this thesis	314
	2. Co-authored research articles published during the PhD	348
	3. Attendance in conferences	350
	3.1. Work presented as poster	350
	3.2. Speaker	351
	4. Awards and positions within scientific initiatives	352
	4.1. Awards	352
	4.2. Positions in scientific initiatives	352
	5. Co-supervised BSc and MSc theses	353

Part I

"If I have seen further than others, it is by standing on the shoulders of giants" - Sir Isaac Newton

1.1 Resumo

Transtornos psiquiátricos, como transtorno depressivo maior (TDM), transtorno bipolar (TB), esquizofrenia (ESQ) e transtorno do déficit de atenção e hiperatividade (TDAH), não apenas compartilham características clínicas e moleculares, mas também impõem um ônus socioeconômico. Esses transtornos afetam o funcionamento diário das pessoas, resultando em produtividade reduzida e aumento dos custos com saúde. Do ponto de vista clínico, a co-ocorrência de transtornos psiguiátricos é maior do que o esperado ao acaso, e certos fatores de risco, como genética, trauma na infância e inflamação, aumentam a probabilidade de desenvolver múltiplos transtornos. Essa compreensão tem impacto no diagnóstico e tratamento, destacando a necessidade de uma abordagem abrangente considerando características transdiagnósticas. Além disso, modelos animais em psiguiatria são cruciais para entender mecanismos moleculares e para a descoberta de medicamentos. E a validade desses modelos pode ser avaliada com base na validade de construto, validade de face e validade preditiva. Técnicas de neuroimagem também avançaram nossa compreensão sobre a estrutura e a função cerebral em transtornos psiguiátricos. No entanto, desafios persistem, incluindo baixa reprodutibilidade e limitações de análise. Ainda, o comportamento suicida é apresentado como um fenótipo extremo e transdiagnóstico, destacando sua natureza complexa e multifatorial. Todas essas dimensões da psiguiatria podem ser abordadas levando em consideração suas características transdiagnósticas. O primeiro estudo apresentado utiliza as vendas de medicamentos psiguiátricos como um indicador de diagnóstico no Brasil, destacando impactos socioeconômicos e a urgência da compreensão dos transtornos. O segundo e o terceiro estudo introduzem uma metodologia para identificar genes consistentemente diferencialmente expressos em transtornos psiguiátricos e neurológicos. Eles exploram sobreposições, revelando genes e vias compartilhadas, especialmente relevantes na esquizofrenia e Alzheimer (ALZ). Do quarto ao oitavo estudo, a validade de modelos animais em psiguiatria é examinada. São destacadas as limitações do modelo do rato espontaneamente hipertenso (SHR) em representar o TDAH, levando a uma investigação mais ampla sobre modelos para TDM e transtorno do espectro autista (TEA). A abordagem fornece uma ferramenta valiosa para os pesquisadores escolherem modelos relevantes para comportamentos e tratamentos específicos. O 9º e 10º estudo abordam a variabilidade na psiguiatria por meio de análises de neuroimagem. Uma metaanálise sobre espectroscopia em TDAH revelou associações com desequilíbrio de glutamato-glutamina. Um algoritmo de biclusterização foi aplicado a conjuntos de dados de neuroimagem estrutural em TDM, oferecendo entendimento sobre características transdiagnósticas e condições específicas. Do 11º ao 14º estudo, são explorados biocomportamentais suicídio. Características marcadores do de personalidade. impulsividade e trauma na infância são examinadas por meio de meta-análises, revelando associações diferenciais com tentativas de suicídio, dependendo de condições psiquiátricas comórbidas. Marcadores inflamatórios e a proteína CD33 foram identificados como potenciais contribuintes para o comportamento suicida, abrindo caminho para pesquisas futuras. Coletivamente, esta tese contribui para a compreensão das bases biológicas dos transtornos psiguiátricos, destacando a importância de abordagens interdisciplinares, métodos analíticos avançados e conjuntos de dados diversos para estratégias de medicina de precisão.

Keywords: Psychiatric Disorders, Cross-disorder Characteristics, Neuroimaging Techniques, Animal Models in Psychiatry, Suicide Behavior

1.2 Abstract

Psychiatric disorders, such as major depressive disorder (MDD), bipolar disorder (BD), schizophrenia (SCZ), and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), not only share clinical and molecular features but also impose a significant socioeconomic burden. These disorders affect individuals' daily functioning, leading to reduced productivity and increased healthcare costs. From a clinical perspective, the co-occurrence of psychiatric disorders is higher than expected by chance, and certain risk factors like genetics, childhood trauma and inflammation, increase the likelihood of developing multiple disorders. This understanding impacts diagnosis and treatment, highlighting the need for a comprehensive approach considering cross-disorder features. Moreover, animal models in psychiatry are crucial for understanding molecular mechanisms and drug discovery. And the validity of these models can be evaluated based on construct, face, and predictive validity. Neuroimaging techniques have also advanced our understanding of brain structure and function in psychiatric disorders. However, challenges remain, including low reproducibility and analytical drawbacks. We also present suicide behavior as an extreme cross-disorder phenotype, highlighting its complex and multifactorial nature. All these dimensions of psychiatry can be dealt with taking into account their cross-disorder characteristics. The first study presented in this thesis utilizes psychiatric drug sales as a proxy for diagnosis in Brazil, shedding light on socioeconomic impacts and the urgency for improved disorder comprehension. The second and third studies introduce a methodology for identifying consistent differentially expressed genes in psychiatric and neurological disorders. It explores overlaps, revealing shared genes and pathways, particularly noteworthy in schizophrenia and Alzheimer's (ALZ). From the fourth to the eighth studies, the validity of animal models in psychiatry are scrutinized. The spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) model's limitations in representing ADHD are highlighted, prompting a broader investigation into models for MDD and autism spectrum disorder (ASD). The approach provides a valuable tool for researchers to choose models relevant to specific behaviors and treatments. The ninth and tenth studies tackle variability in psychiatry through neuroimaging analyses. A systematic review and meta-analysis on ADHD spectroscopy revealed associations with glutamate-glutamine imbalance. A biclustering algorithm is applied to structural neuroimaging datasets in MDD, offering insights into crossdisorder-related features and specific conditions. The eleventh to fourteenth studies explore biobehavioral markers of suicide across psychiatric disorders. Personality traits, impulsivity, and early-life trauma are scrutinized through meta-analyses, revealing differential associations with suicide attempts depending on comorbid psychiatric conditions. Inflammatory markers and the CD33 protein are identified as potential contributors to suicide behavior, providing avenues for future research. Collectively, this thesis contributes to the understanding of psychiatric disorders' biological underpinnings, emphasizing the importance of interdisciplinary approaches, advanced analytical methods, and diverse datasets for precision medicine strategies.

Palavras-chave: Transtornos Psiquiátricos, Características Transdiagnósticas, Técnicas de Neuroimagem, Modelos Animais em Psiquiatria, Comportamento Suicida

List of abbreviations

1H-MRS: Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

- ADHD: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
- ADHD: Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

ALZ: Alzheimer's

- APA: American Psychiatric Association
- **BD: Bipolar Disorder**
- BMI: Body Mass Index
- CD33: Sialic Acid Binding Ig-like Lectin 3
- **CNS: Central Nervous System**
- **DTI: Diffusion Tensor Imaging**
- ENIGMA: Enhancing NeuroImaging Genetics through Meta-Analysis
- fMRI: Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- **GDP: Gross Domestic Product**
- **GWAS: Genome-Wide Association Studies**
- IL1B: Interleukin 1 Beta
- MDD: Major Depressive Disorder
- MPH: Methylphenidate
- NLGN1: Neuroligin 1
- OCD: Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

PET: Positron Emission Tomography

Psychiatric Disorders and Medications:

PWAS: Proteome-Wide Association Studies

SCZ: Schizophrenia

SHR: Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat

- TNF-α: Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha
- TWAS: Transcriptome-Wide Association Studies

3.1. The health impact and socioeconomic burden of psychiatric disorders

Psychiatric disorders affect millions of people worldwide and have a profound impact on the health of individuals and societies; they can be debilitating and even lifethreatening (Tripathi et al., 2018). Major depressive disorder (MDD), bipolar disorder (BD), schizophrenia (SCZ), and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) are some of the most common psychiatric disorders (Cheng et al., 2018). MDD, for instance, can lead to feelings of sadness, hopelessness, and helplessness, while bipolar disorder is characterized by episodes of mania and depression. Schizophrenia, on the other hand, can cause hallucinations, delusions, and disordered thinking. And ADHD includes symptoms as innatention, hiperactivity, and impulsivity(American Psychiatric Association, 2013). But they all have something in common, and that is precisely what I dive into in this thesis.

While they have their own well-defined diagnoses, all psychiatric disorders share many features, from clinical symptoms to their molecular biology (Pelin et al., 2021). And this is no different when we take into account their impact in society, which goes far beyond the symptoms themselves. Psychiatric disorders also have a significant socioeconomic burden (Findling & Stepanova, 2018). These conditions can affect a person's ability to work and function in their daily lives, leading to decreased productivity and increased healthcare-related costs for companies. They can also contribute to poverty and homelessness, as people with severe psychiatric disorders may struggle to maintain employment and housing. Not to mention the cost of treatment itself, both for governments and for individuals (Dykxhoorn & Kirkbride, 2018). Efforts to address the health impact and socioeconomic burden of psychiatric disorders include increasing access to mental health services and reducing stigma surrounding mental illness (Dykxhoorn & Kirkbride, 2018). However, research into the biology of psychiatry is just as crucial. I understand that investigating cross-disorder features through a variety of methods and prisms may help to elucidate both the boundaries or uniqueness of disorders as well as underlying common aspects. And those will hopefully ease the development of better mitigation strategies and to more accurately predict both disorder onset and treatment response.

3.2. An overview of the cross-disorder concept

The field of psychiatry has long been challenged by the complexity and heterogeneity of mental disorders, making diagnosis and treatment of these conditions difficult (Marquand et al., 2019). The cross-disorder concept in psychiatry has significant implications for our understanding and treatment of mental illnesses. One of the key insights from this perspective is that many psychiatric disorders share common features in terms of their clinical presentation, genetic risk factors, and neurobiological underpinnings (Pelin et al., 2021). By identifying these shared features, we can develop more comprehensive and effective interventions and also help to explain the overlap in symptoms and comorbidity between disorders (Schijven et al., 2020).

3.2.1. Clinical perspective

Research has shown that many psychiatric disorders co-occur at rates higher than would be expected by chance (Hagerty et al., 2019), and that certain risk factors, such as childhood trauma and inflammation, may increase the likelihood of developing multiple disorders.

From a clinical perspective, the cross-disorder concept has important implications for diagnosis and treatment. Clinicians need to consider comorbidity when diagnosing and treating patients, as treating one disorder may have implications for the course of another. Additionally, the identification of common underlying mechanisms may lead to the development of more targeted and effective treatments that address multiple disorders simultaneously (Womersley et al., 2022).

3.2.2. Neuroanatomical perspective

One of the key neuroanatomical perspectives that has been implicated in the crossdisorder concept is the prefrontal cortex (Guirado et al., 2020). This region of the brain is involved in a wide range of cognitive and emotional processes, including decision-making, planning, and regulation of emotion (Anastasiades & Carter, 2021). Dysfunction in the prefrontal cortex has been linked to a variety of mental illnesses, including depression, anxiety, and schizophrenia (Guirado et al., 2020).

In addition to the prefrontal cortex, other brain regions that have been implicated in the cross-disorder concept include the amygdala and hippocampus (Vila-Merkle et al., 2021). The amygdala is a key region involved in emotional processing, while the hippocampus is involved in memory and spatial navigation.

Notwithstanding, there is a pressing need to further understand the brain characteristics associated with each disorder. As evidence is far from consolidated and the associations found are rarely specific, we should focus on applying different methods to further dissect the associations and hopefully these could be used as an adjuvant to guide clinical practice. Neuroimaging seems to be a promising and scalable approach that we touch on further in this thesis.

3.2.3. Molecular perspective

Common human diseases are generally multifactorial, being influenced by both environmental and genetic factors that may interact on producing a certain phenotype (Furlong, 2013; Quintana-Murci, 2016). Those diseases, related to the central nervous system (CNS) or otherwise, are usually associated with inflammation as well, which raises the possibility of systemic causal or resulting effects (Rocha et al., 2018; Sampson et al., 2016). In neurodegenerative diseases as Parkinson's or Alzheimer's (ALZ) this association has even inspired the coining of the term "inflammaging" (Franceschi et al., 2017; McGeer et al., 2016).

Diseases as diabetes, hypertension, psychiatric disorders or even continuous phenotypes, as body mass index (BMI) and height, are usually classified under the umbrella of complex traits. Those traits are influenced by an ensemble of different genetic variants and are therefore polygenic and "complex" (Boyle et al., 2017). This theory had already been partially developed by Fisher in 1919 (Fisher, 1919). Fisher's "infinitesimal model" takes into account that the contribution of each variant and gene becomes smaller as the number of genes associated with a trait grows larger, resulting in a normally distributed phenotype (Barton et al., 2017).

More recently, researchers have proposed that complex traits are not only polygenic, but also "omnigenic". The hypothesis of the omnigenic model states that all genes expressed in disease-relevant cells can actually affect core disease-related genes because of highly interconnected regulatory networks. This idea would suggest that a great amount of the heritability of those traits can also be explained by the influence of genes outside core pathways (Boyle et al., 2017). While this theory is nonetheless important to understand the etiology of complex traits, when referring ourselves to common diseases this should be translated into something that can be also applied therapeutically. In this sense, the continuing research on which pathways are mainly responsible for common diseases susceptibility remains crucial.

3.2.3.1. Central Nervous System

At the molecular level, the CNS plays a critical role in the development and expression of psychiatric disorders (Trojan et al., 2019). The CNS is responsible for processing information, regulating emotions, and coordinating behavior and disruptions in its function have been linked to the onset of several psychiatric disorders (Ebneabbasi et al., 2021; Zheng et al., 2018). For example, research has shown that abnormalities in neurotransmitter systems, including dopamine, serotonin, and glutamate, are involved in various aspects of mood regulation, cognition, and behavior, and have been implicated in the pathophysiology of many psychiatric disorders (Moore & Barnett, 2015).

3.2.3.2. Peripheral markers

While the CNS is generally where most changes occur in psychiatric disorders, it is hard to dive deep into the causes and consequences of disorders at this level due to the difficulties to study it further. However, there is compelling evidence that the peripheral systems exert a great deal of influence as well, be it in gut-brain interactions, systemic inflammation or others. Most importantly, the periphery can serve as proxy to the CNS as well as source of markers for the disorders (regardless if cause or consequence). The use of peripheral biomarkers provides a non-invasive and cost-effective way to obtain valuable biological data.

Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS) have also demonstrated that common genetic variations can considerably contribute to the heritability of brain disorders, in which many variants with small effect are responsible for a great deal of the phenotype. Those genetic variants overlap with high correlation, as is the case with schizophrenia, MDD and BD (Saito et al., 2023). Biochemical studies have also demonstrated strong associations between phenotypes related to the immune system and neurological disorders, as is the case with Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Wingo et al., 2022).

Multi-omics data has been vastly produced in the last few years from different types of human tissue and in several biological levels, such as in the genome, transcriptome, proteome, and even the microbiome. All these layers interact with each other and assessing a full perspective of the omics data has been one of the greatest challenges of today's bioinformatics and biostatistics research (Hawe et al., 2019; Huang et al., 2017; Vasaikar et al., 2018). However, the evidence is not even consolidated or provenly consistent across different studies within each omic. One of the most robust and widely applied statistical method to solve similar problems in epidemiology is meta-analyzing data subsequently to a well-conducted systematic review of the literature in order to estimate overall effect sizes (Page et al., 2021). This is one of the reasons why we have chosen to investigate the transcriptome in such a manner in this thesis.

3.3. Animal models in psychiatry and their validity

It is highly difficult to study the molecular characteristics of psychiatric disorders since the brain tissue in which we understand most of the mechanisms happen is not easily accessible and is rare the occasion where these samples can be explored (Christian et al., 2020). For this reason, animal models are widely used in psychiatry to try and understand the underlying mechanisms and pathways associated with the disorders . Another scenario in which they are extremely useful is drug discovery. We can test several treatments in rodents, for example, and infer on their effects in humans by the responses and changes we can observe in the model (Mallien et al., 2020). But they are models, nonetheless, and have their limitations as to what information we can extract and how we interpret it (Costello et al., 2018).

13

Animal models in psychiatry can be evaluated regarding their validity. The most accepted proposed method divides the validity in three main domains: construct validity, face validity, and predictive validity (which can all be further broken down, but we will restrain ourselves to these three major categories) (Willner, 1986). Construct *validity* refers to the molecular mechanisms and aetiology of the disorder, or in other words, if the animal model presents the phenotype through the same underlying reason as do humans. This is a challenging validity to test as one can imagine. We are still driving major discoveries in the field of psychiatry in humans, trying to understand the aetiology and mechanisms – how could we validate them in animal models? The same animal models we are utilizing in order to better understand these underlying mechanisms. It is an ouroboros of some sort. We will partly delve into construct validity (if I dare to say so) when comparing the transcripts found to be differentially expressed in the animal models and in individuals with the disorders. When we set out to understand how was the comparison of transcripts between model and disorder, we soon realized there was the question of whether the models themselves were valid or by which extend. Therefore, we proceeded to evaluate the face and predictive validities of representative animal models in psychiatry. They are somewhat more straightforward to evaluate than construct validity. *Face validity* is the ability of the animal model to show the same phenotype that we see in humans, in this case, symptoms of the psychiatric disorders that are measured through a set of behavioural tests. While predictive validity is how well an animal model can respond to well-established clinical treatments, in which they should present the same response seen in humans with the disorder. To our knowledge, this is the first endeavour to measure the validity of animal models in psychiatry.

3.4. State-of-the-art neuroimaging in psychiatry

Neuroimaging in psychiatry has undergone significant advancements, providing profound insights into complex neural mechanisms. State-of-the-art techniques have propelled the field forward, shedding light on the intricate interplay between brain structure, function, and psychiatric conditions (Murray et al., 2018). *Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging* (fMRI) continues to be a cornerstone, allowing real-time observation of brain activity and enhancing our understanding of disorders like schizophrenia, depression, and anxiety (John & Parekh, 2018).

Structural MRI has evolved to identify subtle anatomical changes associated with psychiatric disorders, providing crucial insights into conditions such as bipolar disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) (McCutcheon et al., 2021). *Diffusion Tensor Imaging* (DTI) has enabled the exploration of white matter tracts, contributing to our understanding of connectivity disruptions in disorders like autism, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and schizophrenia (Meoded & Huisman, 2019). Moreover, *Positron Emission Tomography* (PET) has been instrumental in studying neurochemical processes, offering valuable information about the role of neurotransmitters in conditions like depression and schizophrenia (Herfert et al., 2020).

As these advancements continue, practical applications in clinical settings start to emerge from the new neuroimaging findings. Neural markers identified through these techniques hold promise for early diagnosis, treatment selection, and monitoring treatment response. The collaborative efforts of researchers and clinicians through large consortia such as the Enhancing neuroimaging genetics through meta-analysis

15

(ENIGMA) are crucial for translating these discoveries into improved strategies for the diagnosis and treatment of individuals (Medland et al., 2022).

That being said, there are still several pitfalls to be addressed and there is a lot of work to be done in order to identify differences that can be confidently used in clinical practice. Some methods are behind others when regarding successes in finding significant associations. That is also true for different psychiatric disorders, where we can find many successful characterizations of schizophrenia, for instance, but not of depressive disorder. This is a trend that can be seen in several areas, such as in the clinic and genetics, where disorders with higher heritability and more well-defined diagnostic criteria tend to be easier to study in biological psychiatry (Burmeister et al., 2008; Gallinat et al., 2008).

Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (1H-MRS) is a specialized neuroimaging technique that allows us to investigate the chemical composition of the brain by measuring the concentrations of specific neurochemicals. The focus often lies in examining key neurochemicals, including N-acetylaspartate (NAA), creatine (Cr), choline-containing compounds (Cho), and myo-Inositol (mI), among others (Bustillo, 2013; Dong et al., 2022). However, results from MRS have been showing low reproducibility in psychiatry, which hinders the usability of the method and confidence in this type of study. In an effort to understand which are the main pitfalls we have conducted a meta-analysis with all evidence of MRS in ADHD, which has demonstrated large variability regardless of its high heritability component (Faraone & Larsson, 2019; Perlov et al., 2009).

Although, in psychiatry, structural neuroimaging has shed light on some associations between cortical thickness and surface area of brain regions, especially for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Padmanabhan et al., 2015), the evidence for depressive disorder still falls short of the closely-related phenotypes' successes. One of the possible reasons for this is small sample sizes. Since we expect higher variability in MDD presentations, coupled with low heritability, it makes sense that bigger sample sizes are needed to identify the same number of associations as in schizophrenia, for instance. This has been partially mitigated by international collaborations. However, this disparity can also be due to the way in which we process and analyse the data. In this thesis we present a new biclustering method trying to deal with the high dimensionality of depressive disorder in structural neuroimaging data and that will be hopefully extrapolated to other neuroimaging methods.

3.5. Suicide behaviour as an extreme cross-disorder phenotype

Suicide behaviour is a complex and multifactorial phenotype that has become a major public health concern worldwide. Despite numerous interventions and prevention strategies, the incidence of suicide has remained high, with over 700,000 deaths by suicide occurring each year (Wasserman & Cyranka, 2019). This highlights the need for a better understanding of the underlying causes of suicide behaviour.

While it is known that suicide behaviour is associated with several psychiatric disorders such as depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, substance use disorders, and anxiety disorders, it could also represent an extreme cross-disorder

phenotype. This means that there are shared genetic risk factors that contribute to the development of suicide behaviour (and are specific to it) across a range of different mental health conditions.

The identification of shared genetic risk factors across different disorders could help to explain why individuals with various psychiatric disorders are at an increased risk of suicide, and could lead to the development of more effective interventions to prevent it (Docherty et al., 2023; Mullins, Bigdeli, Power, et al., 2019). Furthermore, research into the shared genetic risk factors between suicide and other disorders could lead to the development of new therapies that target these underlying biological mechanisms (Wingo et al., 2022).

3.5.1. The heritability and genetics

Studies have shown that genetic factors account for up to 50% of the variance in suicide behavior, suggesting that these factors play a significant role in its development (O'Reilly et al., 2020). A number of genetic variants has been identified that may be associated with an increased risk of suicide. Notably, the most recent GWAS meta-analysis of suicide attempt identified 12 significant loci (Li et al., 2022), in which associations with nonpsychiatric traits such as insomnia and risk-taking behaviour remained largely unchanged after conditioning for psychiatric disorders.

By and large, genetic studies on suicide behaviour overall have found a trend of positive genetic correlations with depression, schizophrenia, pain, smoking, risk

taking behaviour, and negative genetic correlation with educational attainment and socioeconomic status (Campos et al., 2023; Li et al., 2022; Mullins et al., n.d.).

3.5.2. The environment

It is important to note that suicidal behavior is not solely determined by genetics. Suicidal behavior is the result of a complex interplay of biological, psychological, and environmental factors that interact over time. Environmental factors can interact with genetic traits to increase the risk of suicidal behavior further. For example, individuals with a genetic predisposition to depression may be more susceptible to the negative effects of stressors such as relationship breakdown or financial hardship (Uchida, 2021).

3.5.2.1. Distal factors

One of the most significant environmental factors that can influence an individual's risk of suicidal behavior is early-life events. Research has shown that individuals who experience childhood abuse, neglect, or other adverse childhood experiences are at an increased risk of suicidal behavior later in life. Childhood abuse can take many forms, including physical, sexual, or emotional abuse, and the trauma associated with such experiences can lead to a range of mental health conditions, such as depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder (Brezo et al., 2007; Turecki et al., 2019).

Notwithstanding, individuals with a family history of suicide are also at an increased risk of suicidal behavior. This risk may be not only due to genetics but also environmental factors that run in families, including mental illness, substance abuse, and social isolation. Bad experiences and exposure to certain behaviours can trigger feelings of hopelessness, helplessness, and despair, which can contribute to suicidal thoughts and actions. Similarly, chronic health conditions, such as chronic pain, cancer, or HIV/AIDS, can also increase the risk of suicidal behavior by causing emotional distress and exacerbating psychiatric disorders (Turecki et al., 2019; Wasserman & Cyranka, 2019).

3.5.2.2. Proximal factors

Recent life stressors, such as job loss, relationship problems, financial difficulties, and legal issues, can increase the risk of suicidal behavior by triggering feelings of hopelessness, depression, anxiety, or other psychiatric conditions. Traumatic events in general, such as exposure to violence or disasters, can also significantly impact an individual's risk (Turecki et al., 2019).

Substance abuse is another significant risk factor, as individuals who abuse drugs or alcohol are more likely to experience depression, anxiety, and other psychiatric conditions that can contribute to suicidal thoughts and actions. On the other hand, the substance abuse itself can have arisen from a coping mechanism over life despair (Turecki et al., 2019). Finally, social isolation and perceived loneliness can also contribute to an individual's risk of suicide behavior. Social isolation can lead to feelings of despair and hopelessness, which can contribute to suicidal thoughts and actions. This was particularly discussed after the COVID-19 pandemic since long-term psychiatric issues have been common, either as a result of contracting the disease or from the environmental and social changes that were imposed. In general, suicide rates go down in the beginning of a pandemic outbreak, but tend to significantly increase as time goes on and once feelings of hopelessness and other triggers (such as the loss of loved ones) start to take place (Antonello et al., 2020; Carvalho et al., 2020; Mazza et al., 2020).

3.5.3. Key-differences between suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, and death by suicide

Suicidal ideation can be described as thoughts or fantasies of suicide that an individual may experience at any point in their life (Turecki et al., 2019). Suicide attempt is a deliberate act of self-harm with the intention of dying. Suicide attempts can range from non-lethal acts such as overdosing on medications to more lethal methods such as jumping from a high place or using a firearm. Suicide attempts can be impulsive or planned and are often a sign of significant emotional distress (Kim et al., 2015). Death by suicide is the most severe outcome of suicide behavior, representing the intentional taking of one's own life. Suicide is a leading cause of death worldwide and has devastating impacts on families, communities, and society as a whole (Fortgang & Nock, 2021). It is important to recognize the key differences

between suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, and death by suicide to provide appropriate support and interventions.

Although sometimes suicide behaviour is seen as a set of progressive stages and suicidal ideation can in part predict attempt and death (Galfalvy et al., 2023), there is also evidence of differences between these conditions. Approximately 80% of deaths by suicide occur without report of suicidal ideation (Gosnell et al., 2019). We can also identify differences as to the characteristics of samples with suicidal ideation, suicide attempt or death. While the majority of suicidal ideation cases are females (Begum et al., 2017), males consistently attempt more and contribute to more than two thirds of deaths (McKean et al., 2018). Based on this evidence, several hypotheses have been proposed, such as impulsivity as a main driver of attempt (Rizk et al., 2021) or aggressiveness and extroverted personality as associated with the implication of more lethal methods (Perry et al., 2022).

However, there is also evidence of diverse genetic background, not only behavioural differences. Studies suggest a significant genetic contribution with heritability ranging from 30 to 55% to suicidal ideation (Mullins, Bigdeli, Børglum, et al., 2019), while suicide attempts present heritability estimates of 17 to 45%, even after controlling for psychiatric disorders (Levey et al., 2019). Moreover, a recent study found an association of one locus in the neuroligin 1 (NLGN1) gene with death by suicide that is independent from suicide attempt (Li et al., 2022).

22

4.1. Main objectives

- To investigate the gene expression patterns reported for different psychiatric and neurological disorders, comparing the overlap between conditions;
- To evaluate which are the best animal models and their translatability regarding face, predictive, and construct validities across psychiatric disorders;
- To identify potential behavioural and biological markers (such as personality, inflammatory markers, or structural neuroimaging) of disorder subtypes and suicidality.

4.2. Specific objectives

- To contextualize the research regarding the importance of better understanding psychiatric conditions for future treatment development, based on Brazilian records (*Chapter 1*)
- To investigate the gene expression patterns in peripheral blood samples (reported in open access repositories) for different psychiatric and neurological disorders comparing the overlap between conditions (*Chapter 2 and Annex*)
- To evaluate which are the best animal models and their translatability regarding face and predictive validity for most rodent models of psychiatry though meta-analyses (*Chapters 3 to 5 and Annex*)
- To investigate the accuracy and reliability of spectroscopy findings as biomarkers for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder through a systematic review and meta-analysis (*Chapter 6*)
- To understand the body of literature regarding personality, early-life trauma, and inflammation as markers for suicide behaviour, an important and extreme cross-disorder phenotype (*Chapters 7 to 10*).

Part II

"Have no fear of perfection; you'll never reach it" – Marie Curie

The importance of biological psychiatry research

"There is no standard normal. Normal is subjective. There are seven billion versions of normal on this planet."

– Matt Haig

The translatability of cross-disorder endophenotypes

"Show me a sane man and I will cure him for you"

- Carl Gustav Jung



Research article published as a pre-print on *medRxiv*.

Gene expression overlap between neuropsychiatric disorders

Alana Castro Panzenhagen¹, Alexsander Alves-Teixeira¹, Martina Schroeder Wissmann², Carolina Saibro Girardi¹, Lucas Santos¹, Alexandre Kleber Silveira¹, Daniel Pens Gelain¹, José Cláudio Fonseca Moreira^{1,3,4}

¹Centro de Estudos em Estresse Oxidativo, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul – Brasil

²Escola de Saúde, Universidade do Vale do Rio dos Sinos (UNISINOS), Brasil

³Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Celular e Molecular da UFRGS, Instituto de Biociências, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul – Brasil

⁴Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biociências, Universidade Federal de Ciências da Saúde de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul - Brasil

*Corresponding author email: panzenhagenac@gmail.com

Abstract

Common diseases result from a mix of genetic and environmental factors, often involving inflammation. Complex traits like diabetes and psychiatric disorders are polygenic, influenced by many genetic variants. The omnigenic model suggests all expressed genes can impact diseaserelated genes. This study examines blood transcriptomic variations in psychiatric and neurological disorders to understand mRNA expression profiles and address field discrepancies. Animal models are explored for similar gene expressions. This study extensively searched GEO DataSets and ArrayExpress databases, identifying gene expression profiles associated with neuropsychiatric disorders. From GEO, 10,359 samples were found, with 30 series (1,897 samples) in the qualitative synthesis, revealing 1,364 differentially expressed genes in Schizophrenia, 134 in Bipolar Disorder, 11 in Autism Spectrum Disorder, and 2,784 in Alzheimer's Disorder. Comparisons with GWAS studies unveiled overlaps, with 81 genes for SCZ, two for BD, and 135 for ALZ. Notably, 441 genes were shared between ALZ and SCZ. Enrichment analyses indicated associations with signalling pathways. In animal models, 2,360 series were identified, with 175 in the qualitative synthesis, resulting in a meta-analysis focusing on ALZ with hippocampus tissue, revealing 14 consistently differentially expressed genes. Four overlapped with human data (ALOX5AP, P2RY13, RGS10, SH3GL1). These findings contribute to understanding shared and unique molecular signatures across neuropsychiatric disorders, bridging insights between human and animal models. The study efficiently identifies and tests consistent differentially expressed genes in psychiatric and neurological disorders, focusing on blood transcriptomes. Compared to transcriptome-wide or proteome-wide association studies, this approach analyses transcripts directly from individuals with disorders, offering real-world predictive capability. Shared genes between disorders suggest common molecular pathways, emphasizing the need for interdisciplinary approaches in understanding and treating psychiatric disorders. Limitations include sample characterization and the peripheral marker focus. Further investigations, including functional assays, are crucial for validation and extending these findings.

Introduction

Many common human diseases result from a complex interplay between genetic and environmental factors, which can jointly contribute to the development of specific traits (1,2). These diseases, whether related to the central nervous system (CNS) or not, often involve inflammation, suggesting potential systemic causal or consequential effects (3–5). In the case of neurodegenerative conditions like Parkinson's and Alzheimer's, this association has led to the coining of the term "inflammaging" (6–8).

Conditions like diabetes, hypertension, psychiatric disorders, and even continuous traits such as body mass index (BMI) and height fall under the umbrella of complex traits. These traits are influenced by multiple genetic variants, making them polygenic and inherently intricate (1–9). This concept was partially formulated by Fisher in 1919 through his "infinitesimal model," which posits that the contribution of each genetic variant diminishes as the number of associated genes increases, resulting in a normally distributed phenotype (10,11).

More recently, researchers have proposed that complex traits are not just polygenic but also "omnigenic." The omnigenic model posits that all genes expressed in disease-relevant cells can affect core disease-related genes due to highly interconnected regulatory networks. This theory suggests that a substantial portion of the heritability of these traits can be attributed to genes outside of core pathways(9). While this theory is important for understanding the origins of complex traits, it must be translated into therapeutic applications when addressing common diseases. Consequently, ongoing research to identify the primary pathways responsible for susceptibility to common diseases remains vital.

In recent years, multi-omics data has been extensively generated from various human tissues and biological levels, encompassing the genome, transcriptome, proteome, and even the microbiome. These layers of data interact intricately, posing a significant challenge to contemporary bioinformatics and biostatistics research (12–14). However, the evidence derived from different studies within each omic category remains inconclusive and lacks consistency. In epidemiology, one of the most robust and commonly used statistical methods to address similar challenges is meta-analysis, which involves the comprehensive evaluation of data following a well-conducted systematic literature review to estimate overall effect sizes (15). Given that the protein networks involved in disease regulation are primarily linked to gene expression, our study focuses on the transcriptome level. Additionally, because representative tissue samples for common diseases are scarce due to high heterogeneity and complexity, the investigation of peripheral factors becomes imperative. This is particularly crucial for brain disorders, and considering potential systemic effects can provide valuable insights. Therefore, we have chosen to investigate transcriptomic variations in the most readily available peripheral tissue: blood, aiming to reconcile inconsistencies across the field.

This study aims to consolidate existing evidence on transcriptomic gene expression levels in blood samples, comparing individuals with psychiatric and neurological disorders. Through this approach, we seek to gain a comprehensive understanding of the mRNA expression profiles associated with complex traits, with the goal of resolving major discrepancies in the field. We also sought for the animal models of these disorders in order to understand if they present any similar differentially expressed genes.

Methods and Analysis

For this study report, we have adhered to the guidelines outlined in the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) (15).

Eligibility Criteria

We incorporated studies that compare gene expression levels in blood samples from individuals with psychiatric and neurological disorders to those from healthy control groups. Included in our selection are experimental studies that have quantified gene expression using mRNA measurement techniques such as microarray or RNA-sequencing. We exclusively considered studies that feature a well-defined control or resilience group. Our criteria encompass randomized clinical trials (RCTs), cohort studies, and case-control studies, with the stipulation that they include a control group not subjected to specific, unique treatments. The studies should have collected blood samples (including leukocytes, lymphocytes, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs)) from patients diagnosed with the respective disorder, as well as from healthy (or resilient) control individuals. We included all diagnostic approaches, regardless of the diagnostic manual or tool used. There were no restrictions on publication date, language, methodological quality, age, sex, or ethnicity of study participants.

We applied the following exclusion criteria: i) studies comprising only genetically related individuals (e.g., family-based studies); ii) studies lacking original data; iii) studies with cases displaying unique comorbidities; iv) studies devoid of healthy (or resilient) control groups; v) studies labeling remitters as healthy controls; vi) studies where blood samples underwent any form of ex vivo treatment before microarray analysis or RNA-sequencing; and vii) studies in which all case samples received a specific type of drug not categorized as "treatment as usual," such as the predominant prescription drug or class of drugs.

For the animal models, the criteria were as follows:

Inclusion criteria: study involving rats (rat, rats, Rattus norvegicus) or mice (mouse, mice, Mus musculus); animals must serve as models (or be used as models in other studies) for the specific disorder/disease (behavioral model, knockout, lineage, etc.); presence of controls without the disorder/disease (no behavioral induction, wildtype, control lineage, etc.) or resilient animals (in this case, note in the observation!); gene expression / transcriptomic method for coding mRNA (array, microarray, RNA-Seq, RNA sequencing...) in any tissue/cell type.

Exclusion criteria: studies where all animal groups were treated with any drug or treatment technique (e.g., deep brain stimulation), preventing comparison between the treated and untreated model and control; studies exclusively focused on non-coding RNA, miRNA, siRNA, methylation, genome variation, genome binding...; studies conducted solely with cell cultures.

Search and Study Identification

To identify relevant studies, we conducted an online search using two distinct electronic databases: Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gds) and ArrayExpress (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/). We did not employ search filters.

Our search strategies encompassed subject headings for each specific disorder/disease, research involving human subjects, and blood-related research:

1. Schizophrenia: (("schizophrenia"[mesh] OR "SCZ") AND ("humans"[mesh] OR "Homo sapiens"[Organism]) AND ("blood"[mesh])).

2. Major depressive disorder: (("depressive disorder"[mesh] OR "depression"[mesh] OR "depressive disorder, major"[mesh] OR "MDD" OR depress*) AND ("humans"[mesh] OR "Homo sapiens"[Organism]) AND ("blood"[mesh])).

3. ADHD: (("attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity"[mesh] OR attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder OR "ADHD" OR inattent* OR hyperact* OR impulsiv* OR "attention deficit") AND ("blood"[mesh]) AND ("humans"[mesh] OR "Homo sapiens"[Organism])).

4. ALZ: (("alzheimer disease"[mesh] OR alzheimer*) AND ("humans"[mesh] OR "Homo sapiens"[Organism]) AND ("blood"[mesh])).

5. BD: (("bipolar disorder"[mesh] OR bipolar) AND (humans[mesh] OR "Homo sapiens"[Organism]) AND ("blood"[mesh])).

6. ASD: (("autistic disorder"[mesh] OR "ASD" OR "autism spectrum disorder"[mesh]) AND (humans[mesh] OR "Homo sapiens"[Organism]) AND ("blood"[mesh])).

For the animal models the strategies were the following:

(("schizophrenia"[mesh] OR "SCZ") AND ("Models, Animal"[mesh] OR "Rats"[mesh] OR "Mice"[mesh]))

(("depressive disorder"[mesh] OR "depression"[mesh] OR "depressive disorder, major"[mesh] OR "MDD" OR depress*) AND ("Models, Animal"[mesh] OR "Rats"[mesh] OR "Mice"[mesh]))

(("attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity"[mesh] OR attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder OR "ADHD" OR inattent* OR hyperact* OR impulsiv* OR "attention deficit") AND ("Models, Animal"[mesh] OR "Rats"[mesh] OR "Mice"[mesh]))

(("autistic disorder"[mesh] OR "ASD" OR "autism spectrum disorder"[mesh]) AND ("Models, Animal"[mesh] OR "Rats"[mesh] OR "Mice"[mesh]))

(("alzheimer disease"[mesh] OR alzheimer*) AND ("Models, Animal"[mesh] OR "Rats"[mesh] OR "Mice"[mesh]))

Study Selection

The study selection process was conducted in two stages. Initially, we evaluated titles for inclusion, followed by a thorough review of detailed information from GEO and ArrayExpress. Both stages involved a minimum of two independent reviewers (ACP, ATT, MSW, CSG, LS, or AKT). Any disagreements were resolved through consultation with a third reviewer (ACP or JCFM).

Data Collection

Descriptive data from each study were extracted independently by at least two reviewers (ACP, ATT, MSW, CSG, LS, or AKT), with discrepancies resolved by a third reviewer (ACP or JCFM). Data encompassed study descriptions (sample size, mean age, standard deviation, gender distribution, ethnicity, country/region of origin, data collection date, transcriptome analysis platform used, diagnostic manual/tool, and medication or psychotherapy details). Transcriptomic outcome data, including raw and/or normalized gene expression data were retrieved through the GEOquery R package [21] or direct downloads from GEO and/or ArrayExpress websites.

Outcome Measures

Our primary outcome measure was mRNA levels, assessed through microarray or RNA-sequencing methods. These measures are typically available in full in online repositories, allowing access to raw data.

Data Synthesis

The dataset distributions and sample quality evaluations were performed as indicated by GEO. Since not all microarray platforms had the same exact coverage, we excluded the genes that were not present in at least 85% of the studies. We imputed the remaining values with the mean from the pooled sample. All meta-analyses comprised at least 20,000 mapped genes. Gene expression data was aggregated into a single variable for each disorder using the ImaGEO shiny app, using a random effects approach and 10% missing variables allowed. Differentially expressed genes were computed collectively. We have also explored gene enrichment analyses using the FUMA tool, with at least 10 genes belonging to each set.

Results

The search for studies in the GEO DataSets (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gds/) and ArrayExpress (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/) databases was conducted without language or date restrictions (including studies from the inception of the database up to June 30, 2019) in accordance with the search strategies described.

In the GEO database, a total of 10,359 samples from 324 series (gene expression series - datasets, typically corresponding to a single study, except for rare duplicates) were found, of which 30 series, comprising 1,897 samples, were included in the qualitative synthesis. The inclusion process is illustrated in Figure 1. The search for studies in the ArrayExpress database did not yield any studies different from those already found through GEO.

We found 1,364 consistently differentially expressed genes in Schizophrenia, 134 in Bipolar Disorder, 11 in Autism Spectrum Disorder, and 2,784 in Alzheimer's Disorder. Figure 2A depicts the overall methodology of ImaGEO, while the first 1,000 genes associated with each disorder are represented in heatmaps (Figure 2B-E). Not all series were possible to meta-analyse mainly because of different built for microarrays, making it difficult to join the data.

When comparing the differentially expressed genes found here with those significantly associated with outcomes in GWAS studies (data from the GWAS Catalog - https://www.ebi.ac.uk/gwas/), we found 81 overlapping for SCZ, two for BD, and 135 for ALZ (Supplementary file 1).

We also found that the differentially expressed genes overlap to some extend in between disorders (Figure 3A), with the biggest overlap being between ALZ and SCZ (441 genes). We have investigated these genes further through enrichment analyses. SCZ genes seem to be associated with signalling pathways, proteolysis, endocytosis, and cell cycle (Figure 3B). ALZ genes also seem to be associated with signalling pathways and the cell cycle, but mainly with the ribosome, oxidative phosporilation, Huntington's disease, and cancer (Figure 3C). When we look at the intersection between ALZ and SCZ genes we see they are mainly associated with Toll-like receptor signalling, proteolysis, endocytosis and cancer pathways (Figure 3D).

Regarding the animal models, we identified 2,360 series and included 175 in our qualitative synthesis, comprising 2,040 samples (Figure 4). However, we were only able to conduct a meta-analysis with the ALZ group with hippocampus tissue due to a lack of data or comparable tissues. We found 14 genes consistently differentially expressed (Figure 5). Four of those were also found in our meta-analysis with human data (ALOX5AP, P2RY13, RGS10, SH3GL1).

All genes described here and the qualitative synthesis of studies can be found in Supplementary file 1.

Discussion

The methodology described demonstrates an efficient technique for identifying and testing the consistency of differentially expressed genes across multiple studies with a similar design. The differentially expressed genes that were found still need to be individually further investigated for us to better interpret these results. However, the focus of the present study is on the overlap of markers between disorders and the similarities found in relation to GWAS results.

One of the main differences from our study to the ones that perform transcriptome-wide association (TWA) or proteome-wide association (PWA) is that we are meta-analysing the transcripts found directly in individuals with the disorders. The disadvantage of this approach is that it is highly improbable that we would be able to identify the whole set of causal genes or variants, since it is a cross-sectional freeze of the current characteristics, after years with the disorder. On the other hand, the advantage is that it carries more predictive capability in real-world samples, as we can identify the consequences of the disorder on the transcriptome. Future studies should focus on analyses that are carried out at different stages of disorder development, for example near the onset, or after different treatments. This could potentially lead us to better biomarkers that could be used in the clinic. Another advantage of this approach is that we can now compare what is found at the individual level with the predicted changes in TWAS and PWAS studies to better dissect what has been causal or consequential to the condition.

In a bid to contextualize our results, we compared the differentially expressed genes with those significantly associated with outcomes in GWAS studies, drawing data from the GWAS Catalog (16). Notably, 81 genes were overlapped in SCZ, two in BD, and 135 in ALZ. It shows that some of the genes associated in the transcriptome were also associated in GWA studies, and we would argue, most likely have to do with the development of the disorder.

A recent study by Wingo and colleagues, from 2022 compared the shared mechanisms across major psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases by mapping TWAS and PWAS predictions from summary statistics of GWAS (17). They tried to infer the most likely causal genes for the overlap between disorders. They have found 13 different genes that were in the intersection between psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases, from which we see two were also in our SCZ-ALZ overlap (HSDL1 and STXBP3). We could interpret as if those genes are part of a shared molecular pathophysiology that should be taken into account in early identification and treatment.

A particularly intriguing aspect of our investigation lies in the exploration of shared genes among the different psychiatric disorders. Subsequent enrichment analyses shed light on the functional implications of these shared genes. SCZ-associated genes were found to be linked with signaling pathways, proteolysis, endocytosis, and the cell cycle. On the other hand, ALZ-associated genes exhibited associations with signalling pathways, the cell cycle, the ribosome, oxidative phosphorylation, Huntington's disease, and cancer. The intersection of ALZ and SCZ genes was particularly noteworthy, with associations identified in Toll-like receptor signalling, proteolysis, endocytosis, and cancer pathways. The overlap between SCZ and ALZ has not been often noted in GWA studies (18,19) and it seems to be more prevalent when we investigate consequences and markers of the disorders in contrast to its genetic causes. In neuroimaging, for example, that is also true, in which several structural and functional changes are similar in between SCZ and ALZ (20–22). The environmental interactions might be at play here, in which similar environmental factors or

endophenotypes, such as cognitive decline, depressive behaviour, and others could be responsible by the shared biology that we encounter in these neuropsychiatric disorders. It is also possible that this relationship between SCZ and ALZ may still become evident in GWAS as larger samples are collected. Nevertheless, another possibility is that GWAS studies may not be sufficient to investigate the heritability of these disorders, emphasizing the importance of interdisciplinary approaches, as presented here. When we look at the overlap between ALZ and SCZ in terms of where these genes are expressed, we found that, apart from some constitutive expressions in the pancreas, heart, and liver, they were also found highly expressed in brain amygdala, putamen, hippocampus, the substantia nigra, and the caudate; suggesting key changes in CNS functions.

Some limitations should be taken into account when interpreting our results, especially: i) that a meta-analysis is just as good as its original studies, and we were limited as to characterization of samples and sample sizes; ii) that using peripheral markers, although non-invasive and good for predictions, hinders our ability to derive interpretations about the CNS and what are the changes that occur in the brain.

Our findings not only deepen our understanding of the intricate molecular landscape of psychiatric disorders but also hint at potential shared pathways and mechanisms across seemingly distinct conditions. Further investigations, including functional assays and validation studies, will be crucial to validate and extend these initial observations. The integration of diverse datasets and advanced analytical approaches continues to unveil the complex nature of psychiatric disorders, offering new avenues for targeted therapeutic interventions and precision medicine strategies.

References

- Quintana-Murci L. Understanding rare and common diseases in the context of human evolution. Genome Biology 2016 17:1 [Internet]. 2016 Nov 7 [cited 2023 Nov 15];17(1):1–14. Available from: https://genomebiology.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13059-016-1093-y
- Furlong LI. Human diseases through the lens of network biology. Trends Genet [Internet].
 2013 Mar [cited 2023 Nov 15];29(3):150–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23219555/
- 3. Rocha EM, De Miranda B, Sanders LH. Alpha-synuclein: Pathology, mitochondrial dysfunction and neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2018 Jan 1;109:249–57.
- Sampson TR, Debelius JW, Thron T, Janssen S, Shastri GG, Ilhan ZE, et al. Gut Microbiota Regulate Motor Deficits and Neuroinflammation in a Model of Parkinson's Disease. Cell [Internet]. 2016 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Nov 15];167(6):1469-1480.e12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27912057/
- Michopoulos V, Powers A, Gillespie CF, Ressler KJ, Jovanovic T. Inflammation in Fear- and Anxiety-Based Disorders: PTSD, GAD, and Beyond. Neuropsychopharmacology [Internet].
 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Nov 15];42(1):254–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27510423/
- 6. McGeer PL, Rogers J, McGeer EG. Inflammation, Antiinflammatory Agents, and Alzheimer's Disease: The Last 22 Years. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2016;54(3):853–7.
- 7. Franceschi C, Garagnani P, Vitale G, Capri M, Salvioli S. Inflammaging and 'Garb-aging.' Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2017 Mar 1;28(3):199–212.
- Xia S, Zhang X, Zheng S, Khanabdali R, Kalionis B, Wu J, et al. An Update on Inflamm-Aging: Mechanisms, Prevention, and Treatment. J Immunol Res [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2023 Nov 15];2016. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27493973/
- Boyle EA, Li YI, Pritchard JK. An expanded view of complex traits: from polygenic to omnigenic. Cell [Internet]. 2017 Jun 6 [cited 2023 Nov 15];169(7):1177. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5536862/
- Barton NH, Etheridge AM, Véber A. The infinitesimal model: Definition, derivation, and implications. Theor Popul Biol [Internet]. 2017 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Nov 15];118:50–73. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28709925/
- Fisher RA. XV.—The Correlation between Relatives on the Supposition of Mendelian Inheritance. Earth Environ Sci Trans R Soc Edinb [Internet]. 1919 [cited 2023 Nov 15];52(2):399–433. Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/earth-andenvironmental-science-transactions-of-royal-society-of-edinburgh/article/abs/xvthecorrelation-between-relatives-on-the-supposition-of-mendelianinheritance/A60675052E0FB78C561F66C670BC75DE

- 12. Huang S, Chaudhary K, Garmire LX. More is better: Recent progress in multi-omics data integration methods. Front Genet. 2017 Jun 16;8(JUN):268903.
- Vasaikar S V., Straub P, Wang J, Zhang B. LinkedOmics: analyzing multi-omics data within and across 32 cancer types. Nucleic Acids Res [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Nov 15];46(D1):D956–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29136207/
- 14. Hawe JS, Theis FJ, Heinig M. Inferring interaction networks from multi-omics data. Front Genet. 2019 Jun 12;10(JUN):440512.
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. Syst Rev [Internet].
 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Nov 15];10(1):1–11. Available from: https://systematicreviewsjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13643-021-01626-4
- Buniello A, Macarthur JAL, Cerezo M, Harris LW, Hayhurst J, Malangone C, et al. The NHGRI-EBI GWAS Catalog of published genome-wide association studies, targeted arrays and summary statistics 2019. Nucleic Acids Res [Internet]. 2019 Jan 8 [cited 2023 Nov 15];47(D1):1005–12. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky1120
- Wingo TS, Liu Y, Gerasimov ES, Vattathil SM, Wynne ME, Liu J, et al. Shared mechanisms across the major psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases. Nature Communications 2022 13:1 [Internet]. 2022 Jul 26 [cited 2023 Nov 15];13(1):1–19. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-022-31873-5
- Smajlagić D, Zayats T, Bekkehus M, Hellard S Le. Genome-wide association studies in psychiatry: Current perspectives. European Psychiatry [Internet]. 2021 Apr [cited 2023 Nov 15];64(S1):70–1. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.219
- Mallard TT, Grotzinger AD, Smoller JW. Examining the shared etiology of psychopathology with genome-wide association studies. Physiol Rev [Internet]. 2023 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Nov 15];103(2):1645–65. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00016.2022
- 20. Demirhan A. The effect of feature selection on multivariate pattern analysis of structural brain MR images. Physica medica : PM : an international journal devoted to the applications of physics to medicine and biology : official journal of the Italian Association of Biomedical Physics [Internet]. 2018 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Nov 15];47:103–11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmp.2018.03.002
- 21. Noor MBT, Zenia NZ, Kaiser MS, Mamun S Al, Mahmud M. Application of deep learning in detecting neurological disorders from magnetic resonance images: a survey on the detection of Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and schizophrenia. Brain Inform [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Nov 15];7(1). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s40708-020-00112-2
- Hassanzadeh R, Abrol A, Calhoun V. Classification of Schizophrenia and Alzheimer's Disease using Resting-State Functional Network Connectivity. 2022 IEEE-EMBS International Conference on Biomedical and Health Informatics (BHI) [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 15];01–4. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1109/BHI56158.2022.9926797



Figure 1. Flowchart of the study inclusion process from the GEO DataSets database for clinical studies. SCZ = Schizophrenia, MDD = Major depressive disorder, ALZ = Alzheimer's disease, ASD = Autism spectrum disorder.



Figure 2. Gene expression meta-analysis results for the first 1000 genes. (A) The overall methodology of ImaGEO shinny app. Gene expression heatmaps representing the associations found in Autism Spectrum Disorder (B), Bipolar Disorder (C), Schizophrenia (D), and Alzheimer's disease (E).



Figure 3. Enrichment analysis of Schizophrenia and Alzheimer's associated genes. All enrichment analyses are corrected by FDR and only genets with more than 10 genes were considered. A) The overlap between all disorders tested in an UpSet style plot. B) Enrichment analysis of Schizophrenia-associated genes in the Kyoto Encyclopaedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG). C) Enrichment analysis of Alzheimer's-associated genes in KEGG. D) Enrichment analysis of genes overlapping between Alzheimer's and Schizophrenia. E) Tissue-specific expression of genes in the overlap



between Alzheimer's and Schizophrenia; red bars represent significant associations < 0.05 after FDR correction. ALZ = Alzheimer's disease, ASD = Autism Spectrum Disorder, BD = Bipolar Disorder, SCZ = Schizophrenia.



Figure 4. Flowchart of the study inclusion process from the GEO DataSets database for animal model studies. SCZ = Schizophrenia, MDD = Major depressive disorder, ALZ = Alzheimer's disease, ASD = Autism spectrum disorder.



Figure 5. Gene expression meta-analysis results in heatmaps representing the associations found in Alzheimer's disease animal models hippocampal tissue.

The validity of animal models in psychiatry

"A model is a lie that helps you see the truth"

- Howard Skipper



Systematic review and metaanalysis of the behavioral effects of methylphenidate in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder

Research article published on *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

Review article

Systematic review and meta-analysis of the behavioral effects of methylphenidate in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder



Douglas T. Leffa^{a,b,1}, Alana C. Panzenhagen^{c,d,1}, Artur A. Salvi^b, Claiton H.D. Bau^{c,d,e}, Gabriel N. Pires^{f,g}, Iraci L.S. Torres^{b,h}, Luis A. Rohde^{d,e,i}, Diego L. Rovaris^{c,d,e,*,2}, Eugenio H. Grevet^{d,e,2}

^a Post-Graduate Program in Medicine: Medical Sciences, School of Medicine, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^b Laboratory of Pain Pharmacology and Neuromodulation: Pre-clinical studies - Pharmacology Department, Institute of Basic Health Sciences, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^d ADHD Outpatient Program, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Brazil

^e Department of Psychiatry, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^f Departamento de Psicobiologia, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

⁸ Department of Physiological Sciences, Santa Casa de São Paulo School of Medical Sciences, São Paulo, Brazil

h Animal Experimentation Unit - GPPG - Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre – Porto, Alegre, Brazil

ⁱ National Institute of Developmental Psychiatry for Children and Adolescents, Brazil

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: ADHD

Methylphenidate

Predictive validity

Systematic review

Animal model

Meta-analysis

SHR

ABSTRACT

The spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) are the most widely used model for ADHD. While face and construct validity are consolidated, questions remain about the predictive validity of the SHR model. We aim at summarizing the evidence for the predictive validity of SHR by evaluating its ability to respond to methylphenidate (MPH), the most well documented treatment for ADHD. A systematic review was carried out to identify studies evaluating MPH effects on SHR behavior. Studies (n = 36) were grouped into locomotion, attention, impulsivity or memory, and a meta-analysis was performed. Meta-regression, sensitivity, heterogeneity, and publication bias analyses were also conducted. MPH increased attentional and mnemonic performances in the SHR model and decreased impulsivity in a dose-dependent manner. However, MPH did not reduce hyperactivity in low and medium doses, while increased locomotor activity in high doses. Thus, since the paradoxical effect of stimulant in reducing hyperactivity was not observed in the SHR model, our study does not fully support the predictive validity of SHR, questioning their validity as an animal model for ADHD.

1. Introduction

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by impairing levels of hyperactivity, impulsivity, and inattention (Faraone et al., 2015). Although ADHD is characterized by a strong heritability of about 70-80% across the lifespan (Larsson et al., 2014), and some risk genes have been identified (Demontis et al., 2019), its pathophysiology is still not entirely known. In this sense, animal studies are considered a fundamental tool to unravel the neurobiological underpinning of the disorder (Nestler and Hyman, 2010). The spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) are the most widely used animal model (Sagvolden et al., 2005) of ADHD. However, questions are still open regarding the validity of using this strain as an ADHD model (Aparicio et al., 2017; Niigaki et al., 2019; Peres et al., 2018; van den Bergh et al., 2006).

In order to be considered a proper animal model, three main criteria need to be fulfilled. The first is face validity, which may be assessed by the similarity between symptoms expressed by the animal model and individuals with the disorder. The second is construct validity, which can be evaluated by the similarity of pathophysiological mechanisms.

² These authors jointly supervised this work.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.02.019

Received 16 September 2018; Received in revised form 27 February 2019; Accepted 27 February 2019 Available online 28 February 2019

0149-7634/ © 2019 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

^c Department of Genetics, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^{*} Corresponding author at: Faculdade de Medicina, Campus Saúde, Rua Ramiro, Barcelos, 2400 2° andar, Porto Alegre/RS, CEP: 90035003, Brazil. E-mail address: drovaris@hcpa.edu.br (D.L. Rovaris).

¹ Authors contributed equally to this work.

Also, the third is predictive validity, which may be measured by the ability of the animal model to respond to well-documented treatments for the disorder (van der Staay et al., 2009).

Several studies have provided support for the face validity of SHR as an animal model of ADHD. Behavioral similarities between SHR and patients with ADHD were observed concerning attentional deficits, impulsivity, hyperactivity, as well as motor and cognitive impulsiveness (Bayless et al., 2015; Pardey et al., 2009; Sagvolden, 2000; Sagvolden et al., 2005). Construct validity has been extensively investigated, although we should consider the limited well-known pathophysiological mechanisms of ADHD. SHR present variations in the DAT-1 gene, sex differences, decreased brain volume, dopamine hypofunction, as well as glutamate and norepinephrine dysfunctions (Meneses et al., 2011; Pardey et al., 2009; Sagvolden, 2000; Sagvolden et al., 2005). However, predictive validity has been little discussed so far (Sagvolden, 2000; Sagvolden et al., 2005); likely due to the scarcity and heterogeneity of the studies investigating SHR drug treatment. Therefore, the compilation and analysis of this data are of paramount importance.

Stimulant and non-stimulant medications with dopaminergic and noradrenergic action are usually recommended for ADHD treatment (Subcommittee on Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder et al., 2011), being stimulants the most effective drugs and the first-line choice (Cortese et al., 2017; Faraone et al., 2006). Among stimulants, methylphenidate (MPH), a dopamine transporter inhibitor, is the most commonly used (Shier et al., 2013). Despite some heterogeneity in response to MPH treatment (Wilens et al., 2011), there is a huge response rate to the drug, which is around 80% for both children and adults (Pliszka, 2007). Therefore, MPH can be considered the best tool to test the predictive validity.

Thus, in this study, we aim at summarizing the evidence for the predictive validity of SHR as an animal model of ADHD. We evaluate and summarize all studies reporting behavioral effects of MPH in SHR following a systematic review and meta-analysis.

2. Methods and materials

The methods are described according to the guidelines for metaanalysis of animal studies (Peters et al., 2006; Vries et al., 2015). A protocol for this study has been previously published (Leffa et al., 2018).

2.1. Search strategy

Studies were identified using three different databases: Medline, Embase, and Web of Science. The complete search strategy can be found in Supplementary Material. The search was independently conducted in February 2017 by two authors (D.L. and A.S). There were no language or date of publication restrictions. The reference list of included studies was searched in order to locate additional references. Authors of the original studies were contacted in case of missing data or questions regarding data extraction. If key information was not explicitly described or calculable based on other information, and there was no reply from the author, the study was excluded.

2.2. Inclusion and exclusion steps

The study selection and inclusion were performed based on title and abstract, followed by full-text analysis. Both were conducted by two independent authors (D.L. and A.S.), and any disagreement was discussed with a third author (E.G.). We included all studies that administered MPH to SHR (SHR-MPH) and had a control group (SHRvehicle) evaluating locomotion (hyperactivity), attention, impulsivity or memory. The following exclusion criteria were applied: use of SHR substrains (e.g., stroke-prone SHR), MPH administered only in brain slices, MPH administered only together with another drug, and MPH self-administration. Studies using a crossover approach, meaning that the same rats were used as active and vehicle, were excluded in order to avoid a carryover effect (Curtin et al., 2002).

2.3. Data extraction

Data extraction from included studies was conducted independently by two authors (D.L and A.P.). When not reported in enough detail, extraction was done by graph estimation using a digital ruler, as previously described (Pires et al., 2016a, 2016b). If both methods were not viable, the authors were contacted. After two unsuccessful attempts, the article was excluded. For each experiment, the following data were extracted: sample size; gender and age of animals; the route of drug administration; MPH dosage in mg/kg; the number of administrations per day; total days of treatment; behavioral test used; and outcome of interest. Whenever the articles reported a sample range instead of the exact value of animals per group, the lowest value was used, avoiding overestimation of effects. Also, when two different experimental groups shared the same control, the sample size of the control group was divided by the number of comparisons, as suggested by Vesterinen et al. (2014), and rounded down (minimum of 2 rats per group).

When there were multiple outcomes reported from the same behavioral test, the choice was made according to a rank of relevance organized by one review author (D.L.). Variables from each behavioral test were ranked subjectively according to their importance, and the one ranked highest was extracted. The rank was organized prior to data extraction and can be found in Table S1. If the same animals were evaluated more than once in the same behavioral test, the last one was selected for extraction. If the manuscript separated the results by time, the first time point was selected.

2.4. Bias assessment

The risk of bias assessment consists of a manual evaluation of included studies, concerning methodological quality. Risk of bias assessment was conducted by one author (A.P.), based on the SYRCLE's risk of bias tool for animal studies (Hooijmans et al., 2014). This tool provides a list of general topics that an animal study should address for it to be considered unbiased. Questions related to the assessment were discussed with a second reviewer (D.L.). Ten items were evaluated in the quality assessment. Three items were related to selection bias. The first item domain was sequence generation, in which a study presents low risk of bias when the investigators describe a random process of allocating animals in enough detail to assess whether comparable groups are created. The second was baseline characteristics, which for the sake of this study comprised information on sex and age of the animals. The third item domain was allocation concealment, which concerns whether the investigator allocating the animals to intervention or control group could not foresee assignments before or during enrollment. Two items were related to performance bias. The first domain was random housing, in which a study should describe the methods to randomly housing the animals within the animal room. The second item evaluated whether caregivers were blinded to which intervention the animals received. Two items were related to detection bias. The first evaluated if the investigators selected the animals at random for outcome assessment, and the second evaluated blinding of outcome assessors. One item was related to attrition bias (incomplete outcome data); other related to reporting bias (whether there was no selective outcome reporting, i.e., the study presented all the expected outcomes); and the last one related to other sources of bias. The tenth item addressed sources of bias beyond the ones covered by other domains. Each study was evaluated considering the ten domains and, for each item, it was classified as presenting a low, unclear or high risk of bias. In order to access publication bias, funnel plots were generated, and the Egger's regression test was performed.

2.5. Statistical analysis

Studies were grouped according to the behavioral outcomes (locomotion, attention, impulsivity or memory) and a meta-analysis was performed for each group. In order to conduct a meta-analysis, a minimum of three experiments was required. Pooled effect sizes were determined with standardized mean differences (SMD) using the Hedge's G method with random-effects, allowing the comparison among distinct behavioral tests. The significance of pooled effect sizes was determined using the Z-test, and because we performed four statistical tests, a Bonferroni correction was applied, and a p-value \leq 0.0125 was considered statistically significant. Individual study weights were obtained using the inverse of the variance. Data were transformed in order to obtain positive values for decreased impulsive behavior and increased attentional or memory performances.

Any variability causes heterogeneity among studies, such as methodological or population/strain differences. The heterogeneity between studies was estimated using both the Chi² and the I² tests, in which $I^2 = \left(\frac{Q-df}{Q}\right)x 100\%$, where Q = Chi² test results. A p-value ≤ 0.1 was considered significant for the Chi², and I² values of 25%, 50%, and 75% were considered as representing low, moderate, and high heterogeneity values were obtained using the Review Manager (RevMan) version 5.3 (Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014). For sensitivity analyses, a p-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

2.6. Meta-regression

In order to evaluate the source of variability among studies, potential covariates were selected based on biological plausibility and added to a random-effects meta-regression model. The following covariates were chosen: age of animals, route of drug administration, and MPH total dosage. Covariates associated with the outcome with a $p \le 0.1$ in univariate analysis were included in a final multivariate meta-regression model. Age was categorized in "adolescent" and "adult" before inclusion in the model because some studies did not report the age of animals in days or weeks. Animals with 60 or more days of age were categorized as "adults," while animals with 28 to 60 days of age were categorized as "adolescents," as previously proposed (Spear, 2000). MPH total dosage was calculated by multiplying the dosage received in mg/kg by the number of administrations per day and by the total number of days of treatment. Studies with missing values were excluded from the meta-regression analysis. Categorical variables were included in the model using dummy variables. Meta-regression analyses were conducted using Stata 13.0 (College Station, TX: StataCorp LP), as previously described (Harbord and Higgins, 2008).

2.7. Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analysis consists of a series of methods used to evaluate whether any particular study or group of studies, as well as any main methodological decision, may have significantly skewed the analyses. For that, the following tests were performed: (1) the jackknife method (Miller, 1974); (2) inclusion of effect sizes extracted from the same behavioral test; (3) including studies with crossover designs; (4) including only one MPH dosage at a time; (5) excluding studies presenting a concerning risk of bias, defined as either a high risk of bias in one category or an unclear risk of bias in 7 categories or more. All sensitivity analyses were performed with a minimum of three experiments. An additional sensitivity analysis was performed including only studies with experiments in female rats.

2.8. Secondary analyses

In the secondary analyses, we compared SHR submitted to MPH to a normotensive control strain submitted to vehicle stimulation. From these analyses, one can evaluate whether MPH is effective in normalizing SHR behavior to the level of control strains. For that, we selected studies reporting behavioral effects of vehicle stimulation in Wistar Kyoto Rats (WKY) or Wistar rats, when compared to SHR. The selection was performed from the final list of included studies. The sample size and the outcome of interest were extracted as previously mentioned for the primary analysis. Whenever there were multiple control strains, the WKY, followed by the Wistar rats, were selected for extraction. For control strain analyses, a p-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Study characteristics

The initial search identified 218 articles after excluding duplicates. A total of 82 studies were excluded after the title and abstract review, and 100 after the first full-text review (Fig. 1). Eleven authors were contacted, from which seven were unresponsive. In the end, one study reporting all outcomes, one study reporting attention outcomes, and five crossover studies were excluded. A total of 36 articles were included in the primary analysis, among which 22 reported locomotion (Chelaru et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2017; Dela Peña et al., 2013; Fox et al., 2002; Hong et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2011, 2016; Pardey et al., 2012; Pires et al., 2010; Robinson et al., 2012; Robinson and Bucci, 2014; Somkuwar et al., 2016; Tamburella et al., 2012; Umehara et al., 2013a, 2013b; van den Bergh et al., 2006; Vendruscolo et al., 2008; Warton et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2015, 2011, 2006; Yoon et al., 2008), 14 attention (Aspide et al., 2000; Cao et al., 2012; Cheng and Li, 2013; Dela Peña et al., 2013; Fox et al., 2002; Harvey et al., 2013, 2011; Hong et al., 2009; Kantak et al., 2008; Kawaura et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2016; Robinson et al., 2012; Robinson and Bucci, 2014; Yoon et al., 2013), 6 impulsivity (Adriani et al., 2004; Dela Peña et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2012; Somkuwar et al., 2016; Yoon et al., 2013, 2008), and 8 memory outcomes (Cheng et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2012; Hong et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2011; Pires et al., 2010, 2009; Tamburella et al., 2012; Tian et al., 2009) (some studies reported more than one behavioral category). Descriptions of included studies can be found in Table 1. From the 36 studies included in the primary analysis, 28 also reported behavioral effects of vehicle stimulation in control strains. Among those, 17 reported locomotion (Chelaru et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2017; Dela Peña et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2011, 2016; Pardey et al., 2012; Pires et al., 2010; Robinson et al., 2012; Robinson and Bucci, 2014; Somkuwar et al., 2016; Tamburella et al., 2012; Umehara et al., 2013a; van den Bergh et al., 2006; Warton et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2011, 2006; Yoon et al., 2008), 12 attention (Aspide et al., 2000; Cao et al., 2012; Cheng and Li, 2013; Dela Peña et al., 2013; Harvey et al., 2013, 2011; Kantak et al., 2008; Kawaura et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2016; Robinson et al., 2012; Robinson and Bucci, 2014; Yoon et al., 2013), 5 impulsivity (Dela Peña et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2012; Somkuwar et al., 2016; Yoon et al., 2013, 2008), and 6 memory outcomes (Cheng et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2011; Pires et al., 2010, 2009; Tamburella et al., 2012; Tian et al., 2009). The digital ruler was used for the retrieving of data from 33 studies.

3.2. Meta-analyses

A total of 22 studies evaluating hyperactivity were meta-analyzed, comprising 46 experiments with 418 rats in the MPH group and 239 rats in the vehicle group. There was no statistically significant effect of MPH (Z = 0.99, p = 0.32) and the overall effect size was -0.18 (95% CI=-0.54, 0.18; Fig. 2). In the attention analysis, 14 studies were



Fig. 1. Flowchart of included studies. MPH: methylphenidate; SHR: Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats.

included comprising 24 experiments with 224 rats in the MPH group and 126 rats in the vehicle group. A statistically significant positive effect of MPH was detected (Z = 3.57, p < 0.001) with a pooled effect size of 0.86 (95% CI = 0.39, 1.33; Fig. 3), showing that MPH increased attentional performance. Six studies evaluating impulsive behavior were included, comprising nine experiments with 82 rats in the MPH group and 62 rats in the control group. A statistically significant positive effect of MPH was shown (Z = 4.20, p < 0.001), demonstrating that MPH decreased SHR impulsive behavior. The overall effect size was 0.81 (95% CI = 0.43, 1.18; Fig. 4). A total of 8 studies evaluating mnemonic performance were meta-analyzed, comprising 14 experiments with 133 rats in the MPH group and 93 rats in the vehicle group. A statistically significant positive effect of MPH was detected (Z = 4.71, p < 0.001) with a summary effect size of 1.01 (95% CI = 0.59, 1.43; Fig. S1), showing an increase in memory performance with MPH treatment. All meta-analysis results are summarized in Table 2.

3.3. Bias assessment

Overall, studies failed to report aspects that could lead to selection bias (allocation concealment), as well as performance and detection bias. The quality assessment of locomotion studies did not reveal any high risk of bias, although the unclear risk remains considerably high (Figs. S2 and S3). The bias assessment of attention studies revealed that 14.3% of studies presented high risk of bias considering baseline characteristics (Figs. S4 and S5). Among impulsivity studies, 16.6% presented high risk of bias in the allocation sequence generation (Figs. S6 and S7). Quality assessment of memory studies revealed a similar pattern to the locomotion studies (Figs. S8 and S9). Finally, the Egger's regression test indicates no publication bias for all categories (Fig. S10). Visual inspection of funnel plots also demonstrates a relatively symmetrical distribution (Fig. S10).

3.4. Heterogeneity

High heterogeneity was detected in the hyperactivity analysis with

an $I^2 = 70\%$ and a $Chi^2 = 151.56$ (df = 45, p < 0.001; Fig. 2). In the attention analysis, high heterogeneity was also found, with an $I^2 = 68\%$ and a $Chi^2 = 72.68$ (df = 23, p < 0.001; Fig. 3). For impulsivity analysis, there was no heterogeneity. The analysis showed an $I^2 = 9\%$ and a $Chi^2 = 8.8$ (df = 8, p = 0.36; Fig. 4). In the memory analysis, a moderate heterogeneity was found, with an $I^2 = 43\%$ and a $Chi^2 = 22.97$ (df = 13, p = 0.04; Fig. S1).

3.5. Meta-regression

A univariate regression model was conducted in order to test the association between the pre-defined covariates and the effect sizes for locomotion, attention, and memory. We did not perform a regression for the impulsivity results since no heterogeneity was detected. Results are presented in Table S2. Since there was no covariate associated with the effect size for a p-value less than 0.1, the multivariate regression model was not performed.

3.6. Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses were conducted as previously described. In the first sensitivity analysis, no study was skewing the overall result. In the second sensitivity analysis, the effects of MPH were analyzed for each behavioral test. A total of 36 experiments evaluated locomotion using the open field, and there was no effect of MPH; 3 experiments used the automated activity monitor, with increased locomotion after MPH treatment; and four experiments were conducted using the locomotor activity during the social interaction test, with no effect of MPH (Fig. S11). For attention, 4 experiments used the Y-maze, with a positive effect of MPH in increasing attentional performance; 5 used the attentional set-shifting, with a positive effect of MPH; 5 performed the orienting behavior, with a positive effect of MPH; 4 used the lat maze, with no effect of MPH; and 3 experiments conducted the five-trial inhibitory avoidance test, with a positive effect of MPH (Fig. S12). For impulsivity, five experiments performed the electro-foot shock aversive water drinking test, with a positive effect of MPH in decreasing

Study	Gender	Age (days)	Route of drug administration	MPH dosage (mg/ kg)	Administrations per day Days treat	of ment	Behavioral test	Outcome extracted
Locomotion								
	Eamolo	10	6	90			Onon field	Distance morred
Cholomi of al. (2012)-1	Female	40	-11 -12	0.0			Open neu Open fald	Distance moved
	remare .	40	1	C.2			Open neia	
Chelaru et al. (2012)-3	Female	40	IP	10	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Chelaru et al. (2012)-4	Male	40	IP	0.6	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Chelaru et al. (2012)- 5	Male	40	IP	2.5	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Chelaru et al. (2012)-6	Male	40	IP	10	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Cheng et al. (2017)	Male	28-35	IP	0.5	1 1		Midline crossing task	Number of midline crossings
dela Pena et al. (2013)-1	Male	28	IP	2	1 1		Open field	Distance moved
dela Pena et al. (2013)-2	Male	28	IP	ŝ	1 1		Open field	Distance moved
Fox et al. (2002)-1	Male	20-24	Subcutaneous	1	1 1		Automated activity monitor	Mean distance traveled
Fox et al. (2002)-2	Male	20-24	Subcutaneous	e	1		Automated activity monitor	Mean distance traveled
Fox et al. (2002)-3	Male	20-24	Subcutaneous	10	- 1		Automated activity monitor	Mean distance traveled
Hong et al (2000)	Not clear	Not clear	Oral		2 14		I at maze	Horizontal activity
Kim et al (2011)	Male	Adult Adult	Oral	-	1 28 1		Duen field	Distance moved
$\frac{1}{12} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2001} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2001}$	Malo	100			10 70			Distance moved
	Male Male	44 10	Oral	- 0	CI 0			
Pardey et al. (2012)	Male 1	C7	Urai	7 0	202		Operant conditioning champers	Mean locomotor acuvity
Pires et al. (2010)	Female	c7		7.7	I 14		Open neld	Distance moved
Robinson et al. (2012)	Female	49-56	IP	0.125	1 1		Locomotor activity during the social	Number of line crossings
	-		f	10100 0				
Kobinson and Bucci	Female	49-56	IP	0.03125	1 1		Locomotor activity during the social	Number of line crossings
(2014)-1			-		,		interaction test	•
Robinson and Bucci	Female	49-56	II	0.0625	1 1		Locomotor activity during the social	Number of line crossings
	-		f	101 0			Interaction test	
Kobinson and Bucci	Female	49-56	П	0.125	1		Locomotor activity during the social	Number of line crossings
Combrand of all (2016)	Malo		[0	1	100		Duce field	Distance moved
T	Male Mal		UIAI	c.1	1 1 20			
Tamburella et al. (2012)-1	Male	60	LI E	- 0	 - ,		Open neld	Distance moved
Tamburella et al. (2012)-2	Male	60 (0	II :	, cr	, - -		Open field	Distance moved
Tamburella et al. (2012)-3	Male	60 22 2-	II I	0	1,		Open field	Distance moved
Umehara et al. (2013a)-1	Male	28-35	IP	0.1	1 1		Open field	Distance moved
Umehara et al. (2013a) -2	Male	28-35	IP	0.3	1 1		Open field	Distance moved
Umehara et al. (2013a) -3	Male	28-35	IP	1	1 1		Open field	Distance moved
Umehara et al. (2013b)	Male	28-49	IP	0.3	1 1		Open field	Distance moved
van den Bergh et al.	Male	30-44	Oral	1	1 1		Open field	Distance moved
(2006)								
Vendruscolo et al. (2008)-	Female	63-70	IP	2	2 16		Open field	Peripheral locomotion
1								
Vendruscolo et al. (2008)-	Male	63-70	IP	7	2 16		Open field	Peripheral locomotion
Z Worton of al (2000) 1	Malo	20.00	[0	10			Onon field	Distance moved
Warton et al (2000)-1 Warton et al (2000)-2	Mala	20-26	Olal	c.u 1	 -		Open Held	Distance moved
Warton et al. (2009) 2	Male	20.00	Oral		 			Distance moved
Varion et al. (2009)-3	Male	00-62	Ulai TD	7			Open Iteld	Distance moved
		14-41	1	0.0	- I 			
Yang et al. (2006)-2	Male	34-41	II	2.5	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Yang et al. (2006)-3	Male	34-41	LI I	10	, ,		Open field	Distance moved
Yang et al. (2011)-1	Male	04	11	0.0			Upen neia	Distance moved
Yang et al. (2011)-2	Male	40	II	2.5	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Yang et al. (2011)-3	Male	40	AT -	10			Open neid	Distance moved
Yang et al. (2011)-4	Male	62	IP	0.6	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Yang et al. (2011)-5	Male	62	IP	2.5	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Yang et al. (2011)-6	Male	62	IP	10	1 7		Open field	Distance moved
Yang et al. (2015)	Male	42-56	IP	0.1	1 1		Open field	Distance moved
								(continued on next page)

 Table 1

 Description of included studies.

Table 1 (continued)								
Study	Gender	Age (days)	Route of drug administration	MPH dosage (mg/ kg)	Administrations per day	Days of treatment	Behavioral test	Outcome extracted
Yoon et al. (2008)	Male	28	IP	3	1	1	Open field	Distance moved
Aspide et al. (2000)-1 ^a	Male	Juveline	IP	3	1	14	Lat maze	Duration of hearing episodes in a novel
Aspide et al. (2000)- 2	Male	Juveline	IP	ε	1	1	Lat maze	Duration of hearing episodes in a novel
Aspide et al. (2000)- 3 ^b	Male	Juveline	IP	б	1	14	Lat maze	buration Duration of hearing episodes in a novel
Cao et al. (2012)- 1	Male	35	IP	2.5	1	14	Attentional set-shifting	situation Percentage or number of regressive
Cao et al. (2012)- 2	Male	35	IP	5	1	14	Attentional set-shifting	errors Percentage or number of regressive
(0100) 11 km 2 mm	Mala	36	E	20	F	-	A thread on the first of the second	errors Triclo to mitorica David
dela Pena et al. (2013)-1	Male	23 28	IP	2.0	1	1 1	Autenuonai set-simiting Y-maze	Percentage or number of spontaneous
dela Dena et al (2013)-2	Male	28	Ē	¢	-		V.maze	alternations Dercentage or number of snontaneous
acta 1 cuta ct at: (2010)-2	INTRIC	04	=	5	-	4		alternations
Fox et al. (2002)- 1	Male	20-24	Subcutaneous	1	1	1	Repeated acquisition version of an inhibitory avoidance task	Transfer latency (trials 2-5 summarized)
Fox et al. (2002)- 2	Male	20-24	Subcutaneous	3	1	1	Repeated acquisition version of an inhibitory avoidance task	Transfer latency (trials 2-5 summarized)
Harvey et al. (2011)	Male	28	Oral	1.5	1	28	Visual discrimination in a T-maze	Trials to criterion
Harvey et al. (2013)	Male	28	Oral	1.5	1	28	Attentional set-shifting	Percentage or number of regressive errors
Hong et al. (2009)	Not clear	Not clear	Oral	2	2	14	Lat maze	Frequencies of leaning
Kantak et al. (2008)	Male	63	Oral	1.5	1	14	Attentional set-shifting	Percentage or number of regressive
Kawaura et al. (2014)-1	Male	28	Subcutaneous	0.3	1	1	Five-trial inhibitory avoidance task	Total transfer latency on trials 2–5
Kawaura et al. (2014)-2	Male	28	Subcutaneous	1	1	1	Five-trial inhibitory avoidance task	Total transfer latency on trials 2-5
Kawaura et al. (2014)-3	Male	28	Subcutaneous	ŝ	1	1	Five-trial inhibitory avoidance task	Total transfer latency on trials 2-5
Kim et al. (2016)	Male	49	Oral	1	2	15	Y-maze	Percentage or number of spontaneous alternations
Robinson et al. (2012)	Female	49-56	IP	0.125	1	1	Orienting behavior	auctuations Beam breaks in block 3
Robinson and Bucci (2014)-1	Female	49-56	IP	0.015625	1	1	Orienting behavior	Beam breaks in block 3
Robinson and Bucci (2014)-2	Female	49-56	IP	0.03125	1	1	Orienting behavior	Beam breaks in block 3
Robinson and Bucci	Female	49-56	IP	0.0625	1	1	Orienting behavior	Beam breaks in block 3
Robinson and Bucci	Female	49-56	IP	0.125	1	1	Orienting behavior	Beam breaks in block 3
Yoon et al. (2013)	Male	28	IP	2	1	1	Y-maze	Percentage or number of spontaneous alternations
Impulsivity								
Adriani et al. (2004)-1 ^c Adriani et al. (2004)-2 ^d	Male	30 30	IP U	со с ^о	2	15 15	Nose poking test Nose noking test	Percentage of self-control in delay 80 Derrentage of self-control in delay 80
dela Pena et al. (2013)-1	Male	28	IP	0 7	1	1	Electro-foot shock aversive water drinking	Drinking attempts
dole Done of ol (2012) 2	Molo	00	E	c	F	-	test Electro foot cheele according activities	Duintring officers to
dela Pena et al. (2013)-2	Male	87	LI I	'n	1	-	Electro-foot shock aversive water drinking test	Drinking attempts
Kim et al. (2012)- 1	Male	28	IP	2	1	1	Electro-foot shock aversive water drinking	Water area frequency
Kim et al. (2012)- 2	Male	28	IP	5	1	1	test Electro-foot shock aversive water drinking	Water area frequency
							test	

171

(continued on next page)

Table 1 (continued)								
Study	Gender	Age (days)	Route of drug administration	MPH dosage (mg/ kg)	Administrations per day	Days of treatment	Behavioral test	Outcome extracted
Somkuwar et al. (2016)	Male	77	Oral	1.5	1	28	Differential reinforcement of low-rate schedules	Response efficiency under DRL30
Yoon et al. (2008)	Male	28	IP	3	1	1	Elevated plus maze	Percentage of staying time in closed area
Yoon et al. (2013)	Male	28	IP	2	1	1	Electro-foot shock aversive water drinking	Water area frequency
Memorv							test	
Cheng et al. (2017)	Male	28-35	IP	0.5	1	1	Temporal order recognition memory test	Discrimination ratio
Guo et al. (2012)	Male	28-35	IP	10	1	14	Morris water maze	Percentage of time in target quadrant
Hong et al. (2011)	Not clear	35	Oral	2	2	14	Morris water maze	Mean latency to find the platform in day
Kim et al. (2011)	Male	Adult	Oral	1	1	28	8-arm maze test	Number of correct choices before the first
								error
Pires et al. (2009)-1	Female	06	IP	2	1	1	Object recognition test	Discrimination index
Pires et al. (2009)-2	Male	06	IP	2	1	1	Object recognition test	Discrimination index
Pires et al. (2010)	Female	25	IP	2	1	14	Object recognition test	Discrimination index
Tamburella et al. (2012)-1	Male	60	IP	1	1	1	Active avoidance test	Latency to re-enter the dark box in the
								first retention
Tamburella et al. (2012)-2	Male	60	IP	e	1	1	Active avoidance test	Latency to re-enter the dark box in the first retention
Tamburella et al. (2012)-3	Male	60	IP	9	1	1	Active avoidance test	Latency to re-enter the dark box in the
						,		first retention
Tamburella et al. (2012)-4	Male	60	IP	1	1	1	Passive avoidance test	Latency to re-enter the dark box in the first retention
Tamburella et al. (2012)-5	Male	60	IP	с	1	1	Passive avoidance test	Latency to re-enter the dark box in the
		4		,	,	,	:	first retention
Tamburella et al. (2012)-6	Male	60	IP	9	1	1	Passive avoidance test	Latency to re-enter the dark box in the
Tian et al. (2009)	Male	49	IP	10	1	6	Morris water maze	Crossings to the target area
a n E h after the leaf dur	- similar	110 q uniterrative	h ofton the loot during a	o non ^c Mon o	The state of a second state of T	moniorizzo noto		

Non-sensitive to delay rats. ^a Impulsive rats. 24 h after the last drug administration. 0.5 h after the last drug administration.

	5	Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
Chelaru et al., 2012-1	2.1%	-0.30 [-1.86, 1.26]	
Chelaru et al., 2012-2	2.0%	0.99 [-0.66, 2.63]	
Chelaru et al., 2012-3	1.6%	2.29 [0.27, 4.30]	
Chelaru et al., 2012-4	2.1%	-0.09 [-1.64, 1.46]	
Chelaru et al., 2012-5	2.1%	0.69 [-0.83, 2.22]	
Chelaru et al., 2012-6	1.9%	1.18 [-0.51, 2.86]	
Cheng et al., 2017	2.9%	-0.88 [-1.64, -0.12]	
dela Pena et al., 2013-1	2.6%	0.10 [-0.97, 1.18]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
dela Pena et al., 2013-2	2.6%	-0.48 [-1.57, 0.61]	
Fox et al., 2002-1	2.3%	0.79 [-0.57, 2.15]	
Fox et al., 2002-2	2.2%	1.28 [-0.17, 2.73]	
Fox et al., 2002-3	1.9%	2.20 [0.51, 3.90]	
Hong et al., 2009	1.6%	-5.18 [-7.17, -3.18]	<u>←</u>
Kim et al., 2011	2.8%	-2.05 [-2.96, -1.14]	
Kim et al., 2016	2.7%	-0.50 [-1.47, 0.47]	
Pardey et al., 2012	2.7%	0.96 [0.04, 1.88]	
Pires et al., 2010	2.7%	-0.11 [-1.04, 0.81]	
Robinson et al., 2012	2.7%	-0.32 [-1.24, 0.60]	
Robinson et al., 2014-1	2.4%	-1.01 [-2.25, 0.23]	
Robinson et al., 2014-2	2.5%	-0.62 [-1.75, 0.52]	
Robinson et al., 2014-3	2.5%	-0.20 [-1.32, 0.93]	
Somkuwar et al., 2016	1.8%	-2.47 [-4.33, -0.61]	
Tamburella et al., 2012-1	2.3%	-0.20 [-1.50, 1.09]	
Tamburella et al., 2012-2	2.1%	1.66 [0.16, 3.16]	
Tamburella et al., 2012-3	2.1%	1.58 [0.10, 3.06]	
Umehara et al., 2013a-1	1.7%	-1.72 [-3.61, 0.18]	
Umehara et al., 2013a-2	1.5%	-2.59 [-4.83, -0.35]	
Umehara et al., 2013a-3	1.2%	-3.40 [-6.02, -0.78]	·
Umehara et al., 2013b	2.2%	-1.70 [-3.10, -0.30]	
van den Bergh et al., 2006	2.7%	-0.21 [-1.19, 0.78]	
Vendruscolo et al., 2008-1	2.8%	0.04 [-0.83, 0.92]	
Vendruscolo et al., 2008-2	2.7%	-0.92 [-1.85, 0.01]	
Warton et al., 2009-1	1.8%	1.11 [-0.75, 2.96]	
Warton et al., 2009-2	1.9%	0.48 [-1.20, 2.16]	
Warton et al., 2009-3	1.6%	1.52 [-0.51, 3.56]	
Yang et al., 2006-1	2.1%	-0.02 [-1.57, 1.53]	
Yang et al., 2006-2	2.1%	0.75 [-0.78, 2.28]	
Yang et al., 2006-3	1.8%	1.73 [-0.10, 3.55]	
Yang et al., 2011-1	1.6%	-3.24 [-5.30, -1.18]	
Yang et al., 2011-2	2.0%	-1.01 [-2.67, 0.64]	
Yang et al., 2011-3	2.0%	0.88 [-0.75, 2.50]	
Yang et al., 2011-4	1.6%	-2.40 [-4.45, -0.34]	
Yang et al., 2011-5	2.1%	0.29 [-1.27, 1.85]	
Yang et al., 2011-6	2.0%	1.28 [-0.34, 2.90]	+
Yang et al., 2015	2.8%	-1.12 [-1.94, -0.30]	
Yoon et tal., 2008	2.7%	0.52 [-0.42, 1.46]	
Total (95% CI)	100.0%	-0.18 [-0.54, 0.18]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 1.01;	Chi ² = 151	.56, df = 45 (P < 0.00001); I ² = 70%	
Test for overall effect: Z = 0.	.99 (P = 0.3	32)	Hyperactivity after SAL Hyperactivity after MPH

Fig. 2. Forest plot of included studies evaluating locomotion outcomes. Horizontal lines represent the effect size \pm the confidence interval (95%). Summary effect size is represented by the diamond. CI = confidence interval. SAL = saline treatment. MPH = methylphenidate treatment.

impulsivity (Fig. S13). For memory, 3 experiments used the morris water maze, with no effect of MPH; 3 used the object recognition test, with a positive effect of MPH in improving memory performance; 3 used the passive avoidance test, with no effect of MPH; and 3 experiments conducted the active avoidance test, with a positive effect of MPH (Fig. S14).

In the third analysis, the inclusion of crossover studies did not change the significance of the results. Three new studies were included in the locomotion analysis (Guo et al., 2012; Hong et al., 2011; Pires et al., 2009; Fig. S15), two in the attention analysis (Tian et al., 2009; van den Bergh et al., 2006; Fig. S16) and five in impulsivity analysis (Dommett, 2014; Ferguson and Cada, 2003; Natsheh and Shiflett, 2015; van den Bergh et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2003; Fig. S17).

In the fourth analysis, we included only one MPH dosage at a time. For hyperactivity, there was an increase in locomotion only after treatment with an MPH dosage of 10 mg/kg (Fig. S18). For attention, there was a positive effect of MPH with dosages of 1 mg/kg and 2 mg/kg (Figure S19). For impulsivity, there was a positive effect of MPH with dosages of 2 mg/kg and 3 mg/kg (Fig. S20). For memory, there was a positive effect of MPH with a dosage of 2 mg/kg (Fig. S21).

In the fifth analysis, three studies (Hong et al., 2009; Pardey et al., 2012; Vendruscolo et al., 2008) were excluded from the locomotion

analysis for having 7 or more categories with an unclear risk of bias. In the attention analysis, two studies (Aspide et al., 2000; Hong et al., 2009) were excluded for presenting a high risk of bias on the baseline characteristics. In impulsivity analysis, one study (Adriani et al., 2004) was excluded for presenting a high risk of bias on the sequence generation. No significant differences were observed concerning the primary analysis (effect sizes can be found in Figs. S22, S23, and S24).

Finally, 6 of the 36 studies reported experiments in female SHR rats. Among these, 5 reported locomotion outcomes (Chelaru et al., 2012; Pires et al., 2010; Robinson et al., 2012; Robinson and Bucci, 2014; Vendruscolo et al., 2008); 2 reported attentional outcomes (Robinson et al., 2012; Robinson and Bucci, 2014); and 2 reported memory outcomes (Pires et al., 2010, 2009). None reported impulsivity outcomes for female SHR. The evaluation of those experiments revealed the same effects of the primary analyses (Figs. S25, S26, S27).

3.7. Secondary analyses

For the control strain comparisons, 17 studies evaluating locomotion were analyzed, comprising 38 experiments. A statistically significant difference was found (Z = 4.84, p < 0.001; Fig. S28), demonstrating increased locomotion of SHR after MPH in relation to the

	5	itd. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
Aspide et al., 2000-1	3.4%	-2.62 [-4.39, -0.85]	
Aspide et al., 2000-2	3.8%	-1.81 [-3.35, -0.27]	
Aspide et al., 2000-3	4.0%	-1.49 [-2.95, -0.03]	
Cao et al., 2012-1	4.3%	0.96 [-0.33, 2.25]	<u>+</u>
Cao et al., 2012-2	4.4%	0.72 [-0.53, 1.97]	—
Cheng et al., 2013	1.9%	5.50 [2.59, 8.41]	
dela Pena et al., 2013-1	4.4%	1.48 [0.24, 2.72]	
dela Pena et al., 2013-2	4.6%	1.06 [-0.10, 2.22]	<u> </u>
Fox et al., 2002-1	4.9%	0.87 [-0.16, 1.90]	<u> </u>
Fox et al., 2002-2	4.8%	1.20 [0.13, 2.28]	
Harvey et al., 2011	4.4%	1.03 [-0.21, 2.27]	
Harvey et al., 2013	5.0%	0.08 [-0.90, 1.06]	
Hong et al., 2009	2.9%	5.37 [3.32, 7.42]	
Kantak et al., 2008	3.1%	1.92 [0.00, 3.83]	
Kawaura et al., 2014-1	4.2%	0.66 [-0.67, 1.98]	
Kawaura et al., 2014-2	4.1%	1.07 [-0.31, 2.45]	
Kawaura et al., 2014-3	3.8%	1.86 [0.31, 3.40]	· · · · ·
Kim et al., 2016	4.9%	0.99 [-0.03, 2.02]	
Robinson et al., 2012	5.4%	0.96 [0.16, 1.75]	
Robinson et al., 2014-1	4.3%	0.41 [-0.90, 1.71]	
Robinson et al., 2014-2	4.1%	1.21 [-0.20, 2.61]	
Robinson et al., 2014-3	4.3%	0.85 [-0.46, 2.17]	
Robinson et al., 2014-4	4.1%	1.07 [-0.34, 2.48]	
Yoon et al., 2013	4.9%	0.61 [-0.40, 1.61]	
Total (95% CI)	100.0%	0.86 [0.39, 1.33]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.9	0; Chi ² = 7	72.68, df = 23 (P < 0.00001); $I^2 = 68\%$	
Test for overall effect: Z =	3.57 (P =	0.0004)	-4 -2 0 2 4 SAL MPH

Fig. 3. Forest plot of included studies evaluating attentional outcomes. Horizontal lines represent the effect size \pm the confidence interval (95%). Summary effect size is represented by the diamond. CI = confidence interval. SAL = saline treatment. MPH = methylphenidate treatment.

	5	Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
Adriani et al., 2004-1	14.5%	0.26 [-0.67, 1.19]	
Adriani et al., 2004-2	11.8%	1.30 [0.26, 2.35]	
dela Pena et al., 2013-1	7.6%	1.86 [0.53, 3.18]	
dela Pena et al., 2013-2	9.1%	1.28 [0.08, 2.48]	
Kim et al., 2012-1	11.1%	0.26 [-0.82, 1.34]	
Kim et al., 2012-2	10.8%	0.49 [-0.60, 1.58]	
Somkuwar et al., 2016	10.1%	0.12 [-1.01, 1.26]	
Yoon et al., 2008	13.3%	0.82 [-0.15, 1.79]	
Yoon et al., 2013	11.8%	1.31 [0.27, 2.35]	
Total (95% CI)	100.0%	0.81 [0.43, 1.18]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0	3; Chi ² = 8	8.80, df = 8 (P = 0.36); $I^2 = 9\%$	
Test for overall effect: Z =	4.20 (P <	0.0001)	SAL MPH

Fig. 4. Forest plot of included studies evaluating impulsivity outcomes. Horizontal lines represent the effect size \pm the confidence interval (95%). Summary effect size is represented by the diamond. CI = confidence interval. SAL = saline treatment. MPH = methylphenidate treatment.

Table 2						
Summary of	of main	meta-analyses	results	by	behavioral	outcome.

Outcome	SMD	[95% CI]	Z test	Z test p-value	Chi² p-value	I ² %	SMD	[95% CI]	Z test	Z test p-value	Chi² p-value	I ² %
	SHR + M	1PH vs. SHR + SAL					SHR + M	IPH vs. Control SAI				
Locomotion	-0.18	[-0.54, 0.18]	0.99	0.32000	< 0.00001	70	1.07	[0.63, 1.50]	4.84	< 0.00001	< 0.00001	67
Attention	0.86	[0.39, 1.33]	3.57	0.00040	< 0.00001	68	-0.21	[-0.52, 0.11]	1.29	0.20000	0.15000	24
Impulsivity	0.81	[0.43, 1.18]	4.20	< 0.00010	0.36000	09	-0.41	[-0.95, 0.12]	1.52	0.13000	0.14000	38
Memory	1.01	[0.59, 1.43]	4.71	< 0.00001	0.04000	43	-0.40	[-0.78, -0.02]	2.04	0.04000	0.15000	30

SHR = spontaneously hypertensive rats. MPH = methylphenidate. Control = Wistar-Kyoto rats or Wistar rats. SMD = Standard Mean Difference. CI = confidence interval.

control group. For attention, 12 studies were analyzed, comprising 21 experiments. There was no statistically significant difference (Z = 1.29, p = 0.20; Fig. S29). For impulsivity, five studies with seven experiments were analyzed, and there was also no statistically significant difference between groups (Z = 1.52, p = 0.13; Fig. S30). For memory, six studies comprising 12 experiments were included. A statistically significant effect was found (Z = 2.04, p = 0.04; Fig. S31), showing a better mnemonic performance in the control strain when compared to

SHR submitted to MPH. Results are summarized in Table 2.

4. Discussion

We performed a systematic review and meta-analyses of studies evaluating behavioral effects of MPH on the SHR model. As far as we know, we are the first to perform a systematic review and meta-analyses of studies on an animal model of ADHD. Although they have been already used in the last decades in order to guide clinical practice, systematic reviews and meta-analyses are relatively new in preclinical research (Sena et al., 2014) and are an essential tool to allow objective conclusions from the huge amount of evidence available. Our main findings show that MPH increased attentional and mnemonic performances in the SHR and decreased their impulsive behavior. No effect on locomotion (hyperactivity) was observed.

MPH improved the performance of SHR in tests requiring attention, which corroborates results from patients with ADHD. A meta-analysis published by Tamminga and colleagues (2016) showed that MPH improves sustained attention with an effect size of 0.42 (95% CI = 0.26.0.59), while the effect size found in our study was of 0.86 (95% CI = 0.39, 1.33). The coordination and computation of relevant information necessary to appropriate problem-solving reactions is a function conducted primarily by the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Miller and Cohen, 2001). The computational properties of the PFC are densely modulated by brainstem nuclei and have a preeminent role among dopaminergic circuits (D'Ardenne et al., 2012). Thus, MPH appears to improve attention by modulating PFC activity, which is found to be deficient in patients with ADHD (Hart et al., 2013). Our sensitivity analyses indicate that there was no effect of MPH in attention when it was evaluated with the lat maze. This suggest that the lat maze test may be less sensible for detecting a difference in attentional performance. Moreover, there was a statistically significant effect when using higher doses of MPH (1 mg/kg and 2 mg/kg).

Treatment with MPH decreased impulsive behavior of the SHR, similar to what is observed in patients with ADHD (Tamminga et al., 2016). A meta-analysis and meta-regression on the effects of MPH in improving impulsivity in patients with ADHD (Tamminga et al., 2016) found an effect size of 0.40 (95% CI = 0.22, 0.58), agreeing with our results (effect size of 0.81 (95% CI = 0.43, 1.18)). Impulsivity is a core symptom of ADHD (Lijffijt et al., 2005) and the dopaminergic system has been pointed as an essential player in response inhibition (for a review see Pattij and Vanderschuren (2008)). During tests requiring the ability to inhibit inappropriate behaviors, patients with ADHD seem to have reduced activation in the right inferior frontal gyrus, supplementary motor area, anterior cingulate cortex and striato-thalamic areas (Hart et al., 2013).

MPH treatment improved memory performance in the SHR model, with a pooled effects size of 1.01 (95% CI = 0.59, 1.43). The storage and retrieval of declarative memory (information regarding events, facts, and places, for example) is a function attributed mainly to the hippocampal formation and adjacent medial temporal lobe structures (Kandel et al., 2014). Memory impairment is not considered a primary symptom of ADHD, yet memory tests were conducted in 8 of the selected studies. Furthermore, declarative memory impairments have been reported in this population and appear to be present mainly in the encoding of information (Skodzik et al., 2017). A mega-analysis of MRI data (Hoogman et al., 2017) has shown that children with ADHD have decreased hippocampal size when compared to a control population, thus giving support to this hypothesis. Besides, hippocampal ability to use internal and external cues in order to guide both the encoding and the retrieval of memories seems to be strongly influenced by the PFC (Preston and Eichenbaum, 2013), a structure knowingly involved in ADHD etiology. The storage of short and long-term memories also appears to be dependent on a regulated dopaminergic transmission (Rossato et al., 2009). Moreover, in patients with ADHD, MPH has been shown to improve memory (Fuermaier et al., 2017). In our sensitivity analyses, a positive effect of MPH was observed in the object recognition and active avoidance tests. Besides, only the dosage of 2 mg/kg showed a statistically significant effect.

Different from the response pattern observed for the treatment of attention, impulsivity, and memory, our results on hyperactivity demonstrated that MPH was ineffective when in low and medium dosages. Moreover, an increase in hyperactivity was observed under high dose administration (10 mg/kg). This suggests a distinct response to MPH

when SHR are compared to patients with ADHD. Our results regarding hyperactivity may be attributed to differences in the pathophysiology intrinsic to the SHR model. SHR present large genetic and gene expression differences when compared to Wistar-Kyoto rats (established from the same parental Wistar stock). These differences likely comprise genetic variants beyond those associated with hypertension and ADHD (Williamson and Tai, 2017; Zhang-james et al., 2018). Furthermore, the increased locomotion in the SHR model could represent the clinical syndrome observed in patients following MPH induced neurotoxicity (Klein-Schwartz, 2002; Spiller et al., 2013). In this sense, it might be hypothesized that the increased locomotion observed in the SHR following administration of a high dosage of MPH may be the result of sympathetic overstimulation. Our results also raise the possibility of this pattern of response being more related to the effect observed in non-ADHD individuals using MPH as a cognitive enhancer (Tomasi et al., 2011).

In the secondary analyses, SHR treated with MPH were compared to a control normotensive strain. MPH had a positive effect on attention and impulsivity, reverting the symptoms to the WKY control level. The effect sizes found in different dosage protocols are similar to those found in humans. Although memory impairment is improved after MPH administration in the SHR, treated animals did not revert to WKY control levels. Moreover, MPH did not revert symptoms of hyperactivity, which was expected based on our primary analysis. The fact that SHR presented memory impairments not fully recovered after MPH administration should be better investigated in the future.

The behavioral effects of MPH reported in this study are likely linked to a regulation of the dopaminergic, glutamatergic and noradrenergic systems. As discussed above, patients with ADHD present several neurobiological alterations, some of which are shared with the SHR. The dopaminergic system is the most studied, and evidence indicates that this system is less active in the animal model of ADHD. It has been shown, for instance, that SHR present decreased dopamine release after neuronal depolarization when compared to WKY (Miller et al., 2012; Russell et al., 1998), possibly due to reduced vesicular storage (Russell et al., 1998). In addition, several studies suggest that SHR exhibit an increased density of dopamine transporter in the brain (mostly in frontocortical and striatal terminals). Increased dopamine transporter activity enhances dopamine uptake from the synaptic cleft (Chen et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2012; Pandolfo et al., 2013; Roessner et al., 2010). Synaptic abnormalities are also seen in glutamatergic and noradrenergic systems. Glutamatergic neurotransmission in pyramidal neurons of the PFC was shown to be reduced in SHR (Cheng et al., 2017). In the noradrenergic system, there was an increased noradrenaline uptake in the orbitofrontal cortex (Somkuwar et al., 2015).

Our results should be viewed in light of several limitations. The accuracy of the meta-analyses depends on the quality of the individual studies. Small sample sizes, behavioral tests evaluated, or dosages tested may slightly influence the precision of the analyses. SHR substrains, like the stroke-prone SHR, have been proposed as a better animal model for ADHD (Hiraide et al., 2013; K. Ueno et al., 2002a). However, we decided to include only studies performed in the SHR model, since they are most frequently used (Hiraide et al., 2013; Jesmin et al., 2004; K.-I. Ueno et al., 2002b; K. Ueno et al., 2002b; Yabuki et al., 2014). In this sense, the validity of other strains as a model of ADHD should be investigated, especially in face of the lack of response concerning hyperactivity. It is also important to stress that there has been consistent evidence showing genetic and behavioral differences between SHR and WKY rats obtained from distinct breeding facilities (Sagvolden et al., 2009). These data suggest they may even represent different ADHD subtypes, thus including another confounder in our analyses.

MPH treatment has been shown to improve ADHD symptoms consistently at different doses (Faraone et al., 2004). Nevertheless, the doses used in the included studies ranged from 0.03125 to 10 mg/kg, while in patients with ADHD it usually ranges from 0.2 mg/kg to 2 mg/ kg (Huss et al., 2017). Besides, more than half of the included experiments administered MPH to the SHR only once. Since ADHD treatment usually requires a long-term pharmacological intervention, the translational impact of ADHD preclinical studies may be compromised. The route of administration is also essential when evaluating preclinical studies and, ideally, it should reflect how the drug is administered in patients. Most studies administered MPH using intraperitoneal injections, with few using oral administrations. With intraperitoneal injections, the drug undergoes hepatic metabolism in a similar way to orally administered drugs. However, there are considerable differences in the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters when compared to an oral administration (Kuczenski and Segal, 2005). Finally, animal studies evaluating behavioral outcomes often use only male rats, since the behavior of females may change according to the estrous cycle. This phenomenon introduces new variables to the analyses and hampers the interpretation of results (Llaneza and Frye, 2009; Pompili et al., 2010; Sell et al., 2005). We have also extracted data regarding gender and observed that six studies from the 36 included used females. However, analyzing female rat experiments separately did not change any metaanalysis effect.

Clinical studies have been able to demonstrate positive effects of MPH on the symptomatological dimensions of ADHD (Catala-Lopez et al., 2017; Faraone and Buitelaar, 2010; Faraone and Glatt, 2010; Storebo et al., 2015), diminishing inattention, hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms (Huss et al., 2014; Willcutt et al., 2012). The paradoxical effect of stimulants in decreasing hyperactivity is the hallmark of the ADHD treatment since Charles Bradley's serendipity discovery of the calming effect of Benzedrine (Bradley et al., 1937). Therefore, a valid animal model of ADHD should ideally replicate this effect. This was not the case in our study.

In summary, although our analyses show improvement in three of the behavioral outcomes evaluated, there is no effect of MPH regarding hyperactivity, a core symptom of ADHD. Therefore, our study does not fully support the predictive validity of SHR. Further studies should investigate different animal model strains and substrains, as well as variations in protocol, in order to simulate human treatment more accurately, such as including doses that are analogous to those used in humans.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq) and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) - Finance Code 001.

The author(s) declare the following potential conflict of interest with respect to the research, authorship or publication of this article: Dr. Grevet was on the speaker's bureau for Novartis and Shire for the last three years. He also received travel awards (air tickets and hotel accommodations) for participating in two psychiatric meetings from Shire and Novartis. Dr. Rohde has received Honoraria, has been on the speakers' bureau/advisory board or has acted as a consultant for Eli-Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis and Shire in the last three years. He receives authorship royalties from Oxford Press and ArtMed. He also received travel awards for taking part of 2014 APA and 2015 WFADHD meetings from Shire. The ADHD and Juvenile Bipolar Disorder Outpatient Programs chaired by him received unrestricted educational and research support from the following pharmaceutical companies in the last three years: Eli-Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis, and Shire. All other authors report no biomedical financial interests or potential conflicts of interest.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.02.

019.

References

- Adriani, W., Rea, M., Baviera, M., Invernizzi, W., Carli, M., Ghirardi, O., Caprioli, A., Laviola, G., 2004. Acetyl-L-carnitine reduces impulsive behaviour in adolescent rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 176, 296–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-004-1892-9.
- Aparicio, C.F., Hennigan, P.J., Mulligan, L.J., Alonso-Alvarez, B., 2017. Spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) rats choose more impulsively than Wistar-Kyoto (WKY) rats on a delay discounting task. Behav. Brain Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017.09. 040.
- Aspide, R., Fresiello, A., De Filippis, G., Gironi Carnevale, U.A., Sadile, A.G., 2000. Nonselective attention in a rat model of hyperactivity and attention deficit: subchronic methylphenydate and nitric oxide synthesis inhibitor treatment. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 24, 59–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(99)00045-7.
- Bayless, D.W., Perez, M.C., Daniel, J.M., 2015. Comparison of the validity of the use of the spontaneously hypertensive rat as a model of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in males and females. Behav. Brain Res. 286, 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr. 2015.02.029.
- Bradley, C., 1937. The behavior of children receiving BENZEDRINE. Am. J. Psychiatry 94, 577–585. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.94.3.577.
- Cao, A.H., Yu, L., Wang, Y.W., Wang, J.M., Yang, L.J., Lei, G.F., 2012. Effects of methylphenidate on attentional set-shifting in a genetic model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Behav. Brain Funct. 8, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-8-10.
- Catala-Lopez, F., Hutton, B., Nunez-Beltran, A., Page, M.J., Ridao, M., Macias Saint-Gerons, D., Catala, M.A., Tabares-Seisdedos, R., Moher, D., 2017. The pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents: a systematic review with network meta-analyses of randomised trials. PLoS One 12, e0180355. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0180355.
- Chelaru, M.I., Yang, P.B., Dafny, N., 2012. Sex differences in the behavioral response to methylphenidate in three adolescent rat strains (WKY, SHR, SD). Behav. Brain Res. 226, 8–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2011.08.027.
- Chen, Y., Zheng, X., Xie, L., Huang, L., Ke, Z., Zheng, J., Lu, H., Hu, J., 2017. Glucocorticoids/glucocorticoid receptors effect on dopaminergic neurotransmitters in ADHD rats. Brain Res. Bull. 131, 214–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull. 2017.04.013.
- Cheng, J.T., Li, J.S., 2013. Intra-orbitofrontal cortex injection of haloperidol removes the beneficial effect of methylphenidate on reversal learning of spontaneously hypertensive rats in an attentional set-shifting task. Behav. Brain Res. 239, 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.11.006.
- Cheng, J., Liu, A., Shi, M.Y., Yan, Z., 2017. Disrupted glutamatergic transmission in prefrontal cortex contributes to behavioral abnormality in an animal model of ADHD. Neuropsychopharmacology 42, 2096–2104. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2017.30.
- Cortese, S., Adamo, N., Mohr-Jensen, C., Hayes, A.J., Bhatti, S., Carucci, S., Giovane, C., Del, Atkinson, L.Z., Banaschewski, T., Simonoff, E., Zuddas, A., Barbui, C., Adamo, N., Coghill, D., 2017. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of pharmacological interventions for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children, adolescents and adults: protocol for a systematic review and network meta-analysis Comparative efficacy and tolerability of ph. BMJ Open 7, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013967.
- Curtin, F., Elbourne, D., Altman, D.G., 2002. Meta-analysis combining parallel and cross-over clinical trials. III: The issue of carry-over. Stat. Med. 21, 2161–2173. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.1207.
- D'Ardenne, K., Eshel, N., Luka, J., Lenartowicz, A., Nystrom, L.E., Cohen, J.D., 2012. Role of prefrontal cortex and the midbrain dopamine system in working memory updating. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109, 19900–19909. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1116727109.
- Dela Peña, I.C., Yoon, S.Y., Kim, Y., Park, H., Kim, K.M., Ryu, J.H., Shin, C.Y., Cheong, J.H., dela Pena, I.C., Young Yoon, S., Kim, Y., Park, H., Man Kim, K., Hoon Ryu, J., Young Shin, C., Hoon Cheong, J., 2013. 5,7-Dihydroxy-6-methoxy-4???-phenoxyflavone, a derivative of oroxylin A improves attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)-like behaviors in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Eur. J. Pharmacol. (715), 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.05.002.
- Demontis, D., Walters, R.K., Martin, J., Mattheisen, M., Als, T.D., Agerbo, E., Baldursson, G., Belliveau, R., Bybjerg-Grauholm, J., Bækvad-Hansen, M., Cerrato, F., Chambert, K., Churchhouse, C., Dumont, A., Eriksson, N., Gandal, M., Goldstein, J.I., Grasby, K.L., Grove, J., Gudmundsson, O.O., Hansen, C.S., Hauberg, M.E., Hollegaard, M.V., Howrigan, D.P., Huang, H., Maller, J.B., Martin, A.R., Martin, N.G., Moran, J., Pallesen, J., Palmer, D.S., Pedersen, C.B., Pedersen, M.G., Poterba, T., Poulsen, J.B., Ripke, S., Robinson, E.B., Satterstrom, F.K., Stefansson, H., Stevens, C., Turley, P., Walters, G.B., Won, H., Wright, M.J., ADHD Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium (PGC), O.A, Early Lifecourse & Genetic Epidemiology (EAGLE) Consortium, P, 23andMe Research Team, C.L, Andreassen, O.A., Asherson, P., Burton, C.L., Boomsma, D.I., Cormand, B., Dalsgaard, S., Franke, B., Gelernter, J., Geschwind, D., Hakonarson, H., Haavik, J., Kranzler, H.R., Kuntsi, J., Langley, K., Lesch, K.-P., Middeldorp, C., Reif, A., Rohde, L.A., Roussos, P., Schachar, R., Sklar, P., Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., Sullivan, P.F., Thapar, A., Tung, J.Y., Waldman, I.D., Medland, S.E., Stefansson, K., Nordentoft, M., Hougaard, D.M., Werge, T., Mors, O., Mortensen, P.B., Daly, M.J., Faraone, S.V., Børglum, A.D., Neale, B.M., 2019. Discovery of the first genome-wide significant risk loci for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Nat. Genet. 51, 63-75. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0269-7.
- Dommett, E.J., 2014. Using the five-choice serial reaction time task to examine the effects

of atomoxetine and methylphenidate in the male spontaneously hypertensive rat. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 124, 196–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2014.06.001.

- Faraone, S.V., Buitelaar, J., 2010. Comparing the efficacy of stimulants for ADHD in children and adolescents using meta-analysis. Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 19, 353–364. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-009-0054-3.
- Faraone, S.V., Glatt, S.J., 2010. A comparison of the efficacy of medications for adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder using meta-analysis of effect sizes. J. Clin. Psychiatry 71, 754–763. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.08m04902pur.
- Faraone, S.V., Spencer, T., Aleardi, M., Pagano, C., 2004. Meta-Analysis of the Efficacy of Methylphenidate for Treating Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. J. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 24, 24–29. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.jcp.0000108984. 11879.95.
- Faraone, S.V., Biederman, J., Spencer, T.J., Aleardi, M., 2006. Comparing the efficacy of medications for ADHD using meta-analysis. MedGenMed 8, 4.
- Faraone, S.V., Asherson, P., Banaschewski, T., Biederman, J., Buitelaar, J.K., Ramos-Quiroga, J.A., Rohde, L.A., Sonuga-Barke, E.J., Tannock, R., Franke, B., 2015. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Nat Rev Dis Prim. 1, 15020. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.20.
- Ferguson, S.A., Cada, A.M., 2003. A longitudinal study of short- and long-term activity levels in male and female spontaneously hypertensive, Wistar-Kyoto, and Sprague-Dawley rats. Behav. Neurosci. 117, 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044. 117.2.271.
- Fox, G.B., Pan, J.B., Esbenshade, T.A., Bennani, Y.L., Black, L.A., Faghih, R., Hancock, A.A., Decker, M.W., 2002. Effects of histamine H3receptor ligands GT-2331 and ciproxifan in a repeated acquisition avoidance response in the spontaneously hypertensive rat pup. Behav. Brain Res. 131, 151–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(01)00379-5.
- Fuermaier, A.B., Tucha, L., Koerts, J., Weisbrod, M., Lange, K.W., Aschenbrenner, S., Tucha, O., 2017. Effects of methylphenidate on memory functions of adults with ADHD. Appl. Neuropsychol. Adult 24, 199–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095. 2015.1124108.
- Guo, T., Yang, C., Guo, L., Liu, K., 2012. A comparative study of the effects of ABT-418 and methylphenidate on spatial memory in an animal model of ADHD. Neurosci. Lett. 528, 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2012.08.068.
- Harbord, R.M., Higgins, J.P.T., 2008. Meta-regression in Stata. Stata J. Promot. Commun. Stat. Stata 8, 493–519. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X0800800403.
- Hart, H., Radua, J., Nakao, T., Mataix-Cols, D., Rubia, K., 2013. Meta-analysis of functional magnetic resonance imaging studies of inhibition and attention in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: exploring task-specific, stimulant medication, and age effects. JAMA Psychiatry 70, 185–198. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2013.277.
- Harvey, R.C., Sen, S., Deaciuc, A., Dwoskin, L.P., Kantak, K.M., 2011. Methylphenidate treatment in adolescent rats with an attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder phenotype: cocaine addiction vulnerability and dopamine transporter function. Neuropsychopharmacology 36, 837–847. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2010.223.
- Harvey, R.C., Jordan, C.J., Tassin, D.H., Moody, K.R., Dwoskin, L.P., Kantak, K.M., 2013. Performance on a strategy set shifting task during adolescence in a genetic model of attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Methylphenidate vs. atomoxetine treatments. Behav. Brain Res. 244, 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.01.027.
- Higgins, J.P.T., Thompson, S.G., 2002. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat. Med. 21, 1539–1558. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.1186.
- Hiraide, S., Ueno, K., Yamaguchi, T., Matsumoto, M., Yanagawa, Y., Yoshioka, M., Togashi, H., 2013. Behavioural effects of monoamine reuptake inhibitors on symptomatic domains in an animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 105, 89–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PBB.2013.01. 009.
- Hong, Q., Zhang, M., Pan, X., qin, Guo, M., Li, F., Tong, M., ling, Chen, hua, R., Guo, X., Chi, X., 2009. Prefrontal cortex Homer expression in an animal model of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. J. Neurol. Sci. 287, 205–211. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jns.2009.07.024.
- Hong, Q., Wang, Y.P., Zhang, M., Pan, X.Q., Guo, M., Li, F., Tong, M.L., Chen, R.H., Guo, X.R., Chi, X., 2011. Homer expression in the hippocampus of an animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Mol. Med. Rep. 4, 705–712. https://doi.org/ 10.3892/mmr.2011.479.
- Hoogman, M., Bralten, J., Hibar, D.P., Mennes, M., Zwiers, M.P., Schweren, L.S.J., van Hulzen, K.J.E., Medland, S.E., Shumskaya, E., Jahanshad, N., Zeeuw, P., Szekely, E., Sudre, G., Wolfers, T., Onnink, A.M.H., Dammers, J.T., Mostert, J.C., Vives-Gilabert, Y., Kohls, G., Oberwelland, E., Seitz, J., Schulte-Ruther, M., Ambrosino, S., Doyle, A.E., Hovik, M.F., Dramsdahl, M., Tamm, L., van Erp, T.G.M., Dale, A., Schork, A., Conzelmann, A., Zierhut, K., Baur, R., McCarthy, H., Yoncheva, Y.N., Cubillo, A., Chantiluke, K., Mehta, M.A., Paloyelis, Y., Hohmann, S., Baumeister, S., Bramati, I., Mattos, P., Tovar-Moll, F., Douglas, P., Banaschewski, T., Brandeis, D., Kuntsi, J., Asherson, P., Rubia, K., Kelly, C., Martino, A.D., Milham, M.P., Castellanos, F.X., Frodl, T., Zentis, M., Lesch, K.P., Reif, A., Pauli, P., Jernigan, T.L., Haavik, J., Plessen, K.J., Lundervold, A.J., Hugdahl, K., Seidman, L.J., Biederman, J., Rommelse, N., Heslenfeld, D.J., Hartman, C.A., Hoekstra, P.J., Oosterlaan, J., Polier, G.V., Konrad, K., Vilarroya, O., Ramos-Quiroga, J.A., Soliva, J.C., Durston, S., Buitelaar, J.K., Faraone, S.V., Shaw, P., Thompson, P.M., Franke, B., 2017. Subcortical brain volume differences in participants with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children and adults: a cross-sectional mega-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 4, 310-319. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(17)30049-4.
- Hooijmans, C.R., Rovers, M.M., de Vries, R.B., Leenaars, M., Ritskes-Hoitinga, M., Langendam, M.W., 2014. SYRCLE's risk of bias tool for animal studies. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 14 (43). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-14-43.
- Huss, M., Ginsberg, Y., Tvedten, T., Arngrim, T., Philipsen, A., Carter, K., Chen, C.-W.,

Kumar, V., 2014. Methylphenidate hydrochloride modified-release in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Adv. Ther. 31, 44–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12325-013-0085-5.

- Huss, M., Duhan, P., Gandhi, P., Chen, C.W., Spannhuth, C., Kumar, V., 2017. Methylphenidate dose optimization for ADHD treatment: review of safety, efficacy, and clinical necessity. Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat. 13, 1741–1751. https://doi.org/ 10.2147/ndt.s130444.
- Jesmin, S., Togashi, H., Sakuma, I., Mowa, C.N., Ueno, K.-I., Yamaguchi, T., Yoshioka, M., Kitabatake, A., 2004. Gonadal Hormones and Frontocortical Expression of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor in Male Stroke-Prone, Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats, a Model for Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. Endocrinology 145, 4330–4343. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2004-0487.
- Kandel, E.R., Dudai, Y., Mayford, M.R., 2014. The molecular and systems biology of memory. Cell 157, 163–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.001.
- Kantak, K.M., Singh, T., Kerstetter, K.A., Dembro, K.A., Mutebi, M.M., Harvey, R.C., Deschepper, C.F., Dwoskin, L.P., 2008. Advancing the spontaneous hypertensive rat model of attention Deficit/Hyperactivity disorder. Behav. Neurosci. 122, 340–357. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.122.2.340.
- Kawaura, K., Karasawa, J., Chaki, S., Hikichi, H., 2014. Stimulation of postsynapse adrenergic alpha2A receptor improves attention/cognition performance in an animal model of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Behav. Brain Res. 270, 349–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.05.044.
- Kim, H., Heo, H.-I.I., Kim, D.-H.H., Ko, I.-G.G., Lee, S.-S.S., Kim, S.-E.E., Kim, B.-K.K., Kim, T.-W.W., Ji, E.-S.S., Kim, J.-D.D., Shin, M.-S.S., Choi, Y.-W.W., Kim, C.-J.J., 2011. Treadmill exercise and methylphenidate ameliorate symptoms of attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder through enhancing dopamine synthesis and brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in spontaneous hypertensive rats. Neurosci. Lett. 504, 35–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2011.08.052.
- Kim, P., Choi, I., Pena, I.C., Kim, H.J., Kwon, K.J., Park, J.H., Han, S.H., Ryu, J.H., Cheong, J.H., Shin, C.Y., 2012. A simple behavioral paradigm to measure impulsive behavior in an animal model of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) of the spontaneously hypertensive rats. Biomol. Ther. (Seoul) 20, 125–131. https://doi.org/ 10.4062/biomolther.2012.20.1.125.
- Kim, J., Park, H., Yu, S., lan, Jee, S., Cheon, K.A., Song, D.H., Kim, S.J., Im, W.Y., Kang, J., 2016. Effects of high-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) on spontaneously hypertensive rats, an animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 53, 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijdevneu.2016.07.006.

Klein-Schwartz, W., 2002. Abuse and toxicity of methylphenidate. Curr. Opin. Pediatr. 14, 219–223.

- Kuczenski, R., Segal, D.S., 2005. Stimulant actions in rodents: implications for attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder treatment and potential substance abuse. Biol. Psychiatry 57, 1391–1396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.12.036.
- Larsson, H., Chang, Z., D'Onofrio, B.M., Lichtenstein, P., 2014. The heritability of clinically diagnosed attention deficit hyperactivity disorder across the lifespan. Psychol. Med. 44, 2223–2229. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291713002493.
- Leffa, D.T., Castro Panzenhagen, A., Rovaris, D.L., Henrique, C., Bau, D., Rohde, L.A., Grevet, E.H., Pires, G.N., Teixeira Leffa, D., 2018. Behavioural effects of methylphenidate in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis protocol. BMJ Open Sci. 2, 1. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjos-2018-000001.
- Lijffijt, M., Kenemans, J.L., Verbaten, M.N., van Engeland, H., 2005. A meta-analytic review of stopping performance in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: deficient inhibitory motor control? J. Abnorm. Psychol. 114, 216–222. https://doi.org/10. 1037/0021-843x.114.2.216.
- Llaneza, D.C., Frye, C.A., 2009. Progestogens and estrogen influence impulsive burying and avoidant freezing behavior of naturally cycling and ovariectomized rats. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 93, 337–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2009.05. 003.
- Meneses, A., Perez-Garcia, G., Ponce-Lopez, T., Tellez, R., Gallegos-Cari, A., Castillo, C., 2011. Spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) as an animal model for ADHD: a short overview. Rev. Neurosci. 22, 365–371. https://doi.org/10.1515/RNS.2011.024.
- Miller, R.G., 1974. The jackknife-a review. Biometrika 61, 1–15. https://doi.org/10. 1093/biomet/61.1.1.
- Miller, E.K., Cohen, J.D., 2001. An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 24, 167–202. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.167.
- Miller, E.M., Pomerleau, F., Huettl, P., Russell, V.A., Gerhardt, G.A., Glaser, P.E.A., 2012. The spontaneously hypertensive and Wistar Kyoto rat models of ADHD exhibit subregional differences in dopamine release and uptake in the striatum and nucleus accumbens. Neuropharmacology 63, 1327–1334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuropharm.2012.08.020.
- Natsheh, J.Y., Shiflett, M.W., 2015. The effects of methylphenidate on goal-directed behavior in a rat model of ADHD. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 9, 1–9. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fnbeh.2015.00326.
- Nestler, E.J., Hyman, S.E., 2010. Animal models of neuropsychiatric disorders. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 1161–1169. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2647.
- Niigaki, S.T., Peres, F.F., Ferreira, L., Libanio, T., Gouvea, D.A., Levin, R., Almeida, V., Silva, N.D., Diana, M.C., Suiama, M.A., Calzavara, M.B., Abilio, V.C., 2019. Young spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHRs) display prodromal schizophrenia-like behavioral abnormalities. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 90, 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.11.020.
- Pandolfo, P., Machado, N.J., Kofalvi, A., Takahashi, R.N., Cunha, R.A., 2013. Caffeine regulates frontocorticostriatal dopamine transporter density and improves attention and cognitive deficits in an animal model of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. 23, 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro. 2012.04.011.
- Pardey, M.C., Homewood, J., Taylor, A., Cornish, J.L., 2009. Re-evaluation of an animal model for ADHD using a free-operant choice task. J. Neurosci. Methods 176, 166–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2008.09.009.
- Pardey, M.C., Kumar, N.N., Goodchild, A.K., Clemens, K.J., Homewood, J., Cornish, J.L., 2012. Long-term effects of chronic oral ritalin administration on cognitive and neural development in adolescent Wistar Kyoto rats. Brain Sci. 2, 375–404. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/brainsci2030375.
- Pattij, T., Vanderschuren, L.J., 2008. The neuropharmacology of impulsive behaviour. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 29, 192–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2008.01.002.
- Peres, F.F., Eufrásio, R.Á., Gouvêa, D.A., Diana, M.C., Santos, C.M., Swardfager, W., Abílio, V.C., Cogo-Moreira, H., 2018. A schizophrenia-like behavioral trait in the SHR model: applying confirmatory factor analysis as a new statistical tool. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 85, 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pnpbp.2018.03.021.
- PETERS, J.L., SUTTON, A.J., JONES, D.R., RUSHTON, L., ABRAMS, K.R., 2006. A Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses of Animal Experiments with Guidelines for Reporting. J. Environ. Sci. Health B 41, 1245–1258. https://doi. org/10.1080/03601230600857130.
- Pires, V.A., Pamplona, F.A., Pandolfo, P., Fernandes, D., Prediger, R.D.S., Takahashi, R.N., 2009. Adenosine receptor antagonists improve short-term object-recognition ability of spontaneously hypertensive rats: a rodent model of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Behav. Pharmacol. 20, 134–145. https://doi.org/10.1097/FBP. 0b013e32832a80bf.
- Pires, V.A., Pamplona, F.A., Pandolfo, P., Prediger, R.D.S., Takahashi, R.N., 2010. Chronic caffeine treatment during prepubertal period confers long-term cognitive benefits in adult spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR), an animal model of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Behav. Brain Res. 215, 39–44. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbr.2010.06.022.
- Pires, G.N., Bezerra, A.G., Tufik, S., Andersen, M.L., 2016a. Effects of acute sleep deprivation on state anxiety levels: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med. 24, 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SLEEP.2016.07.019.
- Pires, G.N., Bezerra, A.G., Tufik, S., Andersen, M.L., 2016b. Effects of experimental sleep deprivation on anxiety-like behavior in animal research: systematic review and metaanalysis. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 68, 575–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. NEUBIOREV.2016.06.028.
- Pliszka, S.R., 2007. Pharmacologic treatment of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity disorder: efficacy, safety and mechanisms of action. Neuropsychol. Rev. 17, 61–72. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11065-006-9017-3.
- Pompili, A., Tomaz, C., Arnone, B., Tavares, M.C., Gasbarri, A., 2010. Working and reference memory across the estrous cycle of rat: a long-term study in gonadally intact females. Behav. Brain Res. 213, 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBR.2010.04.018.
- Preston, A.R., Eichenbaum, H., 2013. Interplay of hippocampus and prefrontal cortex in memory. Curr. Biol. 23, R764–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.05.041.
- Robinson, A.M., Bucci, D.J., 2014. Individual and combined effects of physical exercise and methylphenidate on orienting behavior and social interaction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Behav. Neurosci. 128, 703–712. https://doi.org/10.1037/ bne0000015.
- Robinson, A.M., Eggleston, R.L., Bucci, D.J., 2012. Physical exercise and catecholamine reuptake inhibitors affect orienting behavior and social interaction in a rat model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Behav. Neurosci. 126, 762–771. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0030488.
- Roessner, V., Sagvolden, T., Dasbanerjee, T., Middleton, F.A., Faraone, S.V., Walaas, S.I., Becker, A., Rothenberger, A., Bock, N., 2010. Methylphenidate normalizes elevated dopamine transporter densities in an animal model of the attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder combined type, but not to the same extent in one of the attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder inattentive type. Neuroscience 167, 1183–1191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.02.073.
- Rossato, J.I., Bevilaqua, L.R., Izquierdo, I., Medina, J.H., Cammarota, M., 2009. Dopamine controls persistence of long-term memory storage. Science (80-.) (325), 1017–1020. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1172545.
- Russell, V., de Villiers, A., Sagvolden, T., Lamm, M., Taljaard, J., 1998. Differences between electrically-, ritalin- and d-amphetamine-stimulated release of [3H]dopamine from brain slices suggest impaired vesicular storage of dopamine in an animal model of Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Behav. Brain Res. 94, 163–171. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(97)00177-0.
- Sagvolden, T., 2000. Behavioral validation of the spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) as an animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (AD/HD). Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 24, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(99)00058-5.
- Sagvolden, T., Russell, V.A., Aase, H., Johansen, E.B., Farshbaf, M., 2005. Rodent models of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol. Psychiatry 57, 1239–1247. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.02.002.
- Sagvolden, T., Borgå, E., Wøien, G., Walaas, S.I., Storm-mathisen, J., Hildegard, L., Hvalby, Ø., Jensen, V., Aase, H., Russell, V.A., Killeen, P.R., Dasbanerjee, T., Middleton, F.A., Faraone, S.V., 2009. Neuropharmacology the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of ADHD – the importance of selecting the appropriate reference strain. Neuropharmacology 57, 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm. 2009.08.004.
- Sell, S.L., Dillon, A.M., Cunningham, K.A., Thomas, M.L., 2005. Estrous cycle influence on individual differences in the response to novelty and cocaine in female rats. Behav. Brain Res. 161, 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBR.2005.01.004.
- Sena, E.S., Currie, G.L., Mccann, S.K., Macleod, M.R., Howells, D.W., 2014. Systematic reviews and meta-analysis of preclinical studies: why perform them and how to appraise them critically. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 34, 737–742. https://doi.org/10. 1038/jcbfm.2014.28.
- Shier, A.C., Reichenbacher, T., Ghuman, H.S., Ghuman, J.K., 2013. Pharmacological treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents:

clinical strategies. J. Cent. Nerv. Syst. Dis. 5–6. https://doi.org/10.4137/JCNSD. S6691.

Skodzik, T., Holling, H., Pedersen, A., 2017. Long-term memory performance in adult ADHD. J. Atten. Disord. 21, 267–283. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054713510561.

- Somkuwar, S.S., Kantak, K.M., Dwoskin, L.P., 2015. Effect of methylphenidate treatment during adolescence on norepinephrine transporter function in orbitofrontal cortex in a rat model of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J. Neurosci. Methods 252, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.02.002.
- Somkuwar, S.S., Kantak, K.M., Bardo, M.T., Dwoskin, L.P., 2016. Adolescent methylphenidate treatment differentially alters adult impulsivity and hyperactivity in the Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat model of ADHD. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 141, 66–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2015.12.002.
- Spear, L.P., 2000. The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 24, 417–463.
- Spiller, H.A., Hays, H.L., Aleguas Jr, A., 2013. Overdose of drugs for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: clinical presentation, mechanisms of toxicity, and management. CNS Drugs 27, 531–543. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-013-0084-8.
- Storebo, O.J., Ramstad, É., Krogh, H.B., Nilausen, T.D., Skoog, M., Holmskov, M., Rosendal, S., Groth, C., Magnusson, F.L., Moreira-Maia, C.R., Gillies, D., Buch Rasmussen, K., Gauci, D., Zwi, M., Kirubakaran, R., Forsbol, B., Simonsen, E., Gluud, C., 2015. Methylphenidate for children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 14651858.CD009885.pub2. Cd009885.
- Subcommittee on Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, S.C.O.Q.I.A.M., Steering Committee on Quality Improvement and Management, Wolraich, M., Brown, L., Brown, R.T., DuPaul, G., Earls, M., Feldman, H.M., Ganiats, T.G., Kaplanek, B., Meyer, B., Perrin, J., Pierce, K., Reiff, M., Stein, M.T., Visser, S., 2011. ADHD: clinical practice guideline for the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents. Pediatrics 128, 1007–1022. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2654.
- Tamburella, A., Micale, V., Mazzola, C., Salomone, S., Drago, F., 2012. The selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor atomoxetine counteracts behavioral impairments in trimethyltin-intoxicated rats. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 683, 148–154. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ejphar.2012.02.045.
- Tamminga, H.G., Reneman, L., Huizenga, H.M., Geurts, H.M., 2016. Effects of methylphenidate on executive functioning in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder across the lifespan: a meta-regression analysis. Psychol. Med. 46, 1791–1807. https://doi. org/10.1017/s0033291716000350.
- Tian, Y., Wang, Y., Deng, Y., Maeda, K., 2009. Methylphenidate improves spatial memory of spontaneously hypertensive rats: evidence in behavioral and ultrastructural changes. Neurosci. Lett. 461, 106–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2009.05. 080.
- Tomasi, D., Volkow, N.D., Wang, G.J., Wang, R., Telang, F., Caparelli, E.C., Wong, C., Jayne, M., Fowler, J.S., 2011. Methylphenidate enhances brain activation and deactivation responses to visual attention and working memory tasks in healthy controls. Neuroimage 54, 3101–3110. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2010. 10.060.
- Ueno, K.-I., Togashi, H., Matsumoto, M., Ohashi, S., Saito, H., Yoshioka, M., 2002a. Alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor activation ameliorates impairment of spontaneous alternation behavior in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats, an animal model of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 302, 95–100.
- Ueno, K., Togashi, H., Mori, K., Matsumoto, M., Ohashi, S., Hoshino, A., Fujita, T., Saito, H., Minami, M., Yoshioka, M., 2002b. Behavioural and pharmacological relevance of stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats as an animal model of a developmental disorder. Behav. Pharmacol. 13, 1–13.
- Umehara, M., Ago, Y., Fujita, K., Hiramatsu, N., Takuma, K., Matsuda, T., 2013a. Effects of serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors on locomotion and prefrontal monoamine release in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 702, 250–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.01.033.
- Umehara, M., Ago, Y., Kawanai, T., Fujita, K., Hiramatsu, N., Takuma, K., Matsuda, T., 2013b. Methylphenidate and venlafaxine attenuate locomotion in spontaneously hypertensive rats, an animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, through? 22-adrenoceptor activation. Behav. Pharmacol. 24, 328–331. https://doi. org/10.1097/FBP.0b013e3283633648.
- van den Bergh, F.S., Bloemarts, E., Chan, J.S.W., Groenink, L., Olivier, B., Oosting, R.S., 2006. Spontaneously hypertensive rats do not predict symptoms of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 83, 380–390. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pbb.2006.02.018.
- van der Staay, F.J., Arndt, S.S., Nordquist, R.E., 2009. Evaluation of animal models of neurobehavioral disorders. Behav. Brain Funct. 5 (11). https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1744-9081-5-11.
- Vendruscolo, L.F., Izídio, G.S., Takahashi, R.N., Ramos, A., 2008. Chronic methylphenidate treatment during adolescence increases anxiety-related behaviors and ethanol drinking in adult spontaneously hypertensive rats. Behav. Pharmacol. 19, 21–27. https://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.0b013e3282/3cfbe.
- Vesterinen, H.M., Sena, E.S., Egan, K.J., Hirst, T.C., Churolov, L., Currie, G.L., Antonic, A., Howells, D.W., Macleod, M.R., 2014. Meta-analysis of data from animal studies: a practical guide. J. Neurosci. Methods 221, 92–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. JNEUMETH.2013.09.010.
- Vries, R.B.M., Hooijmans, C.R., Langendam, M.W., Luijk, J., Leenaars, M., Ritskes-Hoitinga, M., Wever, K.E., 2015. A protocol format for the preparation, registration and publication of systematic reviews of animal intervention studies. Evidence-based Preclin. Med. 2, e00007. https://doi.org/10.1002/ebm2.7.
- Warton, F.L., Howells, F.M., Russell, V.A., 2009. Increased glutamate-stimulated release of dopamine in substantia nigra of a rat model for attention-deficit/hyperactivity

D.T. Leffa, et al.

disorder-lack of effect of methylphenidate. Metab. Brain Dis. 24, 599-613. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11011-009-9166-1.

- Wilens, T.E., Morrison, N.R., Prince, J., 2011. An update on the pharmacotherapy of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in adults. Expert Rev. Neurother. 11, 1443–1465. https://doi.org/10.1586/ern.11.137.
- Willcutt, E.G., Nigg, J.T., Pennington, B.F., Solanto, M.V., Rohde, L.A., Tannock, R., Loo, S.K., Carlson, C.L., McBurnett, K., Lahey, B.B., 2012. Validity of DSM-IV attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptom dimensions and subtypes. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 121, 991–1010. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027347.
- Williamson, C.R., Tai, T.C., 2017. Comparative Analysis of Renin-Angiotensin System (RAS) -Related Gene Expression Between Hypertensive and Normotensive Rats. pp. 20–24. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSMBR.901964.
- Yabuki, Y., Shioda, N., Maeda, T., Hiraide, S., Togashi, H., Fukunaga, K., 2014. Aberrant CaMKII activity in the medial prefrontal cortex is associated with cognitive dysfunction in ADHD model rats. Brain Res. 1557, 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. brainres.2014.02.025.
- Yang, P.B., Amini, B., Swann, A.C., Dafny, N., 2003. Strain differences in the behavioral responses of male rats to chronically administered methylphenidate. Brain Res. 971, 139–152. https://doi.org/S0006899302042403[pii].
- Yang, P.B., Swann, A.C., Dafny, N., 2006. Acute and chronic methylphenidate dose-response assessment on three adolescent male rat strains. Brain Res. Bull. 71, 301–310.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2006.09.019.

- Yang, P.B., Cuellar 3rd, D.O., Swann, A.C., Dafny, N., 2011. Age and genetic strain differences in response to chronic methylphenidate administration. Behav. Brain Res. 218, 206–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2010.11.034.
- Yang, M.T., Lu, D.H., Chen, J.C., Fu, W.M., 2015. Inhibition of hyperactivity and impulsivity by carbonic anhydrase inhibitors in spontaneously hypertensive rats, an animal model of ADHD. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 232, 3763–3772. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00213-015-4036-5.
- Yoon, S.Y., Chun, M.S., Lee, Y.S., Park, H.Il, Shin, C.Y., Ryu, J.H., Cheong, J.H., 2008. The scutellaria flavone, oroxylin A, improves attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder related behaviors in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Biomol. Ther. (Seoul) 16, 343–350. https://doi.org/10.4062/biomolther.2008.16.4.343.
- Yoon, S.Y., dela Pena, I., Kim, S.M., Woo, T.S., Shin, C.Y., Son, K.H., Park, H., Lee, Y.S., Ryu, J.H., Jin, M., Kim, K.M., Cheong, J.H., Dela Peña, I., Kim, S.M., Woo, T.S., Shin, C.Y., Son, K.H., Park, H., Lee, Y.S., Ryu, J.H., Jin, M., Kim, K.M., Cheong, J.H., 2013. Oroxylin A improves attention deficit hyperactivity disorder-like behaviors in the spontaneously hypertensive rat and inhibits reuptake of dopamine in vitro. Arch. Pharm. Res. 36, 134–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12272-013-0009-6.
- Zhang-james, Y., Middleton, F.A., Faraone, S.V., 2018. Genetic architecture of Wistar-Kyoto rat and spontaneously hypertensive rat substrains from different sources. Physiol. Genomics 528–538. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00002.2013.

An animal model of what? The case of spontaneously hypertensive rats

Research article published on *Progress in Neuropsychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry.*

4



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Neuropsychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry





Letter to the Editor

An animal model of what? The case of spontaneously hypertensive rats

Dear Editor,

We have read with interest the research paper recently published in PNPBP entitled "Young spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHRs) display prodromal schizophrenia-like behavioral abnormalities" by Niigaki et al. (2019). The authors demonstrated that the SHR, a strain commonly used as an animal model of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), may (also) be an animal model of schizophrenia. This data corroborates another recent research published in PNPBP showing a continuous schizophrenia-like trait in rats, where SHRs presented higher values when compared to the Wistar group (Peres et al., 2018). It is important to mention that the authors of both papers highlighted that some preclinical studies have shown that SHRs do not respond to stimulants. Those facts call into question SHR use as a model of ADHD.

We recently developed a protocol of a systematic review and metaanalyses of animal studies to summarize all the evidence for the predictive validity of the SHR as a model of ADHD, focusing on the behavioral effects of methylphenidate (MPH) (Leffa et al., 2018). Several meta-analyses have supported the use of MPH to treat ADHD; thus, it could be considered the best tool to test the predictive validity of this strain as a model of ADHD. However, our results were not enough to support a robust predictive validity of SHR as a model of the disorder. Despite observed significant effects for inattention and impulsivity in our study, we did not demonstrate significant effects of MPH on hyperactivity in those animals (Leffa et al., 2019). The effect of stimulants in decreasing the core symptom of hyperactivity is a hallmark of ADHD treatment; therefore, an animal model of ADHD should present this characteristic.

Based on all the pieces of evidence presented (Niigaki and Peres studies and our meta-analysis findings), our position is at least of concern, since SHR appears to be highly heterogeneous regarding pathology, presenting hypertension, schizophrenia and ADHD-like traits, such as hyperactivity, inattention, impulsivity, and cognitive deficits. So, what is the meaning of studying an animal model that presents this broad range of abnormalities occurring at the same time or in its lifespan? Is the SHR a reliable and validated animal model of what?

Disorders with relatively low heritability estimates, such as major depressive disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, and anxiety disorder present well-documented animal models that are induced mainly through environmental stressors (Czéh et al., 2016; Harro, 2018; Schöner et al., 2017). Conversely, the successful breeding of animals that accurately represent complex disorders with high heritability estimates is especially challenging to achieve, which is the case for both ADHD and schizophrenia. Indeed, SHRs present large genetic and gene expression differences when compared to control strains, which comprise genetic variants beyond those associated with hypertension,

DOI of original article: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.11.020

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2019.03.012

ADHD, and probably schizophrenia (Williamson et al., 2017; Zhang-James et al., 2013). Moreover, according to the evidence mentioned, distinct behavioral outcomes seem to represent distinct disorders better. Perhaps SHR is a good model for an underlying generalized behavior spectrum, *i.e.* endophenotypes, that are part of the characterization of psychiatric disorders.

A considerable complicator seen in neurobiology studies in psychiatry is the phenotypic heterogeneity found in humans. For instance, around 70% of patients with ADHD present at least one psychiatric comorbidity; and genomic analyses of the Brainstorm and Psychiatric Genomics Consortia (Anttila et al., 2018; Demontis et al., 2019) have shown that psychiatric disorders do not have clear biological boundaries. Therefore, animal models are of paramount importance to the study of Neuropsychopharmacology in a way that helps to disentangle the specificities of each psychiatric disorder. Nevertheless, study findings from a broadly altered animal model, presenting traits that fulfill criteria for 'psychopathology' in general and not exclusively for a specific disease, may be difficult to translate. Therefore, more rigorous evaluations regarding face, construct, and predictive validities should be taken in order to consider SHR an animal model proper to give clues about the biological underpinnings of ADHD or schizophrenia.

References

Anttila, V., Bulik-Sullivan, B., Finucane, H.K., Walters, R.K., Bras, J., Duncan, L., Escott-Price, V., Falcone, G.J., Gormley, P., Malik, R., Patsopoulos, N.A., Ripke, S., Wei, Z., Yu, D., Lee, P.H., Turley, P., Grenier-Boley, B., Chouraki, V., Kamatani, Y., Berr, C., Letenneur, L., Hannequin, D., Amouyel, P., Boland, A., Deleuze, J.-F., Duron, E., Vardarajan, B.N., Reitz, C., Goate, A.M., Huentelman, M.J., Kamboh, M.I., Larson, E.B., Rogaeva, E., St George-Hyslop, P., Hakonarson, H., Kukull, W.A., Farrer, L.A., Barnes, L.L., Beach, T.G., Demirci, F.Y., Head, E., Hulette, C.M., Jicha, G.A., Kauwe, J.S.K., Kaye, J.A., Leverenz, J.B., Levey, A.I., Lieberman, A.P., Pankratz, V.S., Poon, W.W., Quinn, J.F., Saykin, A.J., Schneider, L.S., Smith, A.G., Sonnen, J.A., Stern, R.A., Van Deerlin, V.M., Van Eldik, L.J., Harold, D., Russo, G., Rubinsztein, D.C., Bayer, A., Tsolaki, M., Proitsi, P., Fox, N.C., Hampel, H., Owen, M.J., Mead, S., Passmore, P., Morgan, K., Nöthen, M.M., Schott, J.M., Rossor, M., Lupton, M.K., Hoffmann, P., Kornhuber, J., Lawlor, B., McQuillin, A., Al-Chalabi, A., Bis, J.C., Ruiz, A., Boada, M., Seshadri, S., Beiser, A., Rice, K., van der Lee, S.J., De Jager, P.L., Geschwind, D.H., Riemenschneider, M., Riedel-Heller, S., Rotter, J.I., Ransmayr, G., Hyman, B.T., Cruchaga, C., Alegret, M., Winsvold, B., Palta, P., Farh, K.-H., Cuenca-Leon, E., Furlotte, N., Kurth, T., Ligthart, L., Terwindt, G.M., Freilinger, T., Ran, C., Gordon, S.D., Borck, G., Adams, H.H.H., Lehtimäki, T., Wedenoja, J., Buring, J.E. Schürks, M., Hrafnsdottir, M., Hottenga, J.-J., Penninx, B., Artto, V., Kaunisto, M., Vepsäläinen, S., Martin, N.G., Montgomery, G.W., Kurki, M.I., Hämäläinen, E., Huang, H., Huang, J., Sandor, C., Webber, C., Muller-Myhsok, B., Schreiber, S. Salomaa, V., Loehrer, E., Göbel, H., Macaya, A., Pozo-Rosich, P., Hansen, T., Werge, T., Kaprio, J., Metspalu, A., Kubisch, C., Ferrari, M.D., Belin, A.C., van den Maagdenberg, A.M.J.M., Zwart, J.-A., Boomsma, D., Eriksson, N., Olesen, J., Chasman, D.I., Nyholt, D.R., Anney, R., Avbersek, A., Baum, L., Berkovic, S., Bradfield, J., Buono, R., Catarino, C.B., Cossette, P., De Jonghe, P., Depondt, C., Dlugos, D., Ferraro, T.N., French, J., Hjalgrim, H., Jamnadas-Khoda, J., Kälviäinen, R., Kunz, W.S., Lerche, H., Leu, C., Lindhout, D., Lo, W., Lowenstein, D., McCormack, M., Møller, R.S., Molloy, A., Ng, P.-W., Oliver, K., Privitera, M., Radtke, R., Ruppert,

A.-K., Sander, T., Schachter, S., Schankin, C., Scheffer, I., Schoch, S., Sisodiya, S.M., Smith, P., Sperling, M., Striano, P., Surges, R., Thomas, G.N., Visscher, F., Whelan, C.D., Zara, F., Heinzen, E.L., Marson, A., Becker, F., Stroink, H., Zimprich, F., Gasser, T., Gibbs, R., Heutink, P., Martinez, M., Morris, H.R., Sharma, M., Ryten, M., Mok, K.Y., Pulit, S., Bevan, S., Holliday, E., Attia, J., Battey, T., Boncoraglio, G., Thijs, V., Chen, W.-M., Mitchell, B., Rothwell, P., Sharma, P., Sudlow, C., Vicente, A., Markus, H., Kourkoulis, C., Pera, J., Raffeld, M., Silliman, S., Boraska Perica, V., Thornton, L.M., Huckins, L.M., William Rayner, N., Lewis, C.M., Gratacos, M., Rybakowski, F., Keski-Rahkonen, A., Raevuori, A., Hudson, J.I., Reichborn-Kjennerud, T., Monteleone, P., Karwautz, A., Mannik, K., Baker, J.H., O'Toole, J.K., Trace, S.E., Davis, O.S.P., Helder, S.G., Ehrlich, S., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Danner, U.N., van Elburg, A.A., Clementi, M., Forzan, M., Docampo, E., Lissowska, J., Hauser, J., Tortorella, A., Maj, M., Gonidakis, F., Tziouvas, K., Papezova, H., Yilmaz, Z., Wagner, G., Cohen-Woods, S., Herms, S., Julià, A., Rabionet, R., Dick, D.M., Ripatti, S., Andreassen, O.A., Espeseth, T., Lundervold, A.J., Steen, V.M., Pinto, D., Scherer, S.W., Aschauer, H., Schosser, A., Alfredsson, L., Padyukov, L., Halmi, K.A., Mitchell, J., Strober, M., Bergen, A.W., Kaye, W., Szatkiewicz, J.P., Cormand, B., Ramos-Quiroga, J.A., Sánchez-Mora, C., Ribasés, M., Casas, M., Hervas, A., Arranz, M.J., Haavik, J., Zayats, T., Johansson, S., Williams, N., Elia, J., Dempfle, A., Rothenberger, A., Kuntsi, J., Oades, R.D., Banaschewski, T., Franke, B., Buitelaar, J.K., Arias Vasquez, A., Doyle, A.E., Reif, A., Lesch, K.-P., Freitag, C., Rivero, O., Palmason, H., Romanos, M., Langley, K., Rietschel, M., Witt, S.H., Dalsgaard, S., Børglum, A.D., Waldman, I., Wilmot, B., Molly, N., Bau, C.H.D., Crosbie, J., Schachar, R., Loo, S.K., McGough, J.J., Grevet, E.H., Medland, S.E., Robinson, E., Weiss, L.A., Bacchelli, E., Bailey, A., Bal, V., Battaglia, A., Betancur, C., Bolton, P., Cantor, R., Celestino-Soper, P., Dawson, G., De Rubeis, S., Duque, F., Green, A., Klauck, S.M., Leboyer, M., Levitt, P., Maestrini, E., Mane, S., De-Luca, D.M., Parr, J., Regan, R., Reichenberg, A., Sandin, S., Vorstman, J., Wassink, T., Wijsman, E., Cook, E., Santangelo, S., Delorme, R., Rogé, B., Magalhaes, T., Arking, D., Schulze, T.G., Thompson, R.C., Strohmaier, J., Matthews, K., Melle, I., Morris, D., Blackwood, D., McIntosh, A., Bergen, S.E., Schalling, M., Jamain, S., Maaser, A., Fischer, S.B., Reinbold, C.S., Fullerton, J.M., Grigoroiu-Serbanescu, M., Guzman-Parra, J., Mayoral, F., Schofield, P.R., Cichon, S., Mühleisen, T.W., Degenhardt, F., Schumacher, J., Bauer, M., Mitchell, P.B., Gershon, E.S., Rice, J., Potash, J.B., Zandi, P.P., Craddock, N., Ferrier, I.N., Alda, M., Rouleau, G.A., Turecki, G., Ophoff, R., Pato, C., Anjorin, A., Stahl, E., Leber, M., Czerski, P.M., Edenberg, H.J., Cruceanu, C., Jones, I.R., Posthuma, D., Andlauer, T.F.M., Forstner, A.J., Streit, F., Baune, B.T., Air, T., Sinnamon, G., Wray, N.R., MacIntyre, D.J., Porteous, D., Homuth, G., Rivera, M., Grove, J., Middeldorp, C.M., Hickie, I., Pergadia, M., Mehta, D., Smit, J.H., Jansen, R., de Geus, E., Dunn, E., Li, Q.S., Nauck, M., Schoevers, R.A., Beekman, A.T., Knowles, J.A., Viktorin, A., Arnold, P., Barr, C.L., Bedoya-Berrio, G., Bienvenu, O.J., Brentani, H., Burton, C., Camarena, B., Cappi, C., Cath, D., Cavallini, M., Cusi, D., Darrow, S., Denys, D., Derks, E.M., Dietrich, A., Fernandez, T., Figee, M., Freimer, N., Gerber, G., Grados, M., Greenberg, E., Hanna, G.L., Hartmann, A., Hirschtritt, M.E., Hoekstra, P.J., Huang, A., Huyser, C., Illmann, C., Jenike, M., Kuperman, S., Leventhal, B., Lochner, C., Lyon, G.J., Macciardi, F., Madruga-Garrido, M., Malaty, I.A., Maras, A., McGrath, L., Miguel, E.C., Mir, P., Nestadt, G., Nicolini, H., Okun, M.S., Pakstis, A., Paschou, P., Piacentini, J., Pittenger, C., Plessen, K., Ramensky, V., Ramos, E.M., Reus, V., Richter, M.A., Riddle, M.A., Robertson, M.M., Roessner, V., Rosário, M., Samuels, J.F., Sandor, P., Stein, D.J., Tsetsos, F., Van Nieuwerburgh, F., Weatherall, S., Wendland, J.R., Wolanczyk, T., Worbe, Y., Zai, G., Goes, F.S., McLaughlin, N., Nestadt, P.S., Grabe, H.-J., Depienne, C., Konkashbaev, A., Lanzagorta, N., Valencia-Duarte, A., Bramon, E., Buccola, N., Cahn, W., Cairns, M., Chong, S.A., Cohen, D., Crespo-Facorro, B., Crowley, J., Davidson, M., DeLisi, L., Dinan, T., Donohoe, G., Drapeau, E., Duan, J., Haan, L., Hougaard, D., Karachanak-Yankova, S., Khrunin, A., Klovins, J., Kučinskas, V., Lee Chee Keong, J., Limborska, S., Loughland, C., Lönnqvist, J., Maher, B., Mattheisen, M., McDonald, C., Murphy, K.C., Murray, R., Nenadic, I., van Os, J., Pantelis, C., Pato, M., Petryshen, T., Quested, D., Roussos, P., Sanders, A.R., Schall, U., Schwab, S.G., Sim, K., So, H.-C., Stögmann, E., Subramaniam, M., Toncheva, D., Waddington, J., Walters, J., Weiser, M., Cheng, W., Cloninger, R., Curtis, D., Gejman, P.V., Henskens, F., Mattingsdal, M., Oh, S.-Y., Scott, R., Webb, B., Breen, G., Churchhouse, C., Bulik, C.M., Daly, M., Dichgans, M., Faraone, S.V., Guerreiro, R., Holmans, P., Kendler, K.S., Koeleman, B., Mathews, C.A., Price, A., Scharf, J., Sklar, P., Williams, J., Wood, N.W., Cotsapas, C., Palotie, A., Smoller, J.W., Sullivan, P., Rosand, J., Corvin, A., Neale, B.M., Murray, R., 2018. Analysis of shared heritability in common disorders of the brain. Science (80-.) 360https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap8757. (eaap8757).

Czéh, B., Fuchs, E., Wiborg, O., Simon, M., 2016. Animal models of major depression and their clinical implications. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiatry 64, 293-310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.04.004.

- Demontis, D., Walters, R.K., Martin, J., Mattheisen, M., Als, T.D., Agerbo, E., Baldursson, G., Belliveau, R., Bybjerg-Grauholm, J., Bækvad-Hansen, M., Cerrato, F., Chambert, K., Churchhouse, C., Dumont, A., Eriksson, N., Gandal, M., Goldstein, J.I., Grasby, K.L., Grove, J., Gudmundsson, O.O., Hansen, C.S., Hauberg, M.E., Hollegaard, M.V., Howrigan, D.P., Huang, H., Maller, J.B., Martin, A.R., Martin, N.G., Moran, J., Pallesen, J., Palmer, D.S., Pedersen, C.B., Pedersen, M.G., Poterba, T., Poulsen, J.B., Ripke, S., Robinson, E.B., Satterstrom, F.K., Stefansson, H., Stevens, C., Turley, P., Walters, G.B., Won, H., Wright, M.J., Andreassen, O.A., Asherson, P., Burton, C.L., Boomsma, D.I., Cormand, B., Dalsgaard, S., Franke, B., Gelernter, J., Geschwind, D., Hakonarson, H., Haavik, J., Kranzler, H.R., Kuntsi, J., Langley, K., Lesch, K.-P., Middeldorp, C., Reif, A., Rohde, L.A., Roussos, P., Schachar, R., Sklar, P., Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S., Sullivan, P.F., Thapar, A., Tung, J.Y., Waldman, I.D., Medland, S.E., Stefansson, K., Nordentoft, M., Hougaard, D.M., Werge, T., Mors, O., Mortensen, P.B., Daly, M.J., Faraone, S.V., Børglum, A.D., Neale, B.M., Faraone, S.V., Børglum, A.D., Neale, B.M., 2019. Discovery of the first genome-wide significant risk loci for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Nat. Genet. 51, 63-75. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41588-018-0269-7.
- Harro, J., 2018. Animals, anxiety, and anxiety disorders: how to measure anxiety in rodents and why. Behav. Brain Res. 352, 81–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017. 10.016.
- Leffa, D.T., Castro Panzenhagen, A., Rovaris, D.L., Henrique, C., Bau, D., Rohde, L.A., Grevet, E.H., Pires, G.N., 2018. Behavioural effects of methylphenidate in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis protocol. BMJ Open Sci. 2 (1). https://doi.org/10. 1136/bmjos-2018-000001.
- Leffa, D.T., Castro Panzenhagen, A., Salvi, A.A., Henrique, C., Bau, D., Pires, G.N., Torres, I.L.S., Rohde, L.A., Rovaris, D.L., Grevet, E.H., 2018. Systematic review and metaanalysis of the behavioral effects of methylphenidate in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 100, 166–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.02.019.
- Niigaki, S.T., Peres, F.F., Ferreira, L., Libanio, T., Gouvea, D.A., Levin, R., Almeida, V., Silva, N.D., Diana, M.C., Suiama, M.A., Calzavara, M.B., Abilio, V.C., 2019. Young spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHRs) display prodromal schizophrenia-like behavioral abnormalities. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiatry 90, 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.11.020.
- Peres, F.F., Eufrásio, R.Á., Gouvêa, D.A., Diana, M.C., Santos, C.M., Swardfager, W., Abílio, V.C., Cogo-Moreira, H., 2018. A schizophrenia-like behavioral trait in the SHR model: applying confirmatory factor analysis as a new statistical tool. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiatry 85, 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2018.03.021.
- Schöner, J., Heinz, A., Endres, M., Gertz, K., Kronenberg, G., 2017. Post-traumatic stress disorder and beyond: an overview of rodent stress models. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 21, 2248–2256. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.13161.
- Williamson, C.R., Khurana, S., Nguyen, P., Byrne, C.J., Tai, T.C., 2017. Comparative analysis of renin-angiotensin system (RAS)-related gene expression between hypertensive and normotensive rats. Med. Sci. Monit. Basic Res. 23, 20–24.
- Zhang-James, Y., Middleton, F.A., Faraone, S.V., 2013. Genetic architecture of Wistar-Kyoto rat and spontaneously hypertensive rat substrains from different sources. Physiol. Genomics 45, 528–538. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00002. 2013.

Alana C. Panzenhagen^a, Claiton H.D. Bau^{b,c}, Eugenio H. Grevet^c, Diego L. Rovaris^{b,c,*}

^a Centro de Estudos em Estresse Oxidativo, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil

^b Departamento de Genética, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^c Departamento de Psiquiatria, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

E-mail address: drovaris@hcpa.edu.br (D.L. Rovaris).

^{*} Corresponding author at: Departamento de Genética, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil.



Expanding the discussion on experimental models of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

Research article published on *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*

ELSEVIER

Commentary

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev



Expanding the discussion on experimental models of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

Alana C. Panzenhagen^a, Claiton H.D. Bau^{b, c, d}, Eugenio H. Grevet^{b, c, d}, Diego L. Rovaris^{e,*}

^a Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^b Department of Genetics, Instituto de Biociências, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^c Adulthood ADHD Outpatient Program (ProDAH), Clinical Research Center, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^d Developmental Psychiatry Program, Experimental Research Center, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, Brazil

^e Universidade de Sao Paulo Instituto de Ciencias Biomedicas, Departamento de Fisiologia e Biofisica, São Paulo, Brazil

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords ADHD Animal model SHR GWAS Zebrafish Psychiatric disorder

A recent paper reviewed models of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Regan et al., 2022). ADHD presents a complex etiology and is highly heterogeneous in presentation and comorbidity profile, making it challenging to validate an animal model for the disorder. However, animal experimentation is of enormous importance to understanding neuropharmacological aspects of ADHD (Panzenhagen et al., 2019). This relevance became even more substantial after new genes were implicated in ADHD etiology from genome-wide association studies (GWAS) (Demontis et al., 2022). Although Regan et al. deeply reviewed the rodent models of ADHD, there are some important points we would like to add to the discussion: First, ADHD is not a monogenic or oligogenic disorder. Models based on gene knock-out or knockdown (e. g., DAT-KO/KD) can hardly represent the complex nature of ADHD and its endophenotypes. Therefore, we suggest that we recognize these experimental models as relevant tools to study disturbance effects in specific physiological pathways but do not label them as particular models for any given disorder (in fact, dopamine transporters are also relevant for other psychiatric phenotypes).

Second, genes such as *DAT1* and *DRD4* are far from being associated with ADHD or biologically correlated psychiatric disorders in the latest GWASs (<u>https://atlas.ctglab.nl/PheWAS</u>). Nonetheless, it is possible that small effects will be detected with the rise in GWAS sample sizes. Although environmental factors play a role, for most of the exposures

investigated in meta-analyses, the quality of evidence is weak to moderate, the level of heterogeneity is high (e.g., for lead exposure), effect sizes tend to be small (e.g., acetaminophen), and the findings are susceptible to potential confounders (e.g., high genetic correlations between ADHD and smoking). Therefore, establishing exposure-based models falls into the same perspective as KO/KD approaches.

Third, construct validity is hard to achieve; however, face and predictive validity can be better tested. In this regard, it is time to scrutinize the evidence from animal models as we do for clinical and epidemiological studies in humans. For instance, we conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to evaluate the predictive validity of the Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat (SHR) as a model of ADHD (Leffa et al., 2019). The SHR is the most widely used animal model of ADHD, and the number of published studies was sufficiently robust to carry out a meta-analytic approach following the required standards for human studies. However, we could not adequately support the SHR as an ADHD model since methylphenidate (MPH), a first-line treatment for ADHD, was ineffective on hyperactivity. Despite improving other ADHD dimensions, the lack of significant effects of MPH in decreasing hyperactivity (a core symptom of the disorder) - additionally to other model concerns, such as hypertension - jeopardizes the use of SHR in ADHD studies. This does not mean, however, that SHRs cannot be successfully used for studying other behavioral dimensions (e.g., inattention,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2022.104641

Received 18 February 2022; Received in revised form 25 March 2022; Accepted 26 March 2022 Available online 29 March 2022 0149-7634/© 2022 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

^{*} Correspondence to: Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil. *E-mail address: drovaris@usp.br* (D.L. Rovaris).

impulsivity, and memory deficits).

Fourth, we should also consider the new animal models being developed. For instance, Zebrafish use is becoming popular in ADHD research (Fontana et al., 2019). This model is promising since it presents the behavior in the adult and at the larval stage and the phenotype can be studied across the Zebrafish lifespan, which may be crucial due to the neurodevelopmental nature of most ADHD cases (Breda et al., 2020). Furthermore, they seem to respond to atomoxetine, a consolidated ADHD medication. There are several differences between rodent (e.g., SHR) and Zebrafish models, and each has its inherent advantages and limitations. For example, rats are closer to humans in the evolution tree and present behaviors more comparable to humans. Conversely, while this can make the SHR an interesting ADHD model, its organism complexity introduces variables that often make it challenging to translate to human biology. The questionable predictive validity of the model is one of them. On the other hand, Zebrafish is a simpler organism, which facilitates the investigation of baseline variables, but hampers the inference on more complex and intertwined systems. In the case of SHR, researchers hopefully achieved a disorder-like phenotype from the inbreeding of strains to change their genetic background. This approach is entirely different from Zebrafish models, where the animal is genetically altered by targeting single genes or sets of genes involved with the disorder. While the first is unpredictable, the second is possibly too strict when investigating polygenic disorders (as we mentioned for rodent KO/KD models). We do not yet have information on the entirety of genes involved in ADHD etiology to produce a comparable model based solely on genetics. Another concern is that the genes commonly manipulated in Zebrafish ADHD models are not associated with the disorder in GWASs.

Fifth, we acknowledge the fact that we are now in the early journey of understanding the biological basis of ADHD, which highlights the need for the pre-clinical research endeavor. However, as new studies arise, ADHD animal models should be carefully investigated regarding their validities. The current and modest literature on new ADHD models is not enough to confirm their face, construct, or predictive validities. However, we argue that at this point, researchers should be stricter when evaluating such requirements. Increasingly available methodologies, such as meta-analyses or systems biology approaches, serve us well when making these assumptions. Face validity is usually considered appropriate when the animal model presents human-like phenotypes. However, this hardly assures its validity if the phenomenon is inconsistent across studies or if the intervention (when there is one) has a low phenotype conversion rate in animals.

Sixth, it may be time for researchers to step back and re-evaluate ADHD models. The current models are based mainly on rodents, fish, and flies; however, the successful breeding/manipulation of an animal model that represents disorders with high heritability is challenging. In this sense, other models are possible, as the dedifferentiation of somatic cells from probands into pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs), which has become an encouraging tool since it allows other cell derivation types from a genetic background that somehow knowingly contributes to the investigated phenotype. From hiPSCs a new study model named "brain organoid" has gained traction. Organoids are 3D cell cultures that mimic the central nervous system's anatomical and functional properties. This model is a promising way to assess the influence of specific genetic backgrounds in the neurodevelopmental trajectory. Additionally, crossing data of cerebral organoids from patients and tissue data from the animal models available can be a feasible strategy to assess construct validity in the future. One of the major disadvantages of these models, of course, is the lack of network connection capability, cognition, or indicators that could be associated with behavior. These are not models that could achieve face or predictive validities but could help in the understanding of specific molecular mechanisms impacting neurodevelopment. Another downside for hiPSCs and 3D cultures is the challenge of having isogenic comparisons, or to 'repair' causative variations in these lines (which proves to be a consistently growing issue

with the increasing number of associated *loci* in complex phenotypes). However, there are approaches being developed, such as CRISPR editing in combination with biochemical and physiological neuronal assays or "village-in-a-dish" methods, in which many individuals are grown in a single experiment. These methods have proven to be promising alternatives for identifying neuronal phenotypes and interactions with expression quantitative trait *loci* known to be associated with psychiatric disorders (Kelley and Paşca, 2022). Therefore, we expect to have further progress in this area so that better (if not completely isogenic) controls are generated.

Finally, there are many other rodent models that were not discussed here due to their limited use so far compared to the SHR. However, some have shown promising predictive validity for core behaviors associated with ADHD, as do the Atxn7-overexpressing mice when treated with atomoxetine for impulsivity, for example (Dela Peña et al., 2019). We would like to stress that we are not by any means advocating for or against any of the models available. Indeed, it is an arduous task to model such a heterogeneous and complex disorder. It is unlikely that all core symptoms/behaviors of ADHD (impulsivity, inattention, and hyperactivity) will be modeled in any one single model. That would be a naive assumption to say the least. We intend to raise the questions regarding the available models and provide ideas on a few directions researchers could take in going forward. As the renowned oncologist and researcher Howard Skipper once said, "a model is a lie that helps you see the truth." Hence, we need a representative "lie" while keeping it as transparent and realistic as possible.

So, what do we propose we do? First, solve inconsistencies on the face and predictive validities throughout meta-analyses and hopefully investigate construct validity (e.g., through brain organoids and ex vivo samples from animal models). Second, there is a huge space to develop new models, both within rodents and other groups, as we exemplified with Zebrafish. In this sense, it would be of great value testing manipulation on GWAS-oriented sites as an exploratory tool to unravel molecular mechanisms. Third, be stricter in acknowledging that we are far from modeling a whole ADHD symptomatology and consider different models for specific endophenotypes, which ultimately means that we might have to combine them in our quest to understand psychiatric disorders. Moreover, as in the comorbid nature of psychiatry itself, we will see models with similar backgrounds leading to different phenotypes and vice-versa (Panzenhagen et al., 2019). We will most likely not find the perfect separate model for each disorder, as many are looking for, but ironically that is precisely the most translational aspect we can get when talking about behavior.

Acknowledgments

We received financial supports from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico Brazil (CNPq 431472/2018-1), Brain & Behavior Research Foundation -USA (grant number 29056/ 2020), and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul - Brazil (FAPERGS - Pesquisador Gaúcho (PqG) 19/2551-0001731-6 and 19/2551-0001668-9).

References

- Breda, V., Rohde, L.A., Maria, A., Menezes, B., Anselmi, L., Caye, A., Rovaris, D.L., Vitola, E.S., Henrique, C., Bau, D., Grevet, E.H., 2020. The neurodevelopmental nature of attention- deficit hyperactivity disorder in adults. Br. J. Psychiatry 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2020.200.
- Demontis, D., Walters, B., Athanasiadis, G., Walters, R., Therrien, K., Farajzadeh, L., Voloudakis, G., Bendl, J., Zeng, B., Zhang, W., Grove, J., Als, T.D., Duan, J., Satterstrom, F.K., Bybjerg-Grauholm, J., Baekved-Hansen, M., Gudmundsson, O.O., Magnusson, S., Baldursson, G., Davidsdottir, K., Haraldsdottir, G., Nielsen, T.T., Agerbo, E., Hoffman, G.E., Dalsgaard, S., Martin, J., Ribases, M., Boomsma, D., Artigas, M.S., Mota, N.R., Howrigan, D., Medland, S.E., Zayats, T., Rajagopal, V., Nordentoft, M., Mors, O., Hougaard, D.M., Mortensen, P.B., Daly, M., Faraone, S.V., Stefansson, H., Roussos, P., Franke, B., Werge, T., Neale, B., Stefansson, K., Boerglum, A.D., 2022. Genome-wide analyses of ADHD identify 27 risk loci, refine the genetic architecture and implicate several cognitive domains,

A.C. Panzenhagen et al.

2022.02.14.22270780 medRxiv 15. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.02.14.22270780.

- Dela Peña, I.J.I., Botanas, C.J., de la Peña, J.B., Custodio, R.J., Dela Peña, I., Ryoo, Z.Y., Kim, B.-N., Ryu, J.H., Kim, H.J., Cheong, J.H., 2019. The Atxn7-overexpressing mice showed hyperactivity and impulsivity which were ameliorated by atomoxetine treatment: A possible animal model of the hyperactive-impulsive phenotype of ADHD. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 88, 311–319. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.08.012.
- Fontana, B.D., Franscescon, F., Rosemberg, D.B., Norton, W.H.J., Kalueff, A.V., Parker, M.O., 2019. Zebrafish models for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 100, 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. NEUBIOREV.2019.02.009.
- Kelley, K.W., Paşca, S.P., 2022. Human brain organogenesis: toward a cellular understanding of development and disease. Cell 185, 42–61. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2021.10.003.
- Leffa, D.T., Panzenhagen, A.C., Salvi, A.A., Bau, C.H.D., Pires, G.N., Torres, I.L.S., Rohde, L.A., Rovaris, D.L., Grevet, E.H., 2019. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the behavioral effects of methylphenidate in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.02.019.
- Panzenhagen, A.C., Bau, C.H.D., Grevet, E.H., Rovaris, D.L., 2019. An animal model of what? the case of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2019.03.012.
- Regan, S.L., Williams, M.T., Vorhees, C.V., 2022. Review of rodent models of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 132, 621–637. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.NEUBIOREV.2021.11.041.

Ways to tackle variability in psychiatry through neuroimaging analyses

"There is no scientific study more vital to man than the study of his own brain. Our entire view of the universe depends on it."

– Francis Crick



Emerging findings of glutamateglutamine imbalance in the medial prefrontal cortex in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: systematic review and meta-analysis of spectroscopy studies

Research article published on *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*.

ORIGINAL PAPER



Emerging findings of glutamate–glutamine imbalance in the medial prefrontal cortex in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: systematic review and meta-analysis of spectroscopy studies

Marcos Vinícius Vidor^{1,2} · Alana Castro Panzenhagen^{1,3} · Alexandre Ribeiro Martins⁴ · Renata Basso Cupertino^{1,5} · Cibele Edom Bandeira^{1,6} · Felipe Almeida Picon¹ · Bruna Santos da Silva¹ · Eduardo Schneider Vitola¹ · Luis Augusto Rohde^{2,7} · Diego Luiz Rovaris^{1,8} · Claiton Henrique Dotto Bau^{1,6} · Eugênio Horácio Grevet^{1,2}

Received: 27 November 2021 / Accepted: 1 March 2022 / Published online: 24 March 2022 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany 2022

Abstract

One of the main challenges in investigating the neurobiology of ADHD is our limited capacity to study its neurochemistry in vivo. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) estimates metabolite concentrations within the brain, but approaches and findings have been heterogeneous. To assess differences in brain metabolites between patients with ADHD and healthy controls, we searched 12 databases screening for MRS studies. Studies were divided into 'children and adolescents' and 'adults' and meta-analyses were performed for each brain region with more than five studies. The quality of studies was assessed by the Newcastle–Ottawa Scale. Thirty-three studies met our eligibility criteria, including 874 patients with ADHD. Primary analyses revealed that the right medial frontal area of children with ADHD presented higher concentrations of a composite of glutamate and glutamine (p=0.02, SMD=0.53). Glutamate might be implicated in pruning and neurodegenerative processes as an excitotoxin, while glutamine excess might signal a glutamate depletion that could hinder neurotrophic activity. Both neuro metabolites could be implicated in the differential cortical thinning observed in patients with ADHD across all ages. Notably, more homogeneous designs and reporting guidelines are the key factors to determine how suitable MRS is for research and, perhaps, for clinical psychiatry. Results of this meta-analysis provided an overall map of the brain regions evaluated so far, addressed the role of glutamatergic metabolites in the pathophysiology of ADHD, and pointed to new perspectives for consistent use of the tool in the field.

Keywords MRS · Spectroscopy · ADHD · Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder · Systematic review · Meta-analysis

Marcos Vinícius Vidor and Alana Castro Panzenhagen have contributed equally to this work.

Eugênio Horácio Grevet eugenio.grevet@ufrgs.br

- ¹ Programa de Transtornos de Déficit de Atenção/ Hiperatividade em Adultos (ProDAH-A), Centro de Pesquisa Clínica (CPC), Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre (HCPA), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil
- ² Programa de Pós-Graduação em Psiquiatria e Ciências do Comportamento, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), R. Ramiro Barcelos, 2400, 2º andar, Porto Alegre, RS 90035-003, Brazil
- ³ Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, UFRGS, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil

- ⁴ Serdil-Clínica de Radiologia e Diagnóstico de Imagem, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil
- ⁵ Department of Psychiatry, University of Vermont, Burlington, VT, USA
- ⁶ Departamento de Genética, Instituto de Biociências, UFRGS, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil
- ⁷ Instituto Nacional de Psiquiatria do Desenvolvimento (INPD), Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil
- ⁸ Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Departamento de Fisiologia e Biofísica, Universidade de São Paulo (USP), São Paulo, SP, Brazil

Introduction

Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a neurobehavioral disorder characterized by age-inappropriate patterns of inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity [1, 2], being a prevalent psychiatric diagnosis among children [3–5] and often persisting into adulthood [6–9]. ADHD is a major cause of impairment in quality of life [10], producing an economic loss estimated at billions of dollars each year [11]. Despite its impact on both individual and collective domains, the neurobiology of ADHD remains poorly understood [12]. One of the main impediments for testing pathophysiological hypotheses of ADHD is our limited capacity for examining the neurochemistry of the central nervous system in vivo [13].

Apart from post mortem analyses [13], which are currently lacking for ADHD [14], the main approaches for studying neurochemistry in humans are positron emission tomography (PET) and magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) [15]. By and large, MRS displays higher resolution, no radiation harm, and is a low-cost method compared to other non-invasive techniques [16], constituting a viable and practical tool for clinical purposes. In a hydrogen based MRS (¹H-MRS), the metabolites usually reported are N-acetyl aspartate (NAA), a compound of glutamate and glutamine (glx), creatine (cr), choline (cho), and myoinositol (mI). These molecules are generally interpreted as surrogate markers for neuronal integrity (NAA), excitatory neurotransmission (glx), energetic metabolism (cr), membrane turnover (cho), and glial proliferation (mI) [17]. These interpretations are connected to the current clinical applications of MRS, chiefly for neurological conditions such as brain tumors, multiple sclerosis, and brain abscesses. However, other neurochemical readings may prove suitable for analyzing the functional deficits of psychiatric disorders. For instance, NAA is thought to act as an excitatory neurotransmitter [18]; high choline levels might indicate chronic cholinergic deficits [19]; as well as myo-inositol, a precursor of intracellular second messengers [20], might be correlated to lithium treatment [21] and perhaps neuronal activity [22, 23].

The first study to analyze spectroscopy data in ADHD was performed more than 2 decades ago [24]. Since then, two meta-analyses have tried to make sense of the available studies on MRS and ADHD [25, 26]. In 2009, a review pooled 16 studies on the subject [25]. Due to insufficient studies for each brain area, the authors were compelled to perform meta-analyses with as few as two studies, concluding that patients with ADHD had higher choline concentrations in several brain areas [25]. Four years later, a new systematic review of spectroscopy studies was published using narrower inclusion criteria—only proton MRS studies were included, and few brain areas of interest were selected

(frontal cortex, striatum, and cerebellum) [26]. Findings from the first systematic review were not replicated, with results showing a higher concentration of NAA in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) of children with ADHD, highlighting a possible neurophysiological difference compared to adults [26]. Despite the methodological differences, these studies had to use a nonspecific selection of brain areas (such as disregarding brain laterality) and samples (such as disregarding age) to pool enough data for the meta-analyses.

Several publications on spectroscopy and ADHD have arisen since the reviews mentioned earlier [27–39]. Apart from the increased statistical power provided by new original data, it also allows for a narrowed methodological approach. For example, it enables to deal with the heterogeneity so far displayed in MRS studies, especially regarding voxels of choice and the lack of a standardized unit of measurement-MRS results are reported in arbitrary units that vary with specific characteristics of the study, such as voxel size and radiofrequency coil sensitivity [40]. In this review of more than two decades of studies, we aimed to take advantage of these possibilities to investigate whether there is a difference in the concentration of metabolites measured by ¹H-MRS between patients with ADHD and non-ADHD controls in specific brain volumes. Besides, we hope to delineate a landscape for future MRS studies in terms of regions of interest to be selected and other possible optimal approaches.

Materials and methods

Protocol and registration

This review was registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews PROSPERO under the title "Magnetic resonance spectroscopy on attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: systematic review and meta-analysis" (ID CRD42018112418). A more detailed protocol was also published elsewhere [41]. We followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-analyses PRISMA checklist as a guide to our reporting [42, 43].

Eligibility criteria

To fulfill the eligibility criteria, studies should be in accordance with the following requirements: (1) to be an original study with proton MRS data of brain metabolites; (2) to contain at least one group of patients with ADHD; (3) to contain at least one non-ADHD control group; (4) cases should be defined according to DSM-III (Attention Deficit Disorder-ADD), DSM-III-R, DSM-IV, DSM-IV-TR, or DSM 5, following professional assessment and/or screening tools and controls must be defined as not having the condition by similar means. Studies were excluded if they fulfilled the following criteria: not containing a group for which the only psychiatric diagnosis required was ADHD—e.g., case groups that required two psychiatric conditions simultaneously (e.g., requiring both ADHD and borderline personality disorder diagnoses). There were no direct requirements for active screening for other psychiatric conditions (comorbidities). Nonetheless, this information was used as a quality criterion for evaluating studies and bias assessment later on. There were no restrictions on the sex or age of participants.

Information sources and study selection

A comprehensive search for studies was performed on the following databases: Embase, Google Scholar, PubMed, ScienceDirect, Scielo, Scopus, and Web of Science. Additionally, broadly targeting gray literature, ERIC, CINAHL, GreyGuide, OpenGrey, and WorldCat were screened. The combination of keywords was divided into two axes, one for ADHD and another for MRS. ADHD terms included "ADHD" and "attention deficit hyperactivity disorder", while MRS terms covered "mrs", "mr spectroscopy", "nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy", and "nmr spectroscopy" (Table S1). Databases were searched on August 18, 2020. After duplicates removal, the first set of entries was removed based on titles and abstracts by two independent authors (MVV and RBC). Finally, the remaining records were examined in full-text reading for eligibility criteria by the same two authors. A third author (EHG) decided for eventual inconsistent decision-making between evaluators. References of all studies on the final list were then screened for further works to be included in our review. As a final step, studies were compared for possible sample overlapping due to multiple reports of the same study based on authors' names, sponsors, location and setting of research, sample characteristics, and equipment [44].

Data extraction

All studies were independently assessed by two authors (MVV and CEB) who collected the following data in a worksheet: year of publication, the sample size of each group, number of male and female individuals in each group, age category of the population studied ('children and adolescents' or 'adults', aged 18 or older [6, 7]), the mean age of each group, regions of the brain studied, metabolites measured, and main results. For the meta-analysis, the means and standard deviations of all reported metabolites were extracted independently by two authors (MVV and ARM) for each brain region of each group, along with the sample size of both cases and controls. Preferable data sources were as follows: (1) tables on the study or supplementary material; (2) description of the data within the text; (3) graph estimation using a digital ruler [45–47]. When data was

not reported in the aforementioned formats, communication with the correspondent author was attempted via email requesting the information. In case of no response after one month, data was deemed missing for meta-analysis purposes.

Studies diverged on how to report metabolites. When absolute concentrations and ratios with creatine were both available, the latter was preferred. Overall, creatine ratios represent a more prevalent format for reporting MRS results and are believed to correct the data for uncontrollable experimental circumstances, even though this rationale is still a source of controversy [48].

Quality assessment

The risk of bias was assessed using the Newcastle–Ottawa Scale (NOS) for nonrandomized studies in its case–control format [49]. NOS is a quality assessment tool that generates a score from 0 to 9 by evaluating nine items (officially eight, one item split in two) divided into three sections: selection, comparability, and exposure. Two authors (MVV and ACP) applied the NOS tool for each study, and inconsistencies were discussed by reviewing the methodological description of the studies. Funnel plots and Egger's regression test were expected to be used for publication bias assessment if ten or more studies were included in a single meta-analysis, which has not occurred for any specific brain region and metabolite [50].

Summary measures

To estimate a standardized mean difference between cases and controls for each metabolite of each brain area, we performed random-effects meta-analyses. As MRS data output is not uniform, we used standardized mean differences through Hedge's G method. The inverse of the variance established individual study weights. Significance was determined through a Z test and alpha = 0.05. I^2 tests assessed study heterogeneity. Levels of heterogeneity were assumed as low (25%), moderate (50%), and high (75%) [51]. The Review Manager 5.3 software was used to analyze standardized mean differences, analyze heterogeneity values, and generate forest plots for each analysis [52].

Synthesis of results

All the data was divided into two major groups based on age categories: 'children and adolescents' (< 18 yo) and 'adults' (\geq 18 yo). To address a more comprehensive review, no specific brain regions were preliminarily set as inclusion criteria. Instead, all studies meeting the eligibility criteria were included, and clusterization of brain areas was performed later for data synthesis. Our aim was to be as specific as possible, following a hierarchy of preferences applied to the

available information. The first author (MVV) and a psychiatrist with neuroimaging experience (FAP) classified the regions. In the first level, data of the same specific area in a defined side were grouped (e.g., left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex). When the available data was insufficient, we gathered data of related brain regions but still on the same side (e.g., all data from the left frontal lobe).

All brain areas with more than five studies were metaanalyzed and reported as primary analyses. Meta-analyses of two-five studies were used to conceive a map of opportunities for future studies, classifying brain regions according to the number of studies with enough data for meta-analyses and their partial results. These analyses were disclosed as a supplement to this work (Tables S2, S3). In studies with more than one ADHD group (e.g., ADHD inattentive subtype and ADHD hyperactive subtype), all ADHD groups were compared to the control group. In those cases, the sample size of the control group was divided by the total number of ADHD groups (rounded down to avoid overestimation of effects).

Multiple comparisons, sensitivity and subgroup analyses

All primary meta-analyses were tested for multiple comparisons with the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure with a false discovery rate established at 10% (Q=0.1) [53, 54]. Following our initial procedures, we performed a Jackknife resampling of each analysis for detecting outlier datasets. To explore potential effects of biases, we reran all analyses in a variety of ways: excluding studies that scored less than one standard deviation from the mean NOS score; selecting studies by treatment status, separating medication free from patients currently on stimulants; and selecting by the field strength of MRS, only analyzing studies using magnetic resonance equipment stronger than 1.5 Tesla. Meta-regression analyses were not conducted since all meta-analyses presented a small number of independent studies (less than ten each), which prevents us from generating reliable statistical results for this kind of analysis.

Results

Study selection

The initial search identified 1636 entries, with 1335 remaining after removing duplicates. A total of 1234 entries were excluded based on titles and abstracts. The remaining 101 studies proceeded to the full-text appreciation for eligibility criteria evaluation. At this step, 68 studies were excluded: 22 for not containing a healthy control group (mostly, studies on pharmacodynamics), 16 for not reporting ¹H-MRS data, 13 studies for not reporting original data, 10 for sample overlapping or alternative reports of already included studies, and seven had as inclusion criteria the need of ADHD plus a specific other mental disorder. A total of 33 studies [24, 27–32, 34–36, 38, 39, 55–76] met the criteria of our systematic review, from those, 25 studies reported enough data to be included in the meta-analyses (Fig. 1) [27–29, 31–34, 37–39, 55, 57–59, 63–71, 73, 75].

Characteristics of studies

The 33 studies compiled in our review pooled an aggregate of 874 patients with ADHD and 775 control individuals. The mean long-lasting age of ADHD groups ranged from 7.7 to 36.1 years, while healthy controls' mean age ranged between 7.4 and 36.8 years. Twenty studies focused on children and adolescents samples [27, 29, 33, 35, 37–39, 55, 57, 59, 61–63, 65–68, 71, 73, 75, 76], 12 studies focused on adult samples [24, 28, 31, 32, 34, 36, 58, 60, 64, 69, 70], and one work studied both age categories [30]. Male individuals represented 68% of patients with ADHD. Only three studies had a majority of female individuals in the ADHD group [31, 58, 62]. In 14 studies, the patients were under no pharmacological treatment [24, 27, 32, 37, 56-58, 62-64, 69, 70, 73], whereas three studies recruited only patients treated with stimulant medication [33, 59, 71]. Ten studies with patients under treatment specified a washout period of at least 16 h. Other studies have either not mentioned treatment status or not used it as inclusion or exclusion criteria. Forty-eight percent of studies (16) presented their data in absolute quantification (arbitrary units), 52% (17) as ratios per creatine, 6% (2) as ratios per inositol, 3% (1) as ratios per H₂O, and 3% (1) as ratios per creatine plus inositol-the sum exceeds 100% since a few studies reported their findings in two formats (Table 1).

As anticipated, studies in our final list diverged on targeted volumes of interest (VOI). Based on the authors' description and illustrative pictures of VOIs, it was possible to cluster children's right medial frontal area (mFA) for meta-analyses. Brain regions with less than six studies were pooled and reported as supplementary material (Tables S2, S3). All areas were examined considering laterality; both sides were analyzed separately.

Risk of bias

Having applied the case–control model of the Newcastle–Ottawa Scale, we established the mean score among all studies was 5.4 (SD 1.58) on a scale of zero to nine. Most studies (91%) failed to correctly describe the non-response





rate of their samples. Evaluation of case definition (39%), case representativeness (39%), and selection of controls (30%) were also accomplished only by a minority of studies. All other NOS criteria were fulfilled for at least 50% of articles. For controlling for the most important factor, ascertainment of exposure, and method of ascertainment, all studies (100%) scored positively (Figs. S1, S2).

Meta-analyses of metabolites per brain region

Regarding children and adolescents, in the right medial frontal area, pooling six studies together, there was a higher concentration of glx for patients with ADHD (p=0.02, (i/m) Q=0.033, $I^2=62\%$, SMD=0.53). No other meta-analyses indicated significant differences between brain metabolites of cases and healthy controls. In addition, sub-analyses using only samples undergoing pharmacological treatment or drug naïve patients found no statistical differences between those groups and healthy controls.

It was possible to devise a map of opportunities for studies in both child and adult populations independently. For children and adolescents, most brain areas had few studies with data for meta-analyses. Children's right medial frontal area showed elevated glx—as referred above—while the left medial frontal area had no statistically significant meta-analyses. In adults, only the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (NAA) and the left striatum (cho, glx, NAA) pooled at least three studies for meta-analyses, with no statistically significant results. All other brain regions had no more than two studies with sufficient data for meta-analyses (Figs. 2, 3).

Discussion

In this review, we tried to approach MRS literature regarding ADHD in a way that would be both comprehensive on the level of search strategies and specific on the level of data analysis. Eight brain regions for children and 12 for adults had less than three studies with enough data for metaanalyses, establishing an open field for future work. Since our work identified 13 new studies compared to the previous systematic reviews [25, 26], it was possible to split the analyses aiming for child and adult samples specifically and with a higher cutoff for minimum datasets. Overall, the only meta-analysis to find a statistically significant result showed that children with ADHD had higher levels of glx in the right medial frontal area.

While the medial prefrontal cortex as a whole is often associated with decision-making processes [77, 78] and emotional regulation [79], specific roles have been attributed to the right medial prefrontal cortex [80, 81]. Worth mentioning that neuroanatomical evidence shows that the right ventromedial prefrontal cortex plays an essential role in impulsive behavior inhibition [82]. For that matter, a neurochemical imbalance within this region is potentially implicated in the pathogenesis of ADHD, especially in children, who commonly exhibit a more obvious pattern of impulsivity and hyperactivity [83].

Glx is defined as the combined concentrations of glutamate (Glu) and glutamine (Gln) [25, 84–86]. Although glutamate and glutamine are closely related through the glutamate–glutamine cycle [87, 88], it is well known that these

Table 1 Charad	cteristics and r	nain find	ings of stu	dies									
Study	ADHD groul	c		Control §	group		Diagnosis	ADHD treat-	Drug wash-	Magnet.	Brain regions	Metabolite	Main findings
	u	m/f	Mean ag	e n	m/f	Mean age		ment status	out time	theld strength (Tesla)		presentation (ratios)	tor ADHD Group
Alvarado et al. [55]	40	31/9	=	30	14/6	12	VI-MSQ	N/A	N/A	1.5	L frontal lobe R frontal lobe	Cr + Cr+Cho	↓ NAA—L frontal lobe ↓ Cho—L frontal lobe ↓ Cho—R frontal lobe
Arcos-Burgos et al. [56]	<u>5</u>	8/5	33.7	6]	7/12	6	DICA-IV-P	No treatment	N/A	1.5	L striatum R striatum L ACC R ACC L MCC R MCC L PCC R PCC L lat. thala- mus R lat. thala- mus R lat. thala- mus R med. thala- mus R mod. thala- mus R thala- mus R thala- mus R thala- mus R thala- mus R thala- thala	ъ	↑ glx—R PCC
Bae et al. [27]	27	27/0	15.3	42	42/0	16.4	K-SADS-PL	No treatment	N/A	3.0	R frontal lobe	absolute quantifica- tion	↓ NAA ↑ GIx
Bauer et al. [28]	27	17/10	31.1	27	15/12	27	DSM-IV	Mixed 16 on 11 off	24 h	3.0	ACC L DLPFC	absolute quantifica- tion	↑ Glu
Benamor et al. [29]	102	32/13 43/14 75/27	8.8 9.7 9.3	38	25/13	8.2	DISC-IV DSM-IV	Drug nai've (n = 45) On simulants (n = 57)	N/A	1.5	L PFC R PFC L striatum R striatum L cerebellum	Ċ	Regarding children on stimulants: ↑ Cho—L PFC ↓ NAA—L striatum ↓ Glx—L cerebellum

Table 1 (conti	nued)												
Study	ADHD group			Control gi	roup		Diagnosis	ADHD treat-	Drug wash-	Magnet.	Brain regions	Metabolite	Main findings
	u	m/f	Mean age	u	m/f	Mean age		ment status	out time	tield strength (Tesla)		presentation (ratios)	tor ADHD Group
Bollman et al. [30]	16 children 16 adults 32 total	9/7 8/8 17/15	10.8 38.4 19.2	19 38 57	11/7 19/19 30/26	10.8 31.6 24.7	K-SADS-PL DSM-IV	Mixed	72 h	3.0	L basal ganglia L DLPFC (adults)	H_2O	↑ GABA—L BG (adults) ↑ Gln—L BG (children)
Carrey et al. [57]	13	13/0	8.12	10	10/0	8.39	K-SADS CPRS and CTRS CGI-S	No treatment	N/A	1.5	R PFC L striatum L occipital lobe	absolute quantifica- tion	↑ Glu—L striatum ↑ Glx—L striatum ↑ Cr—L stria- tum
Colla et al. [58]	15	7/8	36.1	10	6/4	33.2	DSM-IV CPRS WURS	No treatment	N/A	1.5	L ACC R ACC	absolute quantifica- tion	↑ Cho—R ACC
Courvoisie et al. [59]	×	N/A	N/A	×	N/A	N/A	K-SADS	On stimulants	24 h	1.5	L frontal lobe R frontal lobe	Ċ	↑ Glx—L fron- tal lobe ↑ Glx—R frontal lobe ↑ NAA—R frontal lobe ↑ Cho—R
Dramsdahl et al. [11]	29	15/14	32.9	38	15/23	29.8	ICD-10 or DSM-IV K-SADS	Mixed 16 on 13 off	48 h	3.0	L midfrontal region R midfrontal region	Ċ	↓ Glu—L midfrontal region
Edden et al. [61]	13	11/2	10.2	19	12/7	10.6	DICA-IV CPTRS-R ADHD-RS- IV	Mixed 7 on 6 off	~ 48 h	3.0	Primary somatosen- sory cortex (hand knob)	Absolute quantifica- tion	↓ GABA
Ende et al. [31]	3	0/22	30.05	30	0/30	27.53	WURS Connor Adult ADHD RS Wender- Reimherr ADHD Scale	N/A	N/A	3.0	ACC	Absolute quantifica- tion Cr	↓ GABA
Endres et al. [32]	113	57/56	33.9	82	40/42	36.8	DSM-IV WURS	No treatment	N/A	3.0	ACC L cerebellum	Absolute quantifica- tion	I

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}} Springer$

Table 1 (contin	(peni												
Study	ADHD group			Control group	dno		Diagnosis	ADHD treat-	Drug wash-	Magnet.	Brain regions	Metabolite	Main findings
	u	m/f	Mean age	u	m/f	Mean age		ment status	out time	tield strength (Tesla)		presentation (ratios)	tor ADHD Group
Fayed and Modrego [62]	×	3/5	9.1	12	5/7	7.7	VI-MSD	No treatment	N/A	1.5	L centrum semiovale	Cr	† NAA
Fayed et al. [63]	22	18/4	6	×	4/4	7.5	DSM-IV-TR	No treatment	N/A	1.5	L centrum semiovale R PFC	Ċ	↑ NAA—L centrum semiovale ↑ NAA—R PFC
Ferreira et al. [64]	19	N/A	20.84	12	N/A	N/A	DSM-IV K-SADS	No treatment	N/A	1.5	L VMPFC R VMPFC L putamen R putamen L thalamus R thalamus	Ċ	Regarding ADHD-C (10): ↓ mI—R VMPFC ↑ GIX—L thalamus
Hai et al. [33]	21	17/4	10.41	15	6/9	9.9	DSM 5	On stimulants	N/A	3.0	R PFC L striatum	Absolute quantifica- tion	↓ Glu—R PFC ↓ NAA—R PFC ↓ Cho—R PFC
Hammermes et al. [65]	10	N/A	14.2	12	N/A	12.8	DSM-IV-TR K-SADS-E	No treatment	N/A	4.0	ACC	mI	I
Hesslinger et al. [24]	5 inatt 5 hyper	5/0 5/0	27.2 27.8	S	5/0	27.8	VI-MSD	No treatment	N/A	2.0	L DLPFC L striatum	Absolute quantifica- tion	↓ NAA— DLPFC (ADHD)
MacMaster et al. [67]	6	6/3	9.6	6	N/A	9.36	K-SADS-PL	Mixed 8 on 1 off	At least 48 h	1.5	R PFC L striatum	Cr	↑ Glx—R PFC
Maltezos et al. [34]	40	31/9	30.6	20	15/5	33	Conners Adult ADHD DSM-IV	Mixed 16 on 24 off	N/A	1.5	L DLPFC L striatum L parietal lobe	Absolute quantifica- tion	↓ Cr—L DLPFC ↓ GIx—L striatum ↓ Cr—L stria- tum ↓ NAA—L striatum
Moore et al. [68]	15	N/A	N/A	2	N/A	N/A	VI-MSD	Mixed 3 on 12 off	N/A	1.5	ACC	n - Cr	↑ Glx/mI

Table 1 (contin	(pən												
Study	ADHD group			Control gro	dn		Diagnosis	ADHD treat-	Drug wash-	Magnet.	Brain regions	Metabolite	Main findings
	u	m/f	Mean age	u	m/f	Mean age		ment status	out time	field strength (Tesla)		presentation (ratios)	tor ADHD Group
Naaijen et al. [35]	39	21/18	10.7	53	38/15	10	DSM 5 K-SADS	Mixed 24 on 15 off	48 h	3.0	ACC L striatum	Absolute quantifica- tion	1
Naaijen et al. [36]	28	21/7	19.7	27	17/10	21.22	K-SADS	Mixed	48 h	3.0	ACC L striatum	Cr	↓ Glu—ACC
O'Neill et al. [39]	10 PAE⊕ 13 PAE⊖ 4 PAE � 27 total	9/1 11/2 2/2 22/5	12.4 11.9 12.6 12.19	7 PAE⊕ 8 PAE⊖ 2 PAE 17 total	3/4 2/6 0/2 5/12	12.4 12.9 12.0 12.59	DSM-IV NIMH DISC- IV SNAP-IV	Mixed 5 on 22 off	N/A	1.5	Corona radiata ACC	Absolute quantifica- tion	I
Perlov et al. [69]	28	17/11	32.4	28	15/13	30.5	DSM-IV WURS	No treatment	N/A	1.5	L ACC R ACC	Cr	↓ Glx—R ACC
Perlov et al. [70]	30	18/2	30.2	30	15/15	29.9	DSM-IV WURS ADHD-CL	No treatment	N/A	1.5	L cerebellum R cerebellum Vermis of cerebellum	Ċ	↑ Glx—L cerebellum
Puts et al. [37]	26	N/A	7.7	24	N/A	7.38	DICA-IV CPRS-R CTRS-R	No treatment	N/A	7.0	L DLPFC L ACC L striatum L premotor cortex	Ċ	↓ GABA—L striatum
Soliva et al. [71]	17	15/2	10.41	17	15/2	10.76	DSM-IV-TR CPTRS-R CB-CL	On stimulants	24 h	1.5	R DLPFC L cerebellum	Absolute quantifica- tion	↓ NAA—L cer- ebellum ↓ mI—L cer- ebellum
Sun et al. [73]	10 ADHD-I 10 ADHD-C 20 total	10/0 10/0 20/0	12.64 12.43 12.49	10	10/0	12.67	CDIS DSM-IV	No treatment	N/A	1.9	L striatum R striatum	ŗ	↓ NAA—L striatum (ADHD-C) ↓ NAA—R striatum (ADHD-C)
Tafazoli et al. [38]	13	8/5	12.3	13	8/5	12.2	VI-MSD	Mixed 3 on 10 off	N/A	1.5	L DLPFC R DLPFC	Absolute quantifica- tion	↓ NAA—R DLPFC ↓ Cho—R DLPFC ↓ Cr—R DLPFC

	(200												
Study	ADHD group	_		Control gro	dnc		Diagnosis	ADHD treat-	Drug wash-	Magnet.	Brain regions	Metabolite	Main findings
	u	m/f	Mean age	и	m/f	Mean age		ment status	out time	neid strength (Tesla)		presentation (ratios)	for ADHD Group
Yang et al. [75]	15	13/2	13.88	22	14/8	14.85	DSM-IV K-SADS-E	Mixed 12 on 3 off	N/A	1.5	L PFC R PFC	Absolute quantifica- tion Cr	↑ NAA—R PFC ↓ Cr—R PFC
Yeo et al. [76]	- 23	17/6	9.47	24	16/8	9.4	DSM-IV CTPRS	Mixed 17 on 6 off	16 h	1.5	L DLPF volume R DLPF volume	Absolute quantifica- tion	I
<i>n</i> sample size,	, <i>m/f</i> number of	male an	d female in	dividuals in	the sam	ple respectiv	ely, on stimul.	individuals beir	ng treated with	stimulants, ADH	<i>D</i> attention def	icit/hyperactivit	y disorder, AL

attention deficit disorder, ADHD-I ADHD subtype inattentive, ADHD-C ADHD subtype combined, PAE prenatal alcohol exposure, DSM Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorners Parent and Teacher Rating Scales Revised Long Form, *ADHD-RS-IV* ADHD Rating Scale, *DSM-IV-TR* DSM-IV Text Revision, *K-SADS-E* Kiddie Schedule for Affective Disorders And Schizophrenia—Epidemiologic Version, *NIMH* NIMH Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children, *SNAP-IV* parent rated and/or teacher-rated Inattentive and Hyperactive–Impulsive subscales of the Swanson Nolan and Pelham Scale, ADHD-CL ADHD Checklist, CPRS-R/CTRS-R Conners Rating Scale for Parents—Revised/Conners Rating Scale for Teachers—Revised, CB-CL Child ders, DICA-IV-P Diagnostic Interview for Children and Adolescents Revised Parents Version, K-SADS-PL Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children-Present and Lifetime Version, DISC-IV Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children, K-SADS Kiddie Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia, CPRS Conners Rating Scale for Parents, CTRS Conners Rating Scale for Teachers, CGI-S Clinical Global Impression Severity Scale, WURS Wender Utah Rating Scale, ICDI0 International Classification of Diseases, CPTRS-R Con-DLPF volume dorsolateral prefrontal volume, NAA n-acetylaspartate, Cho choline, Glx glutamate and glutamine, Glu glutamate, Gln glutamine, GABA gamma aminobutyric acid, Cr creatine, posterior cingulate cortex, lat. thalamus lateral thalamus, med. thalamus, DLPFC dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, PFC prefrontal cortex, VMPFC ventromedial prefrontal cortex. Behavior Checklist, CDIS Clinical Diagnostic Interviewing Scales, Conners Teacher and Parent Rating Scales, L left, R right, ACC anterior cingulate cortex, MCC mideingulate cortex, PCC m myo-inositol.~ around, N/A not available or not applicable, PAE with prenatal alcohol exposure, PAEO without prenatal alcohol exposure, Table or not applicable, PAEO with prenatal alcohol exposure, PAEO without prenatal alcohol exposure, PAEO without prenatal alcohol exposure, Table or not applicable or not applicable or not applicable. VIIV Jems nigher concentrations in comparison to controls, \downarrow lower concentrations in comparison to controls ciy, 5



Fig. 2 Mapping the window of opportunities for MRS studies with children with ADHD. The circles are not placed over the exact volumes of interest of the studies, but rather indicate the areas in a schematic fashion. Meta-analyses with three or more studies with a statistically significant result ("positive finding") are displayed as a green box. Meta-analyses with only two studies are displayed on the respective yellow boxes. Meta-analyses with three or more studies without a statistically significant result ("negative finding") are displayed as

two substances might vary their concentrations in opposite directions [89–91], a subtlety for which the generic identification of glx is not sensible for [85]. This uncertainty of what is being measured allows for opposing hypotheses to be viable neurobiological rationales to our findings. For instance, excessive glutamate is known to act as an excitotoxin implicated in several neurodegenerative processes [92]. At the same time, higher glutamine levels could represent the end line of glutamate depletion [88, 90, 91]. In both scenarios, the neurochemical imbalance could lead to cortical thinning, a known finding for children with ADHD [93].

Also noteworthy is the fact that the results of this review did not match the findings of the two previous meta-analyses of MRS for ADHD [25, 26]. Remarkably, they also had not matched their results between themselves. Two concurrent motives could explain this: the technique's sensitivity and the lack of specific guidelines. First, it might be relevant to discuss how suitable MRS is for the subtle functional

red boxes. Inconclusive findings account for regions for which there was only one study or not enough data to be extracted for meta-analysis. *Meta-analysis only with studies using field strengths higher than 1.5 T. ^aMeta-analyses with \geq 3 studies for naa, glx, and cho. *naa n*-acetylaspartate, *cr* creatine, *glx* glutamate–glutamine, *DLPFC* dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, *ACC* anterior cingulate cortex. Background brain images were courtesy of PRODAH-A library of neuro-images

changes of psychiatric disorders. Although this is a question for which we have no definitive answer, it is imperative to continuously consider that MRS has eminent limitations as conflicting results consistently emerge. For example, a metabolite is required to exist in high concentrations (on the millimolar range) to be assessed by the technique, and there is uncertainty on how much overlap between molecules exists when we finally see it on the chart [94]; this limitation precludes MRS from detecting key neurotransmitters, such as acetylcholine, norepinephrine, dopamine, and serotonin [95].

Nevertheless, an alternative explanation is that the MRS still lacks consensual specialized protocols to investigate most psychiatric disorders. As the clinical use of the method is predominantly directed to conditions in the fields of neurology and neurosurgery, most MRS guidelines are not committed to the nuances that might be crucial for research in psychiatry [96–100]. Notably, to our knowledge, there is no



Fig. 3 Mapping the window of opportunities for MRS studies with adults with ADHD. Mapping the window of opportunities for MRS studies with adults with ADHD. The circles are not placed over the exact volumes of interest of the studies, but rather indicate the areas in a schematic fashion. Meta-analyses with only two studies are displayed on the respective yellow boxes. Meta-analysis with three or more studies without a statistically significant result ("negative finding") are displayed as red boxes. Inconclusive findings account for

general guide on how to sample key regions of the brain, which might result in considerable differences in terms of outcomes. This is a particular problem for achieving consistent and replicable findings and, therefore, also challenging for clustering data in meta-analyses. Besides, there is no consensus on how to report results, as some studies find it appropriate to use creatine ratios, whereas other studies use either absolute quantifications or different ratios [28, 29, 65].

Apart from that, any meta-analysis relies on the volume of data available and the homogeneity of such data. There was enough data for assessing one key region in children in this review. Nonetheless, the studies displayed some degree of heterogeneity, as described earlier.

Altogether, the employment of MRS for ADHD—and likely to psychiatric disorders as a whole—lacks uniformity and consistency as a research field. One of the main aspects that might be addressed in future studies is a refined description of the volumes analyzed, including information on the

regions for which there was only one study or not enough data to be extracted for meta-analysis. ^aMeta-analysis with ≥ 3 studies for naa (meta-analyses with two studies for cr, glx, and cho also had no significant results). ^bMeta-analyses with ≥ 3 studies for naa, glx, and cho. *glx* glutamate–glutamine, *DLPFC* dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, *ACC* anterior cingulate cortex, *MCC* midcingulate cortex. Background brain images were courtesy of PRODAH-A library of neuroimages

anatomical limits used as reference points to establish the volume of interest. Ideally, brain regions would be spatially pre-defined, similar to what is seen in the stereotaxy of animal models such as rats. However, the latter might be less feasible than the former in practice [101–103]. Likewise, another issue worth mentioning is the reporting on the treatment status of patients. As MRS sheds light on neurochemical features of neurobiology, any external influence on these grounds should be closely monitored. In the case of ADHD, several studies have demonstrated how stimulant medication can change metabolites levels in the brain [29, 104–106]. It is reasonable to speculate that every psychotropic drug would perceptively affect MRS studies [107-110]. Besides that, treatment status is sometimes poorly reported or unregarded in studies. It would be of great importance that all medications potentially impacting the neurochemistry of patients are controlled in some way, at least with washout periods reasonably greater than the half-lives of the drugs.

Finally, we consider that providing the data in absolute quantification would be the best approach for all studies. Even if the authors' analysis is ultimately performed using ratios, presenting absolute quantification values would allow for independent appreciation of the data and converge to more transparent and comparable results. Within the studies included in our review, data on metabolites were reported on absolute values, creatine ratios, choline ratios, and H_2O ratios, which further burdens the process of putting those findings together.

Regarding the limitations of our review, it is crucial to consider some bottlenecks in the quality of the present work. First, despite our efforts to search for gray literature, unpublished data is a ubiquitous problem for the scientific appraisal of any subject. In the case of our work, this issue is further complicated by the limited number of studies for the specific areas analyzed, which precluded any publication bias assessment, such as Egger's tests. Furthermore, some studies do not provide their results in a usable format for meta-analysis, and most of those with usable data are of rather small sample sizes. The shortage of information was also the cause that hindered the use of some methodologies previously thought to be applied. For example, meta-regression was not employed for the risk of relying on very few studies determining statistical imprecisions. Similarly, some sub-analyses were also not accomplishable, such as dividing patients according to DSM types (inattentive, hyperactive-impulsive, and combined) [1]. Lastly, although the quality control instrument used (Newcastle-Ottawa Scale) [49] was the most suitable tool identified to be employed in our review, it does not accurately reflect key quality points to be addressed in an MRS study. Characterization of how each item of the scale was evaluated and a description of the scores are present on supplementary material. Despite these limitations, the relevance of the present review is on raising the awareness that after more than two decades of studies, there is still a lack of consistent data to be analyzed. There is value per se in highlighting how so few studies examined the same metabolites in the same brain regions. In this sense, our meta-analyses have the potential role of identifying the most consistent results and providing a map of the field for future studies.

In this study, we found that children with ADHD may present higher concentrations of glx in the right medial prefrontal area and speculated on how it could reflect underlying metabolic imbalances. Nonetheless, our considerations still do not fall under the category of solid conclusions. Moreover, as a research field for mental disorders, MRS seems to lack common grounds on methodological approaches up until now. Finally, we advocate that more homogeneous designs and reporting guidelines are the key factors determining how suitable MRS is for research and, perhaps, for clinical psychiatry. Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-022-01397-6.

Declarations

Conflict of interest Mr. Vidor is the recipient of a PhD scholarship from Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES-PBE-DPM, Bolsa Especial para Doutorado em Pesquisa Médica). Mr. Martins is affiliated to private companies related to clinical imaging services. Luis Augusto Rohde has received honoraria, has been on the speakers' bureau/advisory board, and/or has acted as a consultant for Medice, Novartis/Sandoz, and Shire/Takeda in the last two years; and receives authorship royalties from OxfordPress and Art-Med. The ADHD and Juvenile Bipolar Disorder Outpatient Programs chaired by him has received unrestricted educational and research support from the following pharmaceutical companies in the last three years: Janssen-Cilag, Novartis/Sandoz, and Shire/Takeda. Eugênio Horácio Grevet has served as a speakers' bureau/advisory board for Shire Pharmaceuticals in the past 3 years; and has received travel awards from Shire for taking part in psychiatric meetings. Ms. Panzenhagen, Dr. Cupertino, Ms. Bandeira, Dr. Picon, Dr. Silva, Dr. Vitola, Dr. Rovaris, and Dr. Bau reported no biomedical financial interests or potential conflicts of interest.

References

- Association AP (2013) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 5th edition: Dsm-5, 5th edn. American Psychiatric Publishing
- Wolraich ML, Hagan JF, Allan C et al (2019) Subcommittee on children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactive disorder clinical practice guideline for the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents. Pediatrics 144(4):e20192528. https://doi.org/ 10.1542/peds.2019-3997 (Pediatrics 145)
- Rohde LA, Biederman J, Busnello EA et al (1999) ADHD in a school sample of Brazilian adolescents: a study of prevalence, comorbid conditions, and impairments. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 38:716–722. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199906000-00019
- Polanczyk G, de Lima MS, Horta BL et al (2007) The worldwide prevalence of ADHD: a systematic review and metaregression analysis. Am J Psychiatry 164:942–948. https://doi.org/10.1176/ ajp.2007.164.6.942
- Thomas R, Sanders S, Doust J et al (2015) Prevalence of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Pediatrics 135:e994-1001. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds. 2014-3482
- Kessler RC, Adler L, Barkley R et al (2006) The prevalence and correlates of adult ADHD in the United States: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Am J Psychiatry 163:716–723. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.4.716
- Fayyad J, De Graaf R, Kessler R et al (2007) Cross-national prevalence and correlates of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Br J Psychiatry 190:402–409. https://doi.org/10.1192/ bjp.bp.106.034389
- Barkley RA, Fischer M, Smallish L, Fletcher K (2002) The persistence of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder into young adulthood as a function of reporting source and definition of disorder. J Abnorm Psychol 111:279–289
- Vitola ES, Bau CHD, Salum GA et al (2017) Exploring DSM-5 ADHD criteria beyond young adulthood: phenomenology, psychometric properties and prevalence in a large three-decade birth

cohort. Psychol Med 47:744–754. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033 291716002853

- Danckaerts M, Sonuga-Barke EJS, Banaschewski T et al (2010) The quality of life of children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 19:83–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-009-0046-3
- Biederman J, Faraone SV (2006) The effects of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder on employment and household income. MedGenMed 8:12
- Faraone SV, Asherson P, Banaschewski T et al (2015) Attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. Nat Rev Dis Primers 1:15020. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.20
- Foley P (2007) Succi nervorum: a brief history of neurochemistry. J Neural Transm Suppl. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-211-73574-9_2
- Dunn GA, Nigg JT, Sullivan EL (2019) Neuroinflammation as a risk factor for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 182:22–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2019. 05.005
- Del Sole A, Gambini A, Falini A et al (2002) In vivo neurochemistry with emission tomography and magnetic resonance spectroscopy: clinical applications. Eur Radiol 12:2582–2599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00330-002-1419-x
- Wang X, Hu X, Xie P et al (2015) Comparison of magnetic resonance spectroscopy and positron emission tomography in detection of tumor recurrence in posttreatment of glioma: a diagnostic meta-analysis. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 11:97–105. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ajco.12202
- Stagg C, Rothman D (2014) Magnetic resonance spectroscopy tools for neuroscience research and emerging clinical applications, 1st edn. Elsevier, London
- Yan H-D, Ishihara K, Serikawa T, Sasa M (2003) Activation by N-acetyl-L-aspartate of acutely dissociated hippocampal neurons in rats via metabotropic glutamate receptors. Epilepsia 44:1153– 1159. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1528-1157.2003.49402.x
- Kantarci K, Petersen RC, Boeve BF et al (2004) 1H MR spectroscopy in common dementias. Neurology 63:1393–1398. https:// doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000141849.21256.ac
- Gillaspy GE (2011) The cellular language of myo-inositol signaling. New Phytol 192:823–839. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03939.x
- Davanzo P, Thomas MA, Yue K et al (2001) Decreased anterior cingulate myo-inositol/creatine spectroscopy resonance with lithium treatment in children with bipolar disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 24:359–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(00)00207-4
- Rango M, Cogiamanian F, Marceglia S et al (2008) Myoinositol content in the human brain is modified by transcranial direct current stimulation in a matter of minutes: a 1H-MRS study. Magn Reson Med 60:782–789. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.21709
- Xu S, Yang J, Li CQ et al (2005) Metabolic alterations in focally activated primary somatosensory cortex of alpha-chloraloseanesthetized rats measured by 1H MRS at 11.7 T. Neuroimage 28:401–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.06.016
- 24. Hesslinger B, Thiel T, Tebartz van Elst L et al (2001) Attention-deficit disorder in adults with or without hyperactivity: where is the difference? A study in humans using short echo (1) H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Neurosci Lett 304:117–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3940(01)01730-x
- Perlov E, Philipsen A, Matthies S et al (2009) Spectroscopic findings in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: review and meta-analysis. World J Biol Psychiatry 10:355–365. https://doi. org/10.1080/15622970802176032
- 26. Aoki Y, Inokuchi R, Suwa H, Aoki A (2013) Age-related change of neurochemical abnormality in attention-deficit hyperactivity

disorder: a meta-analysis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37:1692–1701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.04.019

- Bae S, Han DH, Kim SM et al (2016) Neurochemical correlates of internet game play in adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) study. Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging 254:10–17. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2016.05.006
- Bauer J, Werner A, Kohl W et al (2018) Hyperactivity and impulsivity in adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder is related to glutamatergic dysfunction in the anterior cingulate cortex. World J Biol Psychiatry 19:538–546. https://doi.org/10.1080/15622975. 2016.1262060
- Benamor L (2014) (1)H-Magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of stimulant medication effect on brain metabolites in French Canadian children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 10:47–54. https://doi.org/10.2147/ NDT.S52338
- Bollmann S, Ghisleni C, Poil SS et al (2015) Developmental changes in gamma-aminobutyric acid levels in attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. Transl Psychiatry 5:e589. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/tp.2015.79
- Ende G, Cackowski S, Van Eijk J et al (2016) Impulsivity and aggression in female BPD and ADHD patients: association with ACC glutamate and GABA concentrations. Neuropsychopharmacology 41:410–418. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.153
- 32. Endres D, Perlov E, Maier S et al (2015) Normal neurochemistry in the prefrontal and cerebellar brain of adults with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Front Behav Neurosci 9:242. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00242
- Hai T, Duffy H, Lemay J-F et al (2020) Neurochemical correlates of executive function in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 29:15–25
- 34. Maltezos S, Horder J, Coghlan S et al (2014) Glutamate/glutamine and neuronal integrity in adults with ADHD: a proton MRS study. Transl Psychiatry 4:e373. https://doi.org/10.1038/ tp.2014.11
- Naaijen J, Forde NJ, Lythgoe DJ et al (2017) Fronto-striatal glutamate in children with Tourette's disorder and attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. Neuroimage Clin 13:16–23. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nicl.2016.11.013
- Naaijen J, Lythgoe DJ, Zwiers MP et al (2018) Anterior cingulate cortex glutamate and its association with striatal functioning during cognitive control. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 28:381–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.01.002
- Puts NA, Ryan M, Oeltzschner G et al (2020) Reduced striatal GABA in unmedicated children with ADHD at 7T. Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging 301:111082. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscyc hresns.2020.111082
- Tafazoli S, O'Neill J, Bejjani A et al (2013) 1H MRSI of middle frontal gyrus in pediatric ADHD. J Psychiatr Res 47:505–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.11.011
- O'Neill J, O'Connor MJ, Yee V et al (2019) Differential neuroimaging indices in prefrontal white matter in prenatal alcoholassociated ADHD versus idiopathic ADHD. Birth Defects Res 111:797–811. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdr2.1460
- 40. Jamie N (2014) Spectral quantification and pitfalls in interpreting magnetic resonance spectroscopy data: what to look out for. In: Stagg C, Rothman D (eds) Magnetic resonance spectroscopy: tools for neuroscience research and emerging clinical applications, 1st edn. Elsevier, London, pp 49–67
- Vidor MV, Panzenhagen AC, Martins AR et al (2021) Attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder and brain metabolites from proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy: a systematic review and metaanalysis protocol. Trends Psychiatry Psychother 43:1–8. https:// doi.org/10.47626/2237-6089-2019-0111

- 42. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J et al (2009) The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ 339:b2700. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b2700
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J et al (2009) Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 339:b2535. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b2535
- 44. Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al (2020) Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.1 (updated September 2020). http://www.training.cochrane.org/ handbook. Accessed 28 Jul 2020
- 45. Pires GN, Bezerra AG, Tufik S, Andersen ML (2016) Effects of experimental sleep deprivation on anxiety-like behavior in animal research: systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 68:575–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2016.06.028
- Pires GN, Bezerra AG, Tufik S, Andersen ML (2016) Effects of acute sleep deprivation on state anxiety levels: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med 24:109–118. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.sleep.2016.07.019
- Ankit R (2020) WebPlotDigitizer. Automeris, Pacifica, California, USA
- Li BSY, Wang H, Gonen O (2003) Metabolite ratios to assumed stable creatine level may confound the quantification of proton brain MR spectroscopy. Magn Reson Imaging 21:923–928. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0730-725x(03)00181-4
- 49. The Ottawa Hospital (2019) The Newcastle–Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford. asp. Accessed 22 Nov 2019
- Sterne JAC, Sutton AJ, Ioannidis JPA et al (2011) Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 343:d4002. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d4002
- Higgins JPT, Thompson SG (2002) Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat Med 21:1539–1558. https://doi.org/10. 1002/sim.1186
- Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration (2014) Review Manager (RevMan)
- Haynes W (2013) Benjamini–Hochberg method. In: Dubitzky W, Wolkenhauer O, Cho K-H, Yokota H (eds) Encyclopedia of systems biology. Springer, New York, pp 78–78
- 54. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y (1995) Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J Roy Stat Soc: Ser B (Methodol) 57:289–300. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- 55. Alvarado A, Zapata G, Diaz L et al (2003) Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy and electroencephalographicactivity in attention deficit disorder. Vitae Academia Biomédica Digital
- 56. Arcos-Burgos M, Londoño AC, Pineda DA et al (2012) Analysis of brain metabolism by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (1H-MRS) in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder suggests a generalized differential ontogenic pattern from controls. Atten Defic Hyperact Disord 4:205–212. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12402-012-0088-0
- Carrey NJ, MacMaster FP, Gaudet L, Schmidt MH (2007) Striatal creatine and glutamate/glutamine in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 17:11–17. https://doi.org/10.1089/cap.2006.0008
- Colla M, Ende G, Alm B et al (2008) Cognitive MR spectroscopy of anterior cingulate cortex in ADHD: elevated choline signal correlates with slowed hit reaction times. J Psychiatr Res 42:587–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2007.06.006
- 59. Courvoisie H, Hooper SR, Fine C et al (2004) Neurometabolic functioning and neuropsychological correlates in children with

ADHD-H: preliminary findings. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 16:63–69. https://doi.org/10.1176/jnp.16.1.63

- Dramsdahl M, Ersland L, Plessen KJ et al (2011) Adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder—a brain magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Front Psychiatry 2:65. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyt.2011.00065
- Edden RAE, Crocetti D, Zhu H et al (2012) Reduced GABA concentration in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69:750–753. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiat ry.2011.2280
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ (2005) Comparative study of cerebral white matter in autism and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder by means of magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Acad Radiol 12:566–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2005.01.016
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ, Castillo J, Dávila J (2007) Evidence of brain dysfunction in attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder: a controlled study with proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Acad Radiol 14:1029–1035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2007. 05.017
- 64. Ferreira PEMS, Palmini A, Bau CHD et al (2009) Differentiating attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder inattentive and combined types: a (1)H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of frontostriato-thalamic regions. J Neural Transm 116:623–629. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00702-009-0191-3
- 65. Hammerness P, Biederman J, Petty C et al (2012) Brain biochemical effects of methylphenidate treatment using proton magnetic spectroscopy in youth with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a controlled pilot study. CNS Neurosci Ther 18:34–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-5949.2010.00226.x
- 66. Jin Z, Zang YF, Zeng YW et al (2001) Striatal neuronal loss or dysfunction and choline rise in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Neurosci Lett 315:45–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3940(01)02315-1
- MacMaster FP, Carrey N, Sparkes S, Kusumakar V (2003) Proton spectroscopy in medication-free pediatric attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 53:184–187. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0006-3223(02)01401-4
- Moore CM, Biederman J, Wozniak J et al (2006) Differences in brain chemistry in children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder with and without comorbid bipolar disorder: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Am J Psychiatry 163:316–318. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.163.2. 316
- Perlov E, Philipsen A, Hesslinger B et al (2007) Reduced cingulate glutamate/glutamine-to-creatine ratios in adult patients with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder—a magnet resonance spectroscopy study. J Psychiatr Res 41:934–941. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2006.12.007
- 70. Perlov E, Tebarzt van Elst L, Buechert M et al (2010) H¹-MR-spectroscopy of cerebellum in adult attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. J Psychiatr Res 44:938–943. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.02.016
- Soliva JC, Moreno A, Fauquet J et al (2010) Cerebellar neurometabolite abnormalities in pediatric attention/deficit hyperactivity disorder: a proton MR spectroscopic study. Neurosci Lett 470:60–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2009.12.056
- Sparkes SJ, MacMaster FP, Carrey NC (2004) Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy and cognitivefunction in pediatric attention-deficit/hyperactive disorder
- Sun L, Jin Z, Zang Y et al (2005) Differences between attentiondeficit disorder with and without hyperactivity: a 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Brain Dev 27:340–344. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.braindev.2004.09.004

- 74. de Vasconcelos MM (2005) Utilidade da espectroscopia por RM no diagnóstico do TDAH. Doctoral dissertation, Universidade Federal Fluminense
- Yang P, Wu M-T, Dung S-S, Ko C-W (2010) Short-TE proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy investigation in adolescents with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Psychiatry Res 181:199–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2009.10.001
- 76. Yeo RA, Hill DE, Campbell RA et al (2003) Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy investigation of the right frontal lobe in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 42:303–310. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00004583-200303000-00010
- Bechara A, Damasio H, Damasio AR, Lee GP (1999) Different contributions of the human amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex to decision-making. J Neurosci 19:5473–5481
- Bechara A, Tranel D, Damasio H (2000) Characterization of the decision-making deficit of patients with ventromedial prefrontal cortex lesions. Brain 123(Pt 11):2189–2202. https://doi.org/10. 1093/brain/123.11.2189
- 79. Hänsel A, von Känel R (2008) The ventro-medial prefrontal cortex: a major link between the autonomic nervous system, regulation of emotion, and stress reactivity? Biopsychosoc Med 2:21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0759-2-21
- Shamay-Tsoory SG, Tomer R, Berger BD, Aharon-Peretz J (2003) Characterization of empathy deficits following prefrontal brain damage: the role of the right ventromedial prefrontal cortex. J Cogn Neurosci 15:324–337. https://doi.org/10.1162/ 089892903321593063
- Beadle JN, Paradiso S, Tranel D (2018) Ventromedial prefrontal cortex is critical for helping others who are suffering. Front Neurol 9:288. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00288
- Boes AD, Bechara A, Tranel D et al (2009) Right ventromedial prefrontal cortex: a neuroanatomical correlate of impulse control in boys. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci 4:1–9. https://doi.org/10. 1093/scan/nsn035
- Faraone SV, Biederman J, Mick E (2006) The age-dependent decline of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analysis of follow-up studies. Psychol Med 36:159–165. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S003329170500471X
- Mitchell ND, Baker GB (2010) An update on the role of glutamate in the pathophysiology of depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand 122:192–210. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2009.01529.x
- Ramadan S, Lin A, Stanwell P (2013) Glutamate and glutamine: a review of in vivo MRS in the human brain. NMR Biomed 26:1630–1646. https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.3045
- Maria YL, Price AN, Puts NAJ et al (2021) Simultaneous quantification of GABA, Glx and GSH in the neonatal human brain using magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Neuroimage 233:117930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.117930
- Sonnewald U, Schousboe A (2016) Introduction to the Glutamate–Glutamine cycle. Adv Neurobiol 13:1–7. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-45096-4_1
- Erecińska M, Silver IA (1990) Metabolism and role of glutamate in mammalian brain. Prog Neurobiol 35:245–296. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0301-0082(90)90013-7
- Cooper AJL (2012) The role of glutamine synthetase and glutamate dehydrogenase in cerebral ammonia homeostasis. Neurochem Res 37:2439–2455. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11064-012-0803-4
- 90. de Graaf AA, Deutz NE, Bosman DK et al (1991) The use of in vivo proton NMR to study the effects of hyperammonemia in the rat cerebral cortex. NMR Biomed 4:31–37. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/nbm.1940040106
- 91. Bosman DK, Deutz NE, De Graaf AA et al (1990) Changes in brain metabolism during hyperammonemia and acute liver failure: results of a comparative 1H-NMR spectroscopy and

☑ Springer

biochemical investigation. Hepatology 12:281–290. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.1840120215

- Balkhi HM, Gul T, Banday MZ, Haq E (2014) Glutamate excitotoxicity: an insight into the mechanism. Int J Adv Res 2:361–373
- 93. Shaw P, Gornick M, Lerch J et al (2007) Polymorphisms of the dopamine D4 receptor, clinical outcome, and cortical structure in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64:921–931. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.64.8.921
- Verma A, Kumar I, Verma N et al (2016) Magnetic resonance spectroscopy—revisiting the biochemical and molecular milieu of brain tumors. BBA Clin 5:170–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbacli.2016.04.002
- Ross B, Bluml S (2001) Magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the human brain. Anat Rec 265:54–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar. 1058
- Xin L, Tkáč I (2017) A practical guide to in vivo proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy at high magnetic fields. Anal Biochem 529:30–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2016.10.019
- Jordan HS, Bert R, Chew P, et al (2003) Magnetic resonance spectroscopy for brain tumors. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US), Rockville
- 98. AIM Specialty Health (2017) Appropriate use criteria: magnetic resonance spectroscopy. AIM Specialty Health
- 99. Glunde K, Jiang L, Moestue SA, Gribbestad IS (2011) MRS and MRSI guidance in molecular medicine: targeting and monitoring of choline and glucose metabolism in cancer. NMR Biomed 24:673–690. https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.1751
- De Stefano N, Filippi M, Miller D et al (2007) Guidelines for using proton MR spectroscopy in multicenter clinical MS studies. Neurology 69:1942–1952. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl. 0000291557.62706.d3
- 101. Paxinos G, Watson C (2013) The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates, 7th edn. Academic Press, Amsterdam
- Ferry B, Gervasoni D, Vogt C (2014) Stereotaxic neurosurgery in laboratory rodent. Springer Paris, Paris
- 103. De Vloo P, Nuttin B (2019) Stereotaxy in rat models: current state of the art, proposals to improve targeting accuracy and reporting guideline. Behav Brain Res 364:457–463. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017.10.035
- 104. Carrey N, MacMaster FP, Fogel J et al (2003) Metabolite changes resulting from treatment in children with ADHD: a 1H-MRS study. Clin Neuropharmacol 26:218–221. https://doi.org/10. 1097/0002826-200307000-00013
- 105. Wiguna T, Guerrero APS, Wibisono S, Sastroasmoro S (2012) Effect of 12-week administration of 20-mg long-acting methylphenidate on Glu/Cr, NAA/Cr, Cho/Cr, and mI/Cr ratios in the prefrontal cortices of school-age children in Indonesia: a study using 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS). Clin Neuropharmacol 35:81–85. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNF.0b013e3182 452572
- 106. Spencer TJ, Brown A, Seidman LJ et al (2013) Effect of psychostimulants on brain structure and function in ADHD: a qualitative literature review of magnetic resonance imaging-based neuroimaging studies. J Clin Psychiatry 74:902–917. https://doi.org/10. 4088/JCP.12r08287
- 107. Licata SC, Renshaw PF (2010) Neurochemistry of drug action: insights from proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging and their relevance to addiction. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1187:148– 171. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05143.x
- Schmaal L, Veltman DJ, Nederveen A et al (2012) N-acetylcysteine normalizes glutamate levels in cocaine-dependent patients: a randomized crossover magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:2143–2152. https:// doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.66
- 109. Bolton J, Moore GJ, MacMillan S et al (2001) Case study: caudate glutamatergic changes with paroxetine persist after

medication discontinuation in pediatric OCD. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 40:903–906. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004 583-200108000-00011

110. Taylor M, Murphy SE, Selvaraj S et al (2008) Differential effects of citalopram and reboxetine on cortical Glx measured with

proton MR spectroscopy. J Psychopharmacol (Oxford) 22:473-476. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881107081510

Biobehavioral markers of suicide across psychiatric disorders

"Life on earth is more like a verb. It repairs, maintains, re-creates, and outdoes itself." – Lynn Margulis



Early-life trauma, impulsivity and suicide attempt: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Research article published in *Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy*.



JOURNAL ARTICLE PRE-PROOF

(as accepted)

Review Article

Early-life trauma, impulsivity and suicide attempt: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Alexandra Bender Nabinger, Alana Castro Panzenhagen, Thricy Dahmer, Roberto Farina Almeida, André Utsch Dias, Brenio Felipe Batista Pereira, Cristine Weihrauch Pedro, Graziela Smaniotto Rodrigues, Izabela Keuffer Adão, Pedro Henrique Oliveira Robini, Julia Sampaio Silva, Rafael Rocha, Raul Prates Dantas, José Cláudio Fonseca Moreira, Edison Capp, Flávio Milman Shansis

http://doi.org/10.47626/2237-6089-2023-0754

Original submitted Date: 24-Oct-2023

Accepted Date: 22-Jan-2024

This is a preliminary, unedited version of a manuscript that has been accepted for publication in Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy. As a service to our readers, we are providing this early version of the manuscript. The manuscript will still undergo copyediting, typesetting, and review of the resulting proof before it is published in final form on the SciELO database (www.scielo.br/trends). The final version may present slight differences in relation to the present version.

Early-life trauma, impulsivity and suicide attempt: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Alexandra Bender Nabinger^{1,2†}, Alana Castro Panzenhagen^{2,3†}, Thricy Dahmer^{2,4}, Roberto Farina Almeida⁵, André Utsch Dias⁶, Brenio Felipe Batista Pereira⁶, Cristine Weihrauch Pedro^{2,4}, Graziela Smaniotto Rodrigues^{1,2}, Izabela Keuffer Adão⁶, Pedro Henrique Oliveira Robini⁶, Julia Sampaio Silva⁶, Rafael Rocha^{2,4}, Raul Prates Dantas^{2,4}, José Cláudio Fonseca Moreira³, Edison Capp^{1‡}, Flávio Milman Shansis^{1,2,4‡}

¹Programa de Pós-graduação em Ciências da Saúde: Ginecologia e Obstetrícia,
Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.
²Laboratório de Pesquisa Translacional em Comportamento Suicida, Univates, Lajeado, RS,

³Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil.

⁴Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Médicas, Universidade do Vale do Taquari (Univates), Lajeado, RS, Brazil.

⁵ Programa de Pós-Graduação em Bioquímica e Bioprospecsão, Universidade Federal de Pelotas (UFPEL),RS, Brazil.

⁶Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto, Ouro Preto, MG, Brazil.

[†]These authors contributed equally as first authors. [‡]These authors jointly supervised the work.

Corresponding author:

Alana Castro Panzenhagen

alana.castro@ufrgs.br

Rua Ramiro Barcelos 2600 - Anexo, Zipcode: 90035-003, Porto Alegre/RS, Brazil

ABSTRACT

Brazil.

Introduction: Suicide is a worldwide health concern and up to date there is no good predictor of it except a previous suicide attempt. Therefore, there are increasing efforts in the understanding of which factors, genetic or environmental, are associated with suicide behaviour. Objective: To review evidence of the effect of childhood trauma and impulsivity on suicidal behavior through a systematic review and meta-analysis. Methods: Searches were conducted on the 12th of June 2021 in the PubMed, Scopus, and Web of Science databases. Two reviewers evaluated each record for eligibility and discussed upon disagreement, when no consensus was reached, a third reviewer was involved to make a decision. Results: A total of 11,530 records were identified through the searches. After duplicates were removed, 6,595 records remained to be screened. The full text was sought for 1,561 records. Our qualitative synthesis included 22 studies, from which 9 were included in the meta-analyses. We found a significant effect of sexual abuse, physical abuse, emotional abuse and physical neglect on suicide attempts in the prisoners, and Substance Use Diorder (SUD) subgroups. Moreover, there was a significant effect of Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) total score and emotional neglect dimension for all the subgroups.

Conclusion: The present study has provided an overview of the state-of-the-art research on childhood trauma and impulsivity and their association with suicidal behavior and quantified their effects on suicide attempts. Hopefully this evidence will be considered in future research and harnessed for clinical gain in detection and treatment of suicide behaviour.

Keywords: behaviour, childhood, trauma, psychiatry, suicide.

INTRODUCTION

Suicide is a World Health Organization (WHO) priority health concern, affecting mainly lowand middle-income countries (77%). Every 40 seconds one person dies by suicide, this amounts to more than 700,000 people each year ¹. Suicide is a leading cause of death worldwide, ahead of malaria, AIDS, breast cancer, war, and homicide ^{1,2}. In 2019, suicide accounted for 1.3% of all deaths. Moreover, for each completed suicide there were more than 20 other attempts. The behavior is present throughout life, being the fourth leading cause of death among 15-29 year-old ^{2,3}.

Advances in our understanding of suicidal behaviour have shown that it is indeed a complex phenotype, comprising environmental, social, clinical, genetic, and other biological factors ⁴. Proximal and distal components might affect suicide risk, such as genetic susceptibility ^{5,6} or traumatic and stressful events ^{7–9}. The multifactorial nature of suicidal behaviour makes it challenging to investigate its aetiology or predict individual hazards. The best predictor of suicide risk to date is a previous suicide attempt ¹⁰, which is far from an ideal indicator for suicide prevention.

Furthermore, suicidal behaviour is a shared comorbid phenotype in different psychiatric disorders, although more prevalent in mood and affect-related disorders, such as major depressive disorder (MDD), bipolar disorder (BD), schizoaffective disorder (SZA), and

schizophrenia (SCZ) ⁴. Due to its cross-disorder characteristic, one would also expect to find shared features between disorders that might influence suicide risk, and maybe even the same associated predictors. This has been demonstrated by the first genome-wide association studies (GWAS) investigating suicide attempts in different disorder samples, revealing that indeed there seems to be a common genetic, and hence biological, component to the pathophysiology of suicide ^{5,11}.

There is also evidence in the literature about shared behavioral traits, such as selfcriticism, hopelessness, guilt, anxiety, and personality, including impulsivity. The latter, in fact, does have common domain profiles across many disorders and is worthy of further investigation since it is usually formed early in life and changes little across the lifespan, which makes personality traits good candidate predictors. Among these, impulsivity seems to be a key factor for suicide attempt and death by suicide, contributing for trigger to the act itself ^{4,12}. Moreover traumatic events seem to play a role as distal factors that can be present early in life, and influence the coping capabilities in adulthood ^{5,13}. Therefore, we aim at i) providing a systematically-gathered overview of the literature on childhood trauma, personality traits and suicidal behaviour; ii) quantifying one of the main behaviours, suicide attempt, through a meta-analysis, which could guide future research and hint at potential predictors.

METHODS

This systematic review and meta-analysis was pre-registered on the International prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO) under registration CRD42022345915. We followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) for reporting this work ¹⁴.

Eligibility criteria

The inclusion criteria for this systematic review comprised any study: with adult individuals (Population) presenting suicidal behaviour, namely suicide risk, suicidal ideation, suicide attempt, or suicide completion (Exposure), with or without a control group for suicidal behaviour (Comparison), presenting an evaluation of personality and childhood trauma through documented questionnaire scale instruments (Outcome), and designed as a cross-sectional, cohort, case-control or clinical trial study.

The exclusion criteria were: non-human studies, such as animal models, *in vitro*, or *in silico*; studies with adolescents or children in the sample; studies with individuals diagnosed with any personality or neurological disorder, such as borderline personality disorder or Alzheimer's disease; studies presenting only subjective records of personality and childhood trauma assessment (not based on a scored questionnaire scale); studies with no original data, such as reviews or commentaries; and studies published in other languages than English.

Information sources and search strategies

Searches were conducted on the 12th of June 2021 in the PubMed, Scopus, and Web of Science databases. No limitations were imposed on the date of publication. The following strategies were used: PubMed - (("personality"[tiab] OR "personality traits"[tiab] OR "BIG-5"[tiab] OR "Big Five personality"[tiab] OR "PID-5"[tiab] OR "PID-V"[tiab] OR "Personality Inventory for DSM-5"[tiab] OR "Tridimensional Personality Questionnaire"[tiab] OR (("fivefactor"[tiab] OR "five factor"[tiab] OR "five-factors"[tiab] OR "five factors"[tiab]) AND "personality"[tiab])) AND ("suicidal"[tiab] OR "suicide attempts"[tiab]OR "suicide"[tiab] OR "Suicide"[mesh])) NOT (review[title] OR "personality disorder"[title] OR "borderline disorder"[title] OR "antisocial disorder"[title] OR "Schizoid Personality Disorder"[title] OR "Narcissistic Personality Disorder"[title]); Scopus - TITLE-ABS ("personality" OR "personality traits" OR "BIG-5" OR "Big Five personality" OR "PID-5" OR "PID-V" OR "Personality Inventory for DSM-5" OR "Tridimensional Personality Questionnaire" OR (("five-factor" OR "five factor" OR "five-factors" OR "five factors") AND "personality")) AND TITLE-ABS ("suicidal" OR "suicide attempts" OR "suicide" OR "suicides" OR "parasuicide" OR "parasuicides" OR "fatal Attempt" OR "fatal attempts") AND NOT TITLE (review OR "personality disorder" OR "borderline disorder" OR "antisocial disorder" OR "Schizoid Personality Disorder" OR "Narcissistic Personality Disorder"); Web of Science - TOPIC ("personality" OR "personality traits" OR "BIG-5" OR "Big Five personality" OR "PID-5" OR "PID-V" OR "Personality Inventory for DSM-5" OR "Tridimensional Personality Questionnaire" OR (("five-factor" OR "five factor" OR "fivefactors" OR "five factors") AND ("personality"))) AND ("suicidal" OR "suicide attempts" OR "suicide" OR "suicides" OR "parasuicide" OR "parasuicides" OR "fatal Attempt" OR "fatal attempts") NOT TITLE:(review OR "personality disorder" OR "borderline disorder" OR "antisocial disorder" OR "Schizoid Personality Disorder" OR "Narcissistic Personality Disorder").

Selection of studies and data collection

Records were uploaded to the rayyan.ai online tool, where duplicates were removed by human screening after detecting possible duplicate records using Rayyan's algorithm. Two independent reviewers evaluated all studies for eligibility, first through title and abstract screening and second by full-text evaluation. Disagreements were resolved by discussion between reviewers or by a third reviewer when consensus could not be reached. The hierarchy of exclusion criteria was the language of the record, design of the study, non-human samples, studies without suicidal behaviour, studies without an objective personality evaluation, studies including individuals with personality disorders or neurological disorders, and studies without an objective childhood trauma evaluation.

Data collection was conducted manually by one reviewer, and information was inserted into a spreadsheet. The process was divided into two main steps: 1) screening of studies and summary data collection; and 2) data collection for meta-analysis. The following data was extracted in the first step: first author last name, year of publication, the sample size of cases, the sex ratio of individuals, mean age or age range reported, if the study included a control group and its sample size, which was the population the sample was based on, which personality and childhood trauma evaluation scales the study used, the type of suicidal behaviour, and the scale used to evaluate suicidal behaviour, when available. In the second step, the specific sample size for groups of interest, mean, and standard deviation or standard error of the mean were collected.

Synthesis methods

The study results are summarised in a characteristics table with all main demographic information, and instruments used. A meta-analysis was conducted for the main groups of suicide attempters versus non-attempters, in prisoners, major depressive disorder (MDD) patients, and substance use disorder (SUD) patients. The meta-analyses were performed by calculating random-effects estimates using inverse variance weighting for pooling. The method used for estimating the standardised mean difference (SMD) was the Hedges' g method. Heterogeneity was also estimated through I² and T² methods. Subgroup analyses were conducted by the base population group. Meta-regressions were performed, including age and sex ratio as independent variables through the restricted maximum likelihood mixed model. Publication bias was assessed by funnel plotting and the Egger's regression test. All analyses were performed using R Statistical Software (v4.1.2; R Core Team 2021). The meta-analyses, meta-regressions, Egger's regression, forest plots, and
funnel plots were generated using the R packages *meta* (v5.2-0; Balduzzi 2019) and *metafor* (v3.4-0; Viechtbauer 2010).

RESULTS

Study selection

A total of 11,530 records were identified through the following searches: 3,024 in PubMed, 4,679 in Web of Science, and 3,827 in Scopus. After duplicates were removed, 6,595 records remained to be screened. With the title and abstract exclusions, 5,034 records were eliminated. The full text was sought for 1,561 records, which were assessed for eligibility. From those, 1,539 were excluded, the majority because they did not present any objective personality evaluation, did not include original data, or did not present any objective childhood trauma evaluation. Our qualitative synthesis included, therefore, 22 studies, from which 9 were included in the meta-analyses. The reasons for exclusion and the whole selection process are depicted in Figure 1. All the 22 included report references and the personality assessments conducted in them are cited in the Additional File 1.



Figure 1. Flowchart of the screening procedure.

Study characteristics

The description of studies included in the qualitative synthesis is presented in Table 1. The studies comprised mostly suicide attempt samples. The base population (healthy individuals, patients with psychiatric disorders, etc), sex, and age information is provided. Studies could include or not a control group, which is also described with the number of individuals in the group.

Paper	Childhood Trauma Scale	Sex	Age (years)	Population	Suicide behavior
Bach 2017	CTQ	78,2% women, 21,8% men	mean 29, 18-56	psychiatric outpatients	suicidal ideation, suicide attempt
Blasco-Fontecilla 2013	CTQ	72% women, 28% men	18-83	hospitalized suicide attempters	suicide attempt
Blasco-Fontecilla 2014	CTQ	71% women, 29% men	18-83	suicide attempters	suicide attempt
Carli 2010	CTQ	100% men	mean 39	incarcerated individuals	suicidal ideation, suicide attempt
Carli 2011	CTQ-34	100% men	18-77	prisioners	suicide attempt
Carli 2013	CTQ-34	100% men	mean 39	prisioners	suicide attempt
Carlier 2016	CTQ	60,4% female, 39,6% men	mean 38, 18-79	mood, anxiety and somatoform outpatients	suicidal ideation, suicide attempt
Dalsanto 2020	CTQ-28	66% female, 34% men	mean 54	MDD outpatients	suicide attempt
Gorodetsky 2016	CTQ-34	100%	mean 41	prisioners	suicide attempt
Kamali 2018	CTQ	65,5% women, 34,5% men	mean 40	bipolar patients with follow-up	suicide attemp, suicide ideation
Lopez-Castroman 2012	CTQ-28	72% women, 28%	18-75	survivors of a current suicide attempt	suicide attempt
Marzano 2011	CTQ	100%	mean 25	prisioners	suicide attempt
Pompili 2009	СТQ	77,4% women, 22,6%	mean 42	physically or sexually abused psychiatric inpatients	suicide ideation
Rivlin 2013	CTQ	100% men	>18	prisioners	suicide attempt
Roy 2003	СТQ	31,4% women, 68,6% men	mean 43	alcoholics	suicide attempt
Roy 2003	CTQ-34	22,2% women, 77,8% men	mean 43	drug addicts	suicide attempt
Roy 2003b	СТQ	21,7% women, 21,7% men	mean 43	substance dependent suicide attempters	suicide attempt
Roy 2014	CTQ-34	100% men	mean 40	prisioners	suicide attempt

Table 1. Description of the studies included in the qualitative synthesis.

Page 2 of 32

Sarchiapone 2009	CTQ	100% men	mean 39, 18-81	prisioners	suicidal ideation, suicide attempt
Sarchiapone 2009	CTQ-34	100% men	mean 40	prisioners	suicide attempt
Stewart 2015	CTQ	76,6% women, 23,4% men	13-18	MDD and/or dysthymia patients	suicide attempt
Velasco 2019	CTQ	58,2% women, 41,8%	mean 50	major depressive disorder patients	suicide attempt, suicide ideation

Suicide attempts and the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ)

A total of 22 studies used the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) ¹⁵ to assess childhood trauma, from which nine (9) presented the data necessary for a meta-analysis. The studies included in the quantitative synthesis amounted to 1,063 suicide attempters and 1,854 controls. Five (5) studies had the prisoners as base population for the sample, two (2) has MDD patients, and another two (2) had SUD patients.

The total score of CTQ was higher in suicide attempts for all the subgroups (prisoners, MDD patients, and SUD patients). The overall effect was significant, in which childhood trauma seems higher in suicide attempters with a moderate standardised mean difference of 0.64 (0.51; 0.77). The test for the overall effect presented a z = 9.94 and P-value < 0.01. The heterogeneity was low overall ($I^2 = 33\%$; $\tau^2 = 0.0118$, p = 0.16). The subgroup and overall meta-analysis results are depicted in Figure 2. The funnel plot and Egger's regression test indicate there is no evidence of publication bias (t = -1.86, P-value = 0.11; Figure 9A).



Figure 2. Forest plot of the meta-analysis of CTQ's total score in suicide attempt. SD = standard deviation, SMD = standardised mean difference, SA = suicide attempt.

For the sexual abuse dimension of CTQ, only the prisoners (SMD = 0.21 (0.06; 0.37); z = 2.75, p < 0.01) and the SUD (SMD = 0.68 (0.51; 0.85); z = 7.80, p < 0.01) subgroups were associated. However, the overall effect was also significant, with a mild mean difference (0.38 (0.19; 0.57)), showing moderate heterogeneity overall ($I^2 = 66\%$; $\tau^2 = 0.0371$, p < 0.01), but very low for the subgroups ($I^2 = 0\%$). The subgroup and overall meta-analysis results are depicted in Figure 3. The funnel plot and Egger's regression test indicate there is no evidence of publication bias (t = -0.42, P-value = 0.69; Figure 9C).



Figure 3. Forest plot of the meta-analysis of CTQ - Sexual Abuse dimension score in suicide attempt. SD = standard deviation, SMD = standardised mean difference, SA = suicide attempt.

For the physical abuse dimension of CTQ, similar to sexual abuse, only the prisoners (SMD = 0.48 (0.32; 0.63); z = 6.08, p < 0.01) and the SUD (SMD = 0.62 (0.45; 0.79); z = 7.16, p < 0.01) subgroups were associated. Additionally, the overall effect was significant, with a mild mean difference (0.48 (0.35; 0.60)), showing low heterogeneity overall ($I^2 = 26\%$; $T^2 = 0.0057$, p = 0.23), and very low for the subgroups ($I^2 = 0\%$). The subgroup and overall meta-analysis results are depicted in Figure 4. However, the funnel plot and Egger's regression test indicate there is some evidence of publication bias (t = -3.09, P-value = 0.03; Figure 9E).



Figure 4. Forest plot of the meta-analysis of CTQ - Physical Abuse dimension score in suicide attempt. SD = standard deviation, SMD = standardised mean difference, SA = suicide attempt.

For the emotional abuse dimension of CTQ, only the prisoners (SMD = 0.52 (0.37; 0.68); z = 6.67, p < 0.01) and the SUD (SMD = 0.76 (0.58; 0.93); z = 8.65, p < 0.01) subgroups were associated once again. The overall effect was also significant, with a moderate mean difference (0.56 (0.42; 0.70)), showing low heterogeneity overall ($I^2 = 35\%$; $\tau^2 = 0.0128$, p = 0.16), and very low for the subgroups ($I^2 = 0\%$). The subgroup and overall meta-analysis results are depicted in Figure 5. The funnel plot and Egger's regression test indicate there is no evidence of publication bias (t = -1.96, P-value = 0.11; Figure 9B).



Figure 5. Forest plot of the meta-analysis of CTQ - Emotional Abuse dimension score in suicide attempt. SD = standard deviation, SMD = standardised mean difference, SA = suicide attempt.

For the physical neglect dimension of CTQ, only the prisoners (SMD = 0.45 (0.30; 0.60); z = 5.75, p < 0.01) and the SUD (SMD = 0.49 (0.17; 0.81); z = 3.04, p < 0.01) subgroups were associated. Additionally, the overall effect was significant, with a moderate mean difference (0.42 (0.32; 0.53)), showing very low heterogeneity overall ($I^2 = 0\%$; $T^2 = 0.0004$, p = 0.44). Moreover, a very low heterogeneity was identified for the prisoners and MDD subgroups ($I^2 = 0\%$), but not for the SUD subgroup ($I^2 = 69\%$). The subgroup and overall meta-analysis results are depicted in Figure 6. The funnel plot and Egger's regression test indicate there is no evidence of publication bias (t = -0.81, P-value = 0.46; Figure 9D).



Figure 9. Funnel plots indicating the publication bias of studies included in the meta-analysis of impulsivity (A), harm avoidance (B), novelty seeking (C), reward dependence (D), neuroticism (E), extroversion (F), and psychoticism (G).



Figure 6. Forest plot of the meta-analysis of CTQ - Physical Neglect dimension score in suicide attempt. SD = standard deviation, SMD = standardised mean difference, SA = suicide attempt.

For the emotional neglect dimension of CTQ, all subgroups were associated with the outcome: prisoners (SMD = 0.40 (0.25; 0.56); z = 5.15, p < 0.01), MDD patients (SMD = 0.32 (0.02; 0.61); z = 2.12, p = 0.03) and SUD patients (SMD = 0.49 (0.36; 0.80); z = 7.76, p < 0.01). Additionally, the overall effect was significant, with a moderate mean difference (0.49 (0.36; 0.63)), showing low heterogeneity overall ($I^2 = 26\%$; $r^2 = 0.0098$, p = 0.23). Moreover, a very low heterogeneity was identified in all subgroups ($I^2 = 0\%$). The subgroup and overall meta-analysis results are depicted in Figure 7. The funnel plot and Egger's regression test indicate there is no evidence of publication bias (t = -0.58, P-value = 0.58; Figure 9F).



Figure 7. Forest plot of the meta-analysis of CTQ - Emotional Neglect dimension score in suicide attempt. SD = standard deviation, SMD = standardised mean difference, SA = suicide attempt.

Barratt Impulsiveness Scale

Regarding the personality assessments, only two studies ^{16,17} from the ones included in the quantitative synthesis also presented personality data, namely impulsivity evaluated using the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale ¹⁸. Results show that the suicide attempt group present higher impulsivity scores (Figure 8), while also presenting more emotional neglect in CTQ compared to controls (Figure 7). These reports are coincidently the ones in the MDD patient subgroup ^{16,17}.



Figure 8. Forest plot of the meta-analysis of impulsivity in suicide attempt. SD = standard deviation, SMD = standardised mean difference, SA = suicide attempt.

Meta-regression analysis

The meta-regression analysis showed that sex or age accounted for 100% of the variability for emotional abuse, physical neglect, and emotional neglect; 68.47% for sexual abuse, and 47.06 for physical abuse. Unfortunately sex ratio and age did account for the heterogeneity found in the total score meta-analysis. However, there seems to be little residual heterogeneity left from the analysis. We would like to stress that both sex ratio and age are particularly related to sexual abuse, emotional abuse, and emotional neglect. The results for the main estimators are summarized in Table 2 and for the mixed-effects model in Table 3.

		SE	tau	l² (%)	H²		Residual Heterogeneity		Moderators			
Analysis	tau ²					R² (%)	QE d		df P-value	QM	df	df P-value
Total score	0.017	0.025	0.13	43.25	1.76	0.00	8.524	5	0.130	2.010	2	0.367
Sexual abuse	0.012	0.025	0.108	33.69	1.51	68.47	5.413	4	0.248	6.628	2	0.037
Physical Abuse	0.003	0.017	0.055	11.56	1.13	47.06	4.475	4	0.346	3.261	2	0.196
Emotional Abuse	0.00	0.015	0.00	0.00	1.00	100.00	3.337	4	0.503	5.869	2	0.053
Physical Neglect	0.00	0.014	0.00	0.00	1.00	100.00	2.436	4	0.656	3.382	2	0.184
Emotional Neglect	0.00	0.015	0.00	0.00	1.00	100.00	1.387	4	0.847	6.754	2	0.034

Table 2. Residual heterogeneity and moderators after meta-regression using sex ratio and age as covariates

 $tau^2 = estimated amount of residual heterogeneity; tau = square root of estimated tau^2 value; l^2 = residual heterogeneity / unaccounted variability; H² = unaccounted variability / sampling variability; R² = amount of heterogeneity accounted for; QE = test for residual heterogeneity QM = test of moderators (coefficients 2:3).$

	Estimate	SE	Z-value	P-value	CI
CTQ total score					
Intercept	1.9117	0.8968	2.1317	0.0330	0.1541; 3.6693
Sex ratio	-0.0020	0.0025	-0.8218	0.4112	-0.0069; 0.0028
Age	-0.0261	0.0186	-1.4070	0.1594	-0.0625; 0.0103
Sexual Abuse					
Intercept	9.2809	3.4831	2.6645	0.0077	2.4541; 16.1077
Sex ratio	-0.0307	0.0120	-2.5691	0.0102	-0.0542; -0.0073
Age	-0.1492	0.0592	-2.5225	0.0117	-0.2651; -0.0333
Physical Abuse					
Intercept	4.1692	2.9642	1.4066	0.1596	-1.6404; 9.9789
Sex ratio	-0.0096	0.0101	-0.9552	0.3395	-0.0293; 0.0101
Age	-0.0678	0.0506	-1.3391	0.1805	-0.1670; 0.0314
Emotional Abuse					4
Intercept	6.9356	2.7846	2.4907	0.0127	1.4779; 12.3933
Sex ratio	-0.0194	0.0094	-2.0696	0.0385	-0.0378; -0.0010
Age	-0.1114	0.0477	-2.3376	0.0194	-0.2049; -0.0180
Physical Neglect					
Intercept	4.5685	2.7652	1.6521	0.0985	-0.8512; 9.9883
Sex ratio	-0.0116	0.0093	-1.2505	0.2111	-0.0299; 0.0066
Age	-0.0747	0.0474	-1.5767	0.1149	-0.1675; 0.0182
Emotional Neglect					
Intercept	7.7142	2.7847	2.7702	0.0056	2.2563; 12.1721
Sex ratio	-0.0241	0.0094	-2.5760	0.0100	-0.0425; -0.0058
Age	-0.1226	0.0477	-2.5702	0.0102	-0.2160; -0.0291

Table 3. Meta-regression estimates using sex ratio and age as covariates

DISCUSSION

We found a significant effect of sexual abuse, physical abuse, emotional abuse and physical neglect on suicide attempts in the prisoners, and SUD subgroups. Moreover, there was a significant effect of CTQ total score and emotional neglect dimension for all the subgroups. These results show that suicide attempt in MDD may be closely related to

emotional neglect, since this was the only subgroup with a positive meta-analysis result for it.

We show that suicide attempt is associated with early-life trauma assessed by CTQ, and in all its dimentions, across most of the populations included. Childhood trauma is a distal factor that is associated with several, if not all, disorders across the psychiatry spectrum ^{19,20}. Negative influences during the neurodevelopment, a fragile time window, have exacerbated effects on emotional memories. Baseline susceptibility to mental disorders added to stressors in everyday-life and traumatic events might be triggering enough to predict suicide attempt ²¹. Moreover, there are also special components that might differentiate ideation and attempt ²². We hypothesize that this differentiation may be related to the interaction of traumatic events with personality traits, more specifically, impulsivity.

The action of suicide attempt seems to require a level of action-taking behaviour. Bipolar disorder (BD) and MDD, for exemple, appear in different frequencies when we compare suicidal ideation and suicide attempt. Some argue that this is due to the more externalizing, and impulsive component of BD, more specifically, mania ^{18,23}. Another estimate that seems to corroborate this idea is that more women present ideation, but mostly men attempt and complete suicide ²⁴. The distribution of psychiatric disorders has a different presentation between men and women, in which men are more likely to be diagnosed with externalizing disorders, and women with internalizing disorders. For instance, a study that examined the differential effects of childhood maltreatment and impulsivity on interpersonal violence, suicide attempts and self-injury, with a sample of 34,653 US adults, showed that childhood impulsivity and maltreatment independently increased the risk of attempts of suicide, self-mutilation and interpersonal violence. Childhood maltreatment was a stronger predictor of self-directed violence in both sexes, while impulsivity had a greater effect on self-injury than suicide attempt or interpersonal violence only in men ²⁵. These sex differences should be explored further, since suicide attempt and completion in women might require a specific set of commorbidities to take place, due to the relative low impulsive component.

• Furthermore, regarding the lack of association between most CTQ dimensions and the MDD subgroup, we hypothesize that trauma as a whole might be already too associated with MDD, so that the signal is lost in the noise. Impulsivity was unfortunately only evaluated in the MDD subgroup, so no conjectures about how it could be in other subgroups can be drawn, but it is also elevated in suicide attempters. Many have hypothesized that it would be one of the triggers necessary to the attempt/completion act, especially in women ²⁶.

This work should be viewed in light of some limitations: 1) although publication bias does not seem to be of concern, there was low to moderate heterogeneity in some analyses. Fortunately, this could be mostly explained by the meta-regression analyses including sex ratio and age mean; 2) impulsivity or trauma will hardly be a determinant factors, but when combined with polygenic risk scores ²⁷ and with other predicting variables it might add important value; 3) the evidence summarized here is not useful to clinical practice yet, though any additional care in this sense should be certainly exploited in identifying individuals at risk; 4) the review process might have overlooked a few studies on the subject, although unlikely due to the standardized procedures.

The present study has provided an overview of the state-of-the-art research on childhood trauma and impulsivity and their association with suicidal behaviour and quantified their effects on suicide attempts. We hope these results can guide future research since the evidence regarding the influence of trauma on suicidal behaviour might be important for phenotype aetiology and as a candidate predictor.

Conflicts of interest? No

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Rio Grande do Sul -FAPERGS (CHAMADA FAPERGS/MS/CNPq 08/2020 - PPSUS, number 21/2551-0000090-2), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD), Universidade do Vale do Taquari (Univates), Fundação Vale do Taquari de Educação e Desenvolvimento Social (FUVATES), and Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS).

REFERENCES

- 1. Alibudbud R. Suicide among the youth and school-based suicide prevention: Exemplar and reflections from the Philippines. Asian J Psychiatr. 2023 May;83:103538.
- Suicide worldwide in 2019 [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2021 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240026643
- 3. Jaen-Varas D, Mari JJ, Asevedo E, Borschmann R, Diniz E, Ziebold C, et al. The association between adolescent suicide rates and socioeconomic indicators in Brazil: a 10-year retrospective ecological study. Braz J Psychiatry. 2019 Feb 18;41(5):389–95.
- 4. Turecki G, Brent DA, Gunnell D, O'Connor RC, Oquendo MA, Pirkis J, et al. Suicide and

suicide risk. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2019 Oct 24;5(1):1-22.

- Mullins N, Bigdeli TB, Børglum AD, Coleman JRI, Demontis D, Mehta D, et al. GWAS of Suicide Attempt in Psychiatric Disorders and Association With Major Depression Polygenic Risk Scores. Am J Psychiatry. 2019 Aug 1;176(8):651–60.
- Mullins N, Kang J, Campos AI, Coleman JRI, Edwards AC, Galfalvy H, et al. Dissecting the Shared Genetic Architecture of Suicide Attempt, Psychiatric Disorders, and Known Risk Factors. Biol Psychiatry. 2022 Feb 1;91(3):313–27.
- 7. Wasserman D, Carli V, Iosue M, Javed A, Herrman H. Suicide prevention in childhood and adolescence: a narrative review of current knowledge on risk and protective factors and effectiveness of interventions. Asia Pac Psychiatry. 2021 Sep;13(3):e12452.
- Wu R, Zhu H, Wu MY, Wang GH, Jiang CL. Childhood Trauma and Suicide: The Mediating Effect of Stress and Sleep. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2022 Jul 12;19(14). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19148493
- 9. O'Connor DB, Gartland N, O'Connor RC. Stress, cortisol and suicide risk. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2020 Jan 27;152:101–30.
- 10. Suicide worldwide in 2019 [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2021 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240026643
- 11. Suicide worldwide in 2019 [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2021 [cited 2023 Feb 1]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240026643
- 12. Melhem NM, Porta G, Oquendo MA, Zelazny J, Keilp JG, Iyengar S, et al. Severity and Variability of Depression Symptoms Predicting Suicide Attempt in High-Risk Individuals. JAMA Psychiatry. 2019 Jun 1;76(6):603–13.
- 13. Posamentier J, Seibel K, DyTang N. Preventing Youth Suicide: A Review of School-Based Practices and How Social-Emotional Learning Fits Into Comprehensive Efforts. Trauma Violence Abuse. 2022 Feb 10;15248380211039475.
- 14. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. Syst Rev. 2021 Mar 29;10(1):89.
- Bernstein DP, Fink L, Handelsman L, Foote J. Childhood Trauma Questionnaire [Internet]. PsycTESTS Dataset. American Psychological Association (APA); 2011. Available from: http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/t02080-000
- 16. Velasco Á, Rodríguez-Revuelta J, de la Fuente-Tomás L, Fernández-Peláez AD, Dal Santo F, Jiménez-Treviño L, et al. Is the alteration in emotional recognition a specific risk factor of suicide attempt? Rev Psiquiatr Salud Ment. 2019 Jul-Sep;12(3):196–8.
- Dal Santo F, Carballo JJ, Velasco A, Jiménez-Treviño L, Rodríguez-Revuelta J, Martínez-Cao C, et al. The Mediating Role of Impulsivity in the Relationship Between Suicidal Behavior and Early Traumatic Experiences in Depressed Subjects. Front Psychiatry. 2020 Nov 10;11:538172.
- 18. Patton JH, Stanford MS, Barratt ES. Factor structure of the Barratt impulsiveness scale. J Clin Psychol. 1995 Nov;51(6):768–74.
- Feola B, Armstrong K, Woodward ND, Heckers S, Blackford JU. Childhood temperament is associated with distress, anxiety and reduced quality of life in schizophrenia spectrum disorders [Internet]. Vol. 275, Psychiatry Research. 2019. p.

196-203. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.03.016

- Peleikis DE, Fredriksen M, Faraone SV. Childhood trauma in adults with ADHD is associated with comorbid anxiety disorders and functional impairment [Internet]. Vol. 76, Nordic Journal of Psychiatry. 2022. p. 272–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08039488.2021.1962973
- Paul E. Proximally-occurring life events and the first transition from suicidal ideation to suicide attempt in adolescents [Internet]. Vol. 241, Journal of Affective Disorders. 2018. p. 499–504. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.08.059
- Chu C, Nota JA, Silverman AL, Beard C, Björgvinsson T. Pathways among sleep onset latency, relationship functioning, and negative affect differentiate patients with suicide attempt history from patients with suicidal ideation [Internet]. Vol. 273, Psychiatry Research. 2019. p. 788–97. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.11.014
- Kerr DCR, Reinke WM, Mark Eddy J. Trajectories of Depressive Symptoms and Externalizing Behaviors across Adolescence: Associations with Histories of Suicide Attempt and Ideation in Early Adulthood [Internet]. Vol. 43, Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior. 2013. p. 50–66. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278x.2012.00127.x
- Millner AJ, Lee MD, Hoyt K, Buckholtz JW, Auerbach RP, Nock MK. Are suicide attempters more impulsive than suicide ideators? [Internet]. Vol. 63, General Hospital Psychiatry. 2020. p. 103–10. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2018.08.002
- 25. Childhood maltreatment and impulsivity as predictors of interpersonal violence, selfinjury and suicide attempts: A national study. Psychiatry Res. 2018 Nov 1;269:386–93.
- Lutz NM, Neufeld SAS, Hook RW, Jones PB, Bullmore ET, Goodyer IM, et al. Why Is Non-suicidal Self-injury More Common in Women? Mediation and Moderation Analyses of Psychological Distress, Emotion Dysregulation, and Impulsivity. Arch Suicide Res. 2022 Jun 13;1–17.
- 27. Wray NR, Lee SH, Mehta D, Vinkhuyzen AAE, Dudbridge F, Middeldorp CM. Research review: Polygenic methods and their application to psychiatric traits. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2014 Oct;55(10):1068–87.

Part III

"The Universe is under no obligation to make sense to you" – Neil deGrasse Tyson

Discussion

1.1. The importance of biological psychiatry research

In Chapter 1 we showed how psychiatric drug sales have increased in Brazil in the last few years and estimated how it impacts the country economically. Needless to point out it will most likely also result in other associated country-wide issues, such as lack of productivity, and worsening of the already unequal socioeconomic scenario as higher income provides more access to quality healthcare.

In the first study in this thesis, we used drug sales as a proxy for psychiatric diagnosis. Of course, it is a sub-optimal measure since other factors could influence the sales of psychiatric disorders, such as differences in purchasing power. However, we have reasons to believe it is an underestimation of the actual scenario since we assessed only private records from pharmacy consumers. It is most likely that a bigger impact would be observed in the public sector.

We are also aware of several differences between the public and private sectors in Brazil. We found that escitalopram is one of the most sold antidepressants in the private sector. Conversely, it is rarely a first-option antidepressant to be offered free of cost in public facilities, where fluoxetine is more common due to its lower cost (de Sousa et al., 2018; Marinho et al., 2019). Cipriani and colleagues established Escitalopram as the most effective antidepressant (Cipriani et al., 2018), and many countries have switched their ranking for the availability of antidepressants based on it (G Patel et al., 2018; Jyotiranjan et al., 2021). Regardless of the response seen from authorities worldwide, there is a pressing need for further understanding of psychiatric disorders at the biological level in order to better predict, prevent, and treat these conditions.

1.2. The translatability of cross-disorder endophenotypes

In our study we introduce an effective methodology for identifying and testing consistent differentially expressed genes in psychiatric and neurological disorders. It focused on the overlap of markers between disorders and their connection to GWAS results. The approach involved meta-analyzing transcripts directly from individuals with disorders, offering real-world predictive insights. While this method may not identify the entire set of causal genes, it provides a freeze-frame of current characteristics, allowing for the identification of disorder consequences on the transcriptome. Future studies should explore different disorder development stages for improved biomarker identification, and the approach allows comparison with predicted changes in other studies to distinguish causal from consequential factors.

Contextualizing results involved comparing differentially expressed genes with those associated with GWAS outcomes, revealing overlaps in genes related to schizophrenia (SCZ), bipolar disorder (BD), and Alzheimer's (ALZ). A recent study on shared mechanisms across psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases (Wingo et al., 2022) identified genes that intersect with our SCZ-ALZ overlap, suggesting shared molecular pathophysiology.

Our investigation explored shared genes among psychiatric disorders, revealing functional associations. SCZ-associated genes link with signaling pathways, proteolysis, endocytosis, and the cell cycle, while ALZ-associated genes associate with various pathways including the ribosome, oxidative phosphorylation, and cancer. Notably, the overlap between SCZ and ALZ, often overlooked in GWAS, becomes evident when exploring consequences and markers, such as neuroimaging

293

(Demirhan, 2018; Hassanzadeh et al., 2022; Noor et al., 2020), suggesting shared biology influenced by environmental factors or endophenotypes.

Examining gene expression locations in the overlap between ALZ and SCZ, besides constitutive expressions in peripheral tissues, reveals high expression in brain regions like the amygdala, putamen, hippocampus, substantia nigra, and caudate, indicating key changes in central nervous system (CNS) functions.

Some limitations of our study include reliance on original studies' quality and sample sizes, as well as the challenge of deriving CNS interpretations from peripheral markers.

Our findings deepen understanding of psychiatric disorders' molecular landscape, suggesting shared pathways across seemingly distinct conditions. Further investigations, including functional assays and validation studies, are crucial for extending these observations. The integration of diverse datasets and advanced analytical approaches continues to unveil the complex nature of psychiatric disorders, providing new avenues for targeted therapeutic interventions and precision medicine strategies.

1.3. The validity of animal models in psychiatry

In our first study, investigating the predictive validity of the spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) model of ADHD, we found that it is unable to represent the disorder as a whole, especially regarding the hyperactivity response to MPH. MPH is classically effective for hyperactivity in humans (Leffa et al., 2019) and it raises

questions as to the SHR model's usability to investigate other drugs for this phenotype. However, the SHR seem to mimic impulsivity and inattention well in terms of predictive validity. On the other hand, it is important to mention that the main issue regarding hyperactivity might be the way in which it is measured in animals, which is far from how we characterize it in humans. Nonetheless, one of the key points of discussion from this study (and hence the follow-up letters bringing up the issue) is that we should refrain from looking at animal models in psychiatry as true proxies for the disorder as a whole. It seems to be more advantageous and accurate to work with animal models for specific behaviours and symptoms and not complex presentations. They are important tools for drug discovery and molecular investigation since there are many restraints to conducting such experiments in patients. However, we should be careful as researchers when interpreting the data not to raise false analogies between species.

With this in mind, we proceeded to investigate other models, with the idea to bring better estimates and help guide researchers on their choice of models to be used for different behaviours and treatments. Major depressive disorder (MDD) is an interesting condition for this investigation since there are many animal models that include mainly environmental interventions (Czéh et al., 2018; Rana et al., 2022). This is possible because of MDD's relatively low heritability. We have included the majority of animal models for MDD that are induced by stress or olfactory bulbectomy and we are now mapping the behaviours and treatments with the most common antidepressants to each model. Therefore, one will be able to search for specific behaviours or drugs and see an estimate of which would be the best animal model to choose for their research question. Another disorder for which there are many proposed animal models is autism spectrum disorder (ASD) (Das et al., 2019). We proceeded with the same methodology as for MDD models, however, separating the models into two groups: exposure-induced animal models and genetic models. Here we established a more descriptive protocol that can be followed in future endeavors (Panzenhagen et al., 2022). This research is still ongoing and hopefully will be finalized soon after this thesis.

1.4. Ways to tackle variability in psychiatry through neuroimaging analyses

As I hope it has become clear with the questions we have raised in this thesis, understanding how different psychiatric disorders are associated and overlap is key to understanding their biological underpinnings. This can be done at different levels as already described in the transcriptomic analyses that were compared to GWAS, TWAS, and PWAS studies. Another dimension that is certainly closer to the clinic is neuroimaging. Neuroimaging data is already extensively applied for diagnosing neurological disorders, such as Alzheimer's (Lei et al., 2019; Mandal & Perry, 2022). In psychiatry, however, results still fall short of being translatable to clinical settings or useful for diagnosis and treatment. Nonetheless, it is a promising piece to be included when understanding the puzzle of cross-disorder psychiatry. Since the neuroimaging field of research in psychiatry is still in its infancy, with relatively low sample sizes overall (Schmaal et al., 2020), we have focused on different approaches to try and tackle the variability in psychiatry that could also be applied to neuroimaging as it is. In an endeavour to understand the state of the art of spectroscopy research on ADHD, we have conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of the published findings. We showed that glutamate-glutamine imbalance in the medial prefrontal cortex seems to be associated with ADHD. Moreover, we discuss how the field would benefit from more comparable approaches, unifying voxels and measurements so that the different studies become more comparable and can be meta-analyzed to increase the chances of finding relevant associations.

In the second study investigating methods for neuroimaging, we have applied a biclustering algorithm adapted from transcriptomics in hopes of taking advantage of the high dimensional characteristic of these datasets. The adaptation of the method has been successful, resulting in four robust biclusters that seem consistent across the cortical thickness dataset. We also incorporated data from what we called "positive controls", which consisted of three independent samples of other neuropsychiatric disorders, namely schizophrenia, Huntington's disease, and Alzheimer's disease. There are two aspects here that I would like to highlight: 1) the positive controls served as a validation of the biclustering algorithm since they should be different enough from the MDD and healthy control samples to be at least roughly separated into some of the biclusters. This seemed to happen, strengthening the validity of the algorithm for structural neuroimaging; 2) from the results we gathered, it seems that the positive controls could prove useful in separating what is crossdisorder-related and what is specific from each condition. This happened once brain areas more strongly associated with Alzheimer's and SCZ drove the separation of some biclusters. This is very interesting in our opinion, and using positive controls in machine learning and clustering approaches can be useful when trying to dissect the

297

common and specific features belonging to each condition. It will be obviously dependent on how refined the characterization of samples is and on sample size, but it could prove to be a valuable practice going forward.

1.5. Biobehavioural markers of suicide across psychiatric disorders

Suicide behaviour encompasses a set of conditions widespread across psychiatric disorders and highly comorbid to several of them (Lönnqvist, 2021; Wasserman et al., 2021). I see the task of disentangling the differences between suicidal ideation, suicide attempt and death by suicide as partly cross-disorder in nature since there is a need to identify true predictors of it while accounting for confounding features that are most likely also associated with a set of symptomatologies in psychiatry. Thus, we have investigated environmental (personality and early-life trauma) and biological (inflammatory and candidate marker) factors contributing to suicide behaviour.

Since 2006 there has been no systematic review on personality traits and how they might be associated with suicide behaviour (Brezo et al., 2006). Additionally, since then, the body of literature has expressively increased, making it now possible to expand the methodological rigour and better report the results, including a meta-analysis. Impulsivity is widely regarded to be important for suicide attempts (Reich et al., 2019; Smaoui et al., 2021) and is most likely the key to the fact that most attempts are in samples of individuals with bipolar disorder and not depression (Herrera, 2018), as one would think from the high correlation between suicidal ideation and MDD (Chiang et al., 2022). However, ours is the first study to quantify this through a meta-analysis regardless of diagnosis, finally estimating the overall

effects. Moreover, neuroticism, psychoticism, and extroversion are highly associated with suicide attempts overall, but might not be informative within MDD because of their likely correlation with the disorder itself. We show that apart from impulsivity, personality does not seem to be a good predictor specifically within MDD. Our metaanalysis suggested that there are specific features of personality that are differentially associated with suicide attempts depending on the comorbid psychiatric condition. This should be taken into account in future studies to further dissect disorder-specific and disorder-independent associations in suicide behaviour as a whole.

When we evaluated the effects of early-life trauma on suicide attempts we found a significant effect of sexual abuse, physical abuse, emotional abuse and physical neglect on suicide attempts in the prisoners, and substance use disorder subgroups. Furthermore, regarding the lack of association between most early-life trauma dimensions within the MDD subgroup, we hypothesized that trauma as a whole might be already strongly associated with MDD, making the signal lost in the noise. This is the second time that we found behavioural features associated with suicide attempts are not informative within MDD individuals. We should be aware of that trend going forward to better design experiments that try to associate environmental factors with suicide behaviour.

When investigating inflammatory markers of suicide, we found that the protein expression of TNF- α was increased in the brain of people who died by suicide, but not suicide attempts. This is an interesting finding since TNF- α is an important proinflammatory marker, both an adipokine and cytokine (Chumakova et al., 2021). Moreover, suicide attempters showed lower levels of peripheral IL1B. IL1B is a pro-

299

inflammatory cytokine, which goes against the general idea of systemic inflammation being associated with suicidal behaviour (Lengvenyte et al., 2021). Nevertheless, IL1B has been linked to differential response to pain by mediating COX-2 expression, causing hyperalgesia when IL1B is overexpressed (Bergqvist et al., 2019; Nagura et al., 2019; Ohnishi et al., 2019). At the same time, there is evidence that chronic pain and its genetic associations are particularly associated with suicide attempts (Docherty et al., 2023; Fanelli et al., 2022). Although inflammatory markers are usually associated with other conditions, aetiologies and diseases, when combined with other predicting variables they might add important value; especially concerning identification and prognosis to avoid attempts and deaths.

The sialic acid binding Ig-like lectin 3 (CD33) protein is a transmembrane receptor that seems to enable protein phosphatase binding activity and sialic acid binding activity. It is located in several cellular components, including the Golgi apparatus; the external side of the plasma membrane; and the peroxisome (Rendina et al., 2020). CD33 has been widely studied in the context of cognition and Alzheimer's disease (Miles et al., 2019; Tortora et al., 2022; Wißfeld et al., 2021). Although depression is one of the most prevalent comorbidities in Alzheimer's disease (Chiba-Falek et al., 2020), there appears to be no study in the literature investigating the relationship between CD33 and depressive states or suicidal ideation. In our investigation, we showed that CD33 protein levels are higher in individuals with suicide attempts, independently from cognitive decline or depressive symptoms. We will continue to investigate this association by increasing sample size and trying to understand if there is also a connection between mRNA levels and genomic variants within CD33.
1.6. Conclusion

Exploring the significance of advancing research in biological psychiatry, this thesis provides valuable insights into the molecular landscapes of psychiatric disorders and potential therapeutic interventions. In the first chapter, we highlighted the increasing sales of psychiatric drugs in Brazil, which not only have economic implications but also draw attention to broader societal issues, emphasizing the urgent need for a deeper understanding of psychiatric disorders at the biological level. We also examined the translatability of cross-disorder endophenotypes, introducing an effective methodology for identifying differentially expressed genes across studies and revealing shared molecular pathophysiology across psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases. By exploring gene expression in the overlap between schizophrenia and Alzheimer's, for instance, we introduce crucial insights into the role of the central nervous system in these disorders.

Additionally, we carefully examined the effectiveness of animal models in psychiatry and found that using spontaneously hypertensive rats as a comprehensive model for ADHD has its limitations. The research into animal models for major depressive disorder and autism spectrum disorder continues with the goal of improving researchers' choices based on specific animal behaviours and responses to treatments. It is important to exercise caution when using animal models as proxies for complex human disorders and to interpret the results carefully.

Moreover, we expand the role of neuroimaging analysis in understanding the biological basis of psychiatric disorders and how it can address the variability in psychiatry. We introduced novel approaches to tackle the complexity and variability in psychiatry, including a systematic review and meta-analysis of spectroscopy research on ADHD and the application of a biclustering algorithm to neuroimaging data.

Furthermore, the analysis of biobehavioral indicators of suicide behaviour across mental disorders underscores the complex interplay between environmental and biological factors that contribute to suicide. The combination of a meta-analysis on personality traits and their correlation with suicide attempts, and research on the effects of early-life trauma and inflammatory markers, provides a nuanced comprehension of the multifaceted nature of suicidal behavior. The discovery of a potential link between CD33 protein levels and suicide attempts adds a new dimension to the exploration of biological markers in psychiatric research.

In essence, this thesis provides a comprehensive and multidimensional approach to unravelling the complexities of psychiatric disorders. The integration of biological, neuroimaging, and behavioural perspectives contributes to a holistic understanding, paving the way for future research in biological psychiatry.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. https://doi.org/10.1176/APPI.BOOKS.9780890425596
- Anastasiades, P. G., & Carter, A. G. (2021). Circuit organization of the rodent medial prefrontal cortex. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *44*(7), 550–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2021.03.006
- Antonello, V. S., Panzenhagen, A. C., Balanzá-Martínez, V., & Shansis, F. M. (2020).
 Virtual meetings and social isolation in covid-19 times: Transposable barriers. *Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy*, *42*(3). https://doi.org/10.1590/2237-6089-2020-0065
- Barton, N. H., Etheridge, A. M., & Véber, A. (2017). The infinitesimal model: Definition, derivation, and implications. *Theoretical Population Biology*, *118*, 50–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TPB.2017.06.001
- Begum, A., Rahman, A. K. M. F., Rahman, A., Soares, J., Reza Khankeh, H., & Macassa, G. (2017). Prevalence of suicide ideation among adolescents and young adults in rural Bangladesh. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 46(3), 177–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207411.2017.1304074
- Bergqvist, F., Carr, A. J., Wheway, K., Watkins, B., Oppermann, U., Jakobsson, P. J., & Dakin, S. G. (2019). Divergent roles of prostacyclin and PGE2 in human tendinopathy. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 21(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13075-019-1855-5/FIGURES/6
- Boyle, E. A., Li, Y. I., & Pritchard, J. K. (2017). An expanded view of complex traits: from polygenic to omnigenic. *Cell*, *169*(7), 1177. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2017.05.038
- Brezo, J., Paris, J., Tremblay, R., Vitaro, F., Hébert, M., & Turecki, G. (2007). Identifying correlates of suicide attempts in suicidal ideators: A population-based study. *Psychological Medicine*, 37(11), 1551–1562. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291707000803
- Brezo, J., Paris, J., & Turecki, G. (2006). Personality traits as correlates of suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and suicide completions: a systematic review. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 113(3), 180–206. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1600-0447.2005.00702.X
- Burmeister, M., McInnis, M. G., & Zöllner, S. (2008). Psychiatric genetics: progress amid controversy. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 9(7), 527–540. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRG2381
- Bustillo, J. R. (2013). Use of proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy in the treatment of psychiatric disorders: a critical update. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 15(3), 329–337. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2013.15.3/JBUSTILLO

- Campos, A. I., Garcia-Marin, L. M., Christensen, H., Batterham, P. J., van Velzen, L. S., Schmaal, L., Rabinowitz, J. A., Jahanshad, N., Martin, N. G., Cuellar-Partida, G., Ruderfer, D., Mullins, N., & Rentería, M. E. (2023). Genomics Driven Screening for Causal Determinants of Suicide Attempt. *Biological Psychiatry*, *91*(3), 29–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/00048674221091499
- Carvalho, L. F., Pianowski, G., & Gonçalves, A. P. (2020). Personality differences and covid-19: Are extroversion and conscientiousness personality traits associated with engagement with containment measures? *Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy*, 42(2), 179–184. https://doi.org/10.1590/2237-6089-2020-0029
- Cheng, C. M., Chang, W. H., Chen, M. H., Tsai, C. F., Su, T. P., Li, C. T., Tsai, S. J., Hsu, J. W., Huang, K. L., Lin, W. C., Chen, T. J., & Bai, Y. M. (2018). Co-aggregation of major psychiatric disorders in individuals with first-degree relatives with schizophrenia: a nationwide population-based study. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 23(8), 1756–1763. https://doi.org/10.1038/MP.2017.217
- Chiang, Y. H., Ma, Y. C., Lin, Y. C., Jiang, J. L., Wu, M. H., & Chiang, K. C. (2022). The Relationship between Depressive Symptoms, Rumination, and Suicide Ideation in Patients with Depression. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(21). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH192114492
- Chiba-Falek, O., Lutz, M. W., Sprague, D., & Barrera, J. (2020). Shared genetic etiology underlying Alzheimer's disease and major depressive disorder. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, *16*(S3). https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.037697
- Christian, K. M., Song, H., & Ming, G. li. (2020). Using Two- and Three-Dimensional Human iPSC Culture Systems to Model Psychiatric Disorders. *Advances in Neurobiology*, 25, 237–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45493-7_9
- Chumakova, G., Gritsenko, O., Gruzdeva, O., & Dyleva, Y. (2021). Analysis of probable lipotoxic damage and myocardial fibrosis in epicardial obesity. *Aging (Albany NY)*, *13*(11), 14806–14815. https://doi.org/10.18632/AGING.203148
- Cipriani, A., Furukawa, T. A., Salanti, G., Chaimani, A., Atkinson, L. Z., Ogawa, Y., Leucht, S., Ruhe, H. G., Turner, E. H., Higgins, J. P. T., Egger, M., Takeshima, N., Hayasaka, Y., Imai, H., Shinohara, K., Tajika, A., Ioannidis, J. P. A., & Geddes, J. R. (2018). Comparative efficacy and acceptability of 21 antidepressant drugs for the acute treatment of adults with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Lancet (London, England)*, *391*(10128), 1357–1366. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32802-7
- Costello, R., Kissenpfennig, A., Martins, P. N., & McDaid, J. (2018). Development of transplant immunosuppressive agents – considerations in the use of animal models. *Expert Opinion on Drug Discovery*, *13*(11), 1041–1053. https://doi.org/10.1080/17460441.2018.1535589

- Czéh, B., Wiborg, O., & Fuchs, E. (2018). Experimental Animal Models for Depressive Disorders: Relevance to Drug Discovery. *Understanding Depression*, *1*, 221–231. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-6580-4_19
- Das, I., Estevez, M. A., Sarkar, A. A., & Banerjee-Basu, S. (2019). A multifaceted approach for analyzing complex phenotypic data in rodent models of autism. *Molecular Autism*, *10*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13229-019-0263-7/TABLES/3
- de Sousa, L. A. O., Fonteles, M. M. de F., Monteiro, M. P., Mengue, S. S., Bertoldi, A. D., Dal Pizzol, T. da S., Tavares, N. U. L., Oliveira, M. A., Luiza, V. L., Ramos, L. R., Farias, M. R., & Arrais, P. S. D. (2018). Prevalence and characteristics of adverse drug events in Brazil. *Cadernos de Saude Publica*, *34 4*(4). https://doi.org/10.1590/0102-311X00040017
- Demirhan, A. (2018). The effect of feature selection on multivariate pattern analysis of structural brain MR images. *Physica Medica : PM : An International Journal Devoted* to the Applications of Physics to Medicine and Biology : Official Journal of the Italian Association of Biomedical Physics, 47, 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJMP.2018.03.002
- Docherty, A. R., Mullins, N., Ashley-Koch, A. E., Qin, X., Coleman, J. R. I., Shabalin, A., Kang, J., Murnyak, B., Wendt, F., Adams, M., Campos, A. I., DiBlasi, E., Fullerton, J. M., Kranzler, H. R., Bakian, A. V, Monson, E. T., Rentería, M. E., Walss-Bass, C., Andreassen, O. A., ... Ruderfer, D. M. (2023). GWAS Meta-Analysis of Suicide Attempt: Identification of 12 Genome-Wide Significant Loci and Implication of Genetic Risks for Specific Health Factors. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *180*(10), 723–738. https://doi.org/10.1176/APPI.AJP.21121266
- Dong, Z., Zhang, Y., Zhang, X., & Li, J. (2022). In vivo Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy and its Applications in Autistic Disorder. *Current Molecular Imaging*, 4(2), 85–99. https://doi.org/10.2174/221155520402160325122158
- Dykxhoorn, J., & Kirkbride, J. B. (2018). The epidemiological burden of major psychiatric disorders. *Oxford Textbook of Public Mental Health*, 73–84. https://doi.org/10.1093/MED/9780198792994.003.0009
- Ebneabbasi, A., Mahdipour, M., Nejati, V., Li, M., Liebe, T., Colic, L., Leutritz, A. L., Vogel, M., Zarei, M., Walter, M., & Tahmasian, M. (2021). Emotion processing and regulation in major depressive disorder: A 7T resting-state fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, *4*2(3), 797–810. https://doi.org/10.1002/HBM.25263
- Fanelli, G., Sokolowski, M., Wasserman, D., Kasper, S., Zohar, J., Souery, D., Montgomery, S., Albani, D., Forloni, G., Ferentinos, P., Rujescu, D., Mendlewicz, J., De Ronchi, D., Serretti, A., & Fabbri, C. (2022). Polygenic risk scores for neuropsychiatric, inflammatory, and cardio-metabolic traits highlight possible genetic overlap with suicide attempt and treatment-emergent suicidal ideation. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, *189*(3–4), 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/AJMG.B.32891

- Faraone, S. V., & Larsson, H. (2019). Genetics of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 24(4), 562–575. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41380-018-0070-0
- Findling, R. L., & Stepanova, E. (2018). The Workforce Shortage of Child and Adolescent Psychiatrists: Is It Time for a Different Approach? *Journal of the American Academy* of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 57 5(5), 300–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAC.2018.02.008
- Fisher, R. A. (1919). XV.—The Correlation between Relatives on the Supposition of Mendelian Inheritance. *Earth and Environmental Science Transactions of The Royal Society of Edinburgh*, *5*2(2), 399–433. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0080456800012163
- Fortgang, R. G., & Nock, M. K. (2021). Ringing the Alarm on Suicide Prevention: A Call to Action. *Psychiatry*, *84*(2), 192–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/00332747.2021.1907871
- Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Vitale, G., Capri, M., & Salvioli, S. (2017). Inflammaging and 'Garb-aging.' *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *28*(3), 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TEM.2016.09.005
- Furlong, L. I. (2013). Human diseases through the lens of network biology. *Trends in Genetics : TIG*, *29*(3), 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIG.2012.11.004
- G Patel, M., K Patel, V., S Tiwari, D., R Shah, V., S Patel, D., & B Chanpa, N. (2018).
 Efficacy and Safety of Escitalopram in First Episode of Major Depressive Disorder A Tertiary Care Indian Center Experience. *Journal of Depression & Anxiety*, 07(04), 1– 5. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-1044.1000324
- Galfalvy, H., Szücs, A., Chang, Y. W., Buerke, M., & Szanto, K. (2023). Long-Term Suicidal Ideation Profiles in Late-Life Depression and Their Association With Suicide Attempt or Death by Suicide. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 84 2(2). https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.22M14469
- Gallinat, J., Bauer, M., & Heinz, A. (2008). Genes and Neuroimaging: Advances in Psychiatric Research. *Neurodegenerative Diseases*, *5*(5), 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1159/000135612
- Gosnell, S. N., Fowler, J. C., & Salas, R. (2019). Classifying suicidal behavior with resting-state functional connectivity and structural neuroimaging. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *140*(1), 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/ACPS.13029
- Guirado, R., Perez-Rando, M., Ferragud, A., Gutierrez-Castellanos, N., Umemori, J., Carceller, H., Nacher, J., & Castillo-Gómez, E. (2020). A Critical Period for Prefrontal Network Configurations Underlying Psychiatric Disorders and Addiction. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNBEH.2020.00051
- Hagerty, S. L., Ellingson, J. M., Helmuth, T. B., Bidwell, L. C., Hutchison, K. E., & Bryan, A. D. (2019). An Overview and Proposed Research Framework for Studying Co-Occurring Mental- and Physical-Health Dysfunction. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *14*(4), 633–645. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691619827010

- Hassanzadeh, R., Abrol, A., & Calhoun, V. (2022). Classification of Schizophrenia and Alzheimer's Disease using Resting-State Functional Network Connectivity. 2022 IEEE-EMBS International Conference on Biomedical and Health Informatics (BHI), 01–04. https://doi.org/10.1109/BHI56158.2022.9926797
- Hawe, J. S., Theis, F. J., & Heinig, M. (2019). Inferring interaction networks from multiomics data. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 10(JUN), 440512. https://doi.org/10.3389/FGENE.2019.00535/BIBTEX
- Herfert, K., Mannheim, J. G., Kuebler, L., Marciano, S., Amend, M., Parl, C., Napieczynska, H., Maier, F. M., Vega, S. C., & Pichler, B. J. (2020). Quantitative Rodent Brain Receptor Imaging. *Molecular Imaging and Biology*, 22(2), 223–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11307-019-01368-9
- Herrera, M. (2018). Mood Disorders and Suicide. *Suicide Prevention*, 23–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74391-2_2
- Huang, S., Chaudhary, K., & Garmire, L. X. (2017). More is better: Recent progress in multi-omics data integration methods. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 8(JUN), 268903. https://doi.org/10.3389/FGENE.2017.00084/BIBTEX
- John, J. P., & Parekh, P. (2018). Functional MRI Approaches to Studying Cognition. *Functional MRI*, 64–90. https://doi.org/10.1093/MED/9780190297763.003.0005
- Jyotiranjan, N., Prasanna, S. S., & Priti, D. (2021). Current Trends in Utilization of Antidepressants in a Tertiary Care Teaching Hospital: An Observational Study. *International Journal of Current Research and Review*, 13(15), 127–132. https://doi.org/10.31782/IJCRR.2021.131524
- Kim, J., Lee, K. S., Kim, D. J., Hong, S. C., Choi, K. H., Oh, Y., Wang, S. M., Lee, H. K., Kweon, Y. S., Lee, C. T., & Lee, K. U. (2015). Characteristic Risk Factors Associated with Planned versus Impulsive Suicide Attempters. *Clinical Psychopharmacology and Neuroscience*, *13*(3), 308–315. https://doi.org/10.9758/CPN.2015.13.3.308
- Leffa, D. T., Panzenhagen, A. C., Salvi, A. A., Bau, C. H. D., Pires, G. N., Torres, I. L. S., Rohde, L. A., Rovaris, D. L., & Grevet, E. H. (2019). Systematic review and metaanalysis of the behavioral effects of methylphenidate in the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.02.019
- Lei, B., Hou, W., Zou, W., Li, X., Zhang, C., & Wang, T. (2019). Longitudinal score prediction for Alzheimer's disease based on ensemble correntropy and spatial– temporal constraint. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, *13*(1), 126–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11682-018-9834-Z
- Lengvenyte, A., Olié, E., & Courtet, P. (2021). Suicide as a Systemic Disorder. *Immuno-Psychiatry*, 321–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71229-7_19
- Levey, D. F., Polimanti, R., Cheng, Z., Zhou, H., Nuñez, Y. Z., Jain, S., He, F., Sun, X., Ursano, R. J., Kessler, R. C., Smoller, J. W., Stein, M. B., Kranzler, H. R., &

Gelernter, J. (2019). Genetic associations with suicide attempt severity and genetic overlap with major depression. *Translational Psychiatry*, *9*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41398-018-0340-2

- Li, Q. S., Shabalin, A. A., DiBlasi, E., Gopal, S., Canuso, C. M., Palotie, A., Drevets, W. C., Docherty, A. R., & Coon, H. (2022). Genome-wide association study metaanalysis of suicide death and suicidal behavior. *Molecular Psychiatry 2022 28:2*, 28(2), 891–900. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-022-01828-9
- Lönnqvist, J. (2021). Mood and anxiety disorders in suicide and suicide attempters. Oxford Textbook of Suicidology and Suicide Prevention, 261–268. https://doi.org/10.1093/MED/9780198834441.003.0031
- Mallien, A. S., Häger, C., Palme, R., Talbot, S. R., Vogt, M. A., Pfeiffer, N., Brandwein, C., Struve, B., Inta, D., Chourbaji, S., Hellweg, R., Vollmayr, B., Bleich, A., & Gass, P. (2020). Systematic analysis of severity in a widely used cognitive depression model for mice. *Laboratory Animals*, *54*(1), 40–49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0023677219874831
- Mandal, P. K., & Perry, G. (2022). SWADESH: A Comprehensive Platform for Multimodal Data and Analytics for Advanced Research in Alzheimer's Disease and Other Brain Disorders. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease : JAD*, *85*(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-215354
- Marinho, T. N., Nascimento, L. M. Do, & Nicoletti, C. D. (2019). DEPRESSÃO ENTRE UNIVERSITÁRIOS: REVISÃO INTEGRATIVA DOS MEDICAMENTOS ANTIDEPRESSIVOS MAIS UTILIZADOS ENTRE OS ACADÊMICOS DE UNIVERSIDADES NO BRASIL. Semioses, 13(4), 15–33. https://doi.org/10.15202/1981996X.2019V13N4P15
- Marquand, A. F., Wolfers, T., & Dinga, R. (2019). Phenomapping: Methods and Measures for Deconstructing Diagnosis in Psychiatry. *Personalized Psychiatry*, 119–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-03553-2_7
- Mazza, M. G., De Lorenzo, R., Conte, C., Poletti, S., Vai, B., Bollettini, I., Melloni, E. M. T., Furlan, R., Ciceri, F., Rovere-Querini, P., & Benedetti, F. (2020). Anxiety and depression in COVID-19 survivors: Role of inflammatory and clinical predictors. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, *89*, 594–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBI.2020.07.037
- McCutcheon, R., Pillinger, T., Welby, G., Vano, L., Cummings, C., Guo, X., Heron, T. A., Efthimiou, O., Cipriani, A., & Howes, O. (2021). Magnitude and variability of structural brain abnormalities in neuropsychiatric disease: protocol for a network meta-analysis of MRI studies. *Evidence-Based Mental Health*, 24(3), 111–114. https://doi.org/10.1136/EBMENTAL-2020-300229
- McGeer, P. L., Rogers, J., & McGeer, E. G. (2016). Inflammation, Antiinflammatory Agents, and Alzheimer's Disease: The Last 22 Years. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *54*(3), 853–857. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-160488

- McKean, A. J. S., Pabbati, C. P., Geske, J. R., & Bostwick, J. M. (2018). Rethinking Lethality in Youth Suicide Attempts: First Suicide Attempt Outcomes in Youth Ages 10 to 24. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 57 10(10), 786–791. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAC.2018.04.021
- Medland, S. E., Grasby, K. L., Jahanshad, N., Painter, J. N., Colodro-Conde, L., Bralten, J., Hibar, D. P., Lind, P. A., Pizzagalli, F., Thomopoulos, S. I., Stein, J. L., Franke, B., Martin, N. G., & Thompson, P. M. (2022). Ten years of enhancing neuro-imaging genetics through meta-analysis: An overview from the ENIGMA Genetics Working Group. *Human Brain Mapping*, *43*(1), 292–299. https://doi.org/10.1002/HBM.25311
- Meoded, A., & Huisman, T. A. G. M. (2019). Diffusion Tensor Imaging of Brain Malformations: Exploring the Internal Architecture. *Neuroimaging Clinics of North America*, 29 3(3), 423–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NIC.2019.03.004
- Miles, L. A., Hermans, S. J., Crespi, G. A. N., Gooi, J. H., Doughty, L., Nero, T. L., Markulić, J., Ebneth, A., Wroblowski, B., Oehlrich, D., Trabanco, A. A., Rives, M. L., Royaux, I., Hancock, N. C., & Parker, M. W. (2019). Small Molecule Binding to Alzheimer Risk Factor CD33 Promotes Aβ Phagocytosis. *IScience*, *19*, 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ISCI.2019.07.023
- Moore, B. A., & Barnett, J. E. (2015). The Fundamentals of Brain Neurotransmission. Oxford Medicine Online, August, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/MED/9780199362318.003.0002
- Mullins, N., Bigdeli, T. B., Børglum, A. D., Coleman, J. R. I., Demontis, D., Mehta, D., Power, R. A., Ripke, S., Stahl, E. A., Starnawska, A., Anjorin, A., Corvin, A., Sanders, A. R., Forstner, A. J., Reif, A., Koller, A. C., Tkowska, B. S., Baune, B. T., Müller-Myhsok, B., ... Lewis, C. M. (2019). GWAS of Suicide Attempt in Psychiatric Disorders and Association With Major Depression Polygenic Risk Scores. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *176*(8), 651–660. https://doi.org/10.1176/APPI.AJP.2019.18080957
- Mullins, N., Bigdeli, T., Power, R., McQuillin, A., Stahl, E., Mehta, D., & Lewis, C. (2019). 67 GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDY OF SUICIDE ATTEMPT IN MAJOR PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 820–821. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EURONEURO.2017.08.068
- Mullins, N., Kang, J., Campos, A., Coleman, J., Edwards, A., Galfalvy, H., Levey, D., Lori, A., Shabalin, A., Starnawska, A., Su, M., Watson, H. J., Adams, M., Awasthi, S., Gandal, M., Hafferty, J., Hishimoto, A., Kim, M., Okazaki, S., ... Ruderfer, D. (n.d.).
 Dissecting the Shared Genetic Architecture of Suicide Attempt, Psychiatric Disorders, and Known Risk Factors. *Biological Psychiatry*, *91*, 313–327. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.01.20241281
- Murray, J. D., Demirtaş, M., & Anticevic, A. (2018). Biophysical Modeling of Large-Scale Brain Dynamics and Applications for Computational Psychiatry. *Biological Psychiatry*.

Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging, 3 9(9), 777–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BPSC.2018.07.004

- Nagura, N., Uchida, K., Kenmoku, T., Inoue, G., Nakawaki, M., Miyagi, M., & Takaso, M. (2019). IL-1β mediates NGF and COX-2 expression through transforming growth factor-activating kinase 1 in subacromial bursa cells derived from rotator cuff tear patients. *Journal of Orthopaedic Science : Official Journal of the Japanese Orthopaedic Association*, 24(5), 925–929. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JOS.2019.02.006
- Noor, M. B. T., Zenia, N. Z., Kaiser, M. S., Mamun, S. Al, & Mahmud, M. (2020). Application of deep learning in detecting neurological disorders from magnetic resonance images: a survey on the detection of Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and schizophrenia. *Brain Informatics*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S40708-020-00112-2
- Ohnishi, M., Yukawa, R., Akagi, M., Ohsugi, Y., & Inoue, A. (2019). Bradykinin and interleukin-1β synergistically increase the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 through the RNA-binding protein HuR in rat dorsal root ganglion cells. *Neuroscience Letters*, 694, 215–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEULET.2018.11.058
- O'Reilly, L. M., Kuja-Halkola, R., Rickert, M. E., Class, Q. A., Larsson, H., Lichtenstein, P., & D'Onofrio, B. M. (2020). The intergenerational transmission of suicidal behavior: an offspring of siblings study. *Translational Psychiatry*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41398-020-0850-6
- Padmanabhan, J. L., Tandon, N., Haller, C. S., Mathew, I. T., Eack, S. M., Clementz, B. A., Pearlson, G. D., Sweeney, J. A., Tamminga, C. A., & Keshavan, M. S. (2015). Correlations between brain structure and symptom dimensions of psychosis in schizophrenia, schizoaffective, and psychotic bipolar I disorders. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *41 1*(1), 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1093/SCHBUL/SBU075
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., Shamseer, L., Tetzlaff, J. M., Akl, E. A., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hróbjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., McDonald, S., ... Moher, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Systematic Reviews*, *10*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13643-021-01626-4/FIGURES/1
- Panzenhagen, A. C., Cavalcanti, A., Stein, D. J., de Castro, L. L., Vasconcelos, M., Abreu, M. B., Almeida, R. F., Bertoglio, L. J., & Herrmann, A. P. (2022). Behavioral manifestations in rodent models of autism spectrum disorder: protocol for a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Systematic Reviews*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13643-022-02028-W
- Pelin, H., Ising, M., Stein, F., Meinert, S., Meller, T., Brosch, K., Winter, N. R., Krug, A., Leenings, R., Lemke, H., Nenadić, I., Heilmann-Heimbach, S., Forstner, A. J., Nöthen, M. M., Opel, N., Repple, J., Pfarr, J., Ringwald, K., Schmitt, S., ... Andlauer, T. F. M. (2021). Identification of transdiagnostic psychiatric disorder subtypes using

unsupervised learning. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *46*(11), 1895–1905. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41386-021-01051-0

- Perlov, E., Philipsen, A., Matthies, S., Drieling, T., Maier, S., Bubl, E., Hesslinger, B., Buechert, M., Henning, J., Ebert, D., & Tebartz Van Elst, L. (2009). Spectroscopic findings in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Review and meta-analysis. *The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry*, *10*(4 PART 2), 355–365. https://doi.org/10.1080/15622970802176032
- Perry, K. M., Stacy, S. E., & Pepper, C. M. (2022). Masculine gender-related personality traits and acquired capability for suicide. *Death Studies*, *46*(2), 329–336. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2019.1699206
- Quintana-Murci, L. (2016). Understanding rare and common diseases in the context of human evolution. *Genome Biology 2016 17:1*, *17*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13059-016-1093-Y
- Rana, T., Behl, T., Sharma, N., & Singh, S. (2022). Animal Models of Depression: An Update. ECS Transactions, 107(1), 8749–8755. https://doi.org/10.1149/10701.8749ECST
- Reich, R., Gilbert, A., Clari, R., Burdick, K. E., & Szeszko, P. R. (2019). A preliminary investigation of impulsivity, aggression and white matter in patients with bipolar disorder and a suicide attempt history. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 247, 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2019.01.001
- Rendina, A., Drongitis, D., Donizetti, A., Fucci, L., Milan, G., Tripodi, F., Giustezza, F., Postiglione, A., Pappat, S., Ferrari, R., Bossu, P., Angiolillo, A., di Costanzo, A., Caiazzo, M., & Vitale, E. (2020). CD33 and SIGLECL1 Immunoglobulin Superfamily Involved in Dementia. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, *79*(8), 890–901. https://doi.org/10.1093/JNEN/NLAA055
- Rizk, M. M., Galfalvy, H., Miller, J. M., Milak, M., Parsey, R., Grunebaum, M., Burke, A., Sublette, M. E., Oquendo, M. A., Stanley, B., & Mann, J. J. (2021). Characteristics of depressed suicide attempters with remitted substance use disorders. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *137*, 572–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JPSYCHIRES.2020.10.041
- Rocha, E. M., De Miranda, B., & Sanders, L. H. (2018). Alpha-synuclein: Pathology, mitochondrial dysfunction and neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 109, 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NBD.2017.04.004
- Saito, T., Ikeda, M., Terao, C., Ashizawa, T., Miyata, M., Tanaka, S., Kanazawa, T., Kato, T., Kishi, T., & Iwata, N. (2023). Differential genetic correlations across major psychiatric disorders between Eastern and Western countries. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 77(2), 118–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/PCN.13498
- Sampson, T. R., Debelius, J. W., Thron, T., Janssen, S., Shastri, G. G., Ilhan, Z. E., Challis, C., Schretter, C. E., Rocha, S., Gradinaru, V., Chesselet, M. F.,

Keshavarzian, A., Shannon, K. M., Krajmalnik-Brown, R., Wittung-Stafshede, P., Knight, R., & Mazmanian, S. K. (2016). Gut Microbiota Regulate Motor Deficits and Neuroinflammation in a Model of Parkinson's Disease. *Cell*, *167*(6), 1469-1480.e12. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2016.11.018

- Schijven, D., Veldink, J. H., & Luykx, J. J. (2020). Genetic cross-disorder analysis in psychiatry: from methodology to clinical utility. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 216(5), 246–249. https://doi.org/10.1192/BJP.2019.72
- Schmaal, L., Pozzi, E., C. Ho, T., van Velzen, L. S., Veer, I. M., Opel, N., Van Someren, E. J. W., Han, L. K. M., Aftanas, L., Aleman, A., Baune, B. T., Berger, K., Blanken, T. F., Capitão, L., Couvy-Duchesne, B., R. Cullen, K., Dannlowski, U., Davey, C., Erwin-Grabner, T., ... Veltman, D. J. (2020). ENIGMA MDD: seven years of global neuroimaging studies of major depression through worldwide data sharing. *Translational Psychiatry*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41398-020-0842-6
- Smaoui, N., Guermazi, A., Lajmi, I., Feki, R., Omri, S., Bouali, M. M., Thabet, J. Ben, Zouari, L., Charfi, N., & Maalej, M. (2021). Study of risk factors for suicide attempts in patients with bipolar disorder. *European Psychiatry*, 64(S1), 200–200. https://doi.org/10.1192/J.EURPSY.2021.531
- Tortora, F., Rendina, A., Angiolillo, A., Di Costanzo, A., Aniello, F., Donizetti, A., Febbraio, F., & Vitale, E. (2022). CD33 rs2455069 SNP: Correlation with Alzheimer's Disease and Hypothesis of Functional Role. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS23073629
- Tripathi, A., Garg, K., & Javed, A. (2018). Prevention in Psychiatry: A Narrative Review of Conceptual Basis and Current Status. *Advances in Psychiatry*, 577–594. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70554-5_33
- Trojan, E., Bryniarska, N., Leśkiewicz, M., Regulska, M., Chamera, K., Szuster-Głuszczak, M., Leopoldo, M., Lacivita, E., & Basta-Kaim, A. (2019). The Contribution of Formyl Peptide Receptor Dysfunction to the Course of Neuroinflammation: A Potential Role in the Brain Pathology. *Current Neuropharmacology*, *18*(3), 229–249. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X17666191019170244
- Turecki, G., Brent, D. A., Gunnell, D., O'Connor, R. C., Oquendo, M. A., Pirkis, J., & Stanley, B. H. (2019). Suicide and suicide risk. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers* 2019 5:1, 5(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0121-0
- Uchida, S. (2021). Epigenetic mechanisms of stress resilience and susceptibility and its implications for drug development. *Proceedings for Annual Meeting of The Japanese Pharmacological Society*, *94*(0), 1-S08-4. https://doi.org/10.1254/JPSSUPPL.94.0_1-S08-4
- Vasaikar, S. V., Straub, P., Wang, J., & Zhang, B. (2018). LinkedOmics: analyzing multiomics data within and across 32 cancer types. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 46(D1), D956–D963. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKX1090

- Vila-Merkle, H., González-Martínez, A., Campos-Jiménez, R., Martínez-Ricós, J., Teruel-Martí, V., Blasco-Serra, A., Lloret, A., Celada, P., & Cervera-Ferri, A. (2021). The Oscillatory Profile Induced by the Anxiogenic Drug FG-7142 in the Amygdala–Hippocampal Network Is Reversed by Infralimbic Deep Brain Stimulation: Relevance for Mood Disorders. *Biomedicines*, 9(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOMEDICINES9070783
- Wasserman, D., Carli, V., Iosue, M., Javed, A., & Herrman, H. (2021). Suicide prevention in psychiatric patients. *Asia-Pacific Psychiatry*, 13(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/APPY.12450
- Wasserman, D., & Cyranka, K. (2019). Difficulties in preventing suicidal behaviours in spite of existing evidence-based preventive methods – An overvie. Archives of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, 21(12), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.12740/APP/104408
- Willner, P. (1986). Validation criteria for animal models of human mental disorders: Learned helplessness as a paradigm case. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology* and Biological Psychiatry, 10(6), 677–690. https://doi.org/10.1016/0278-5846(86)90051-5
- Wingo, T. S., Liu, Y., Gerasimov, E. S., Vattathil, S. M., Wynne, M. E., Liu, J., Lori, A., Faundez, V., Bennett, D. A., Seyfried, N. T., Levey, A. I., & Wingo, A. P. (2022).
 Shared mechanisms across the major psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases. *Nature Communications 2022 13:1*, *13*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-31873-5
- Wißfeld, J., Nozaki, I., Mathews, M., Raschka, T., Ebeling, C., Hornung, V., Brüstle, O., & Neumann, H. (2021). Deletion of Alzheimer's disease-associated CD33 results in an inflammatory human microglia phenotype. *Glia*, *69*(6), 1393–1412. https://doi.org/10.1002/GLIA.23968
- Womersley, J. S., Nothling, J., Toikumo, S., Malan-Müller, S., van den Heuvel, L. L., McGregor, N. W., Seedat, S., & Hemmings, S. M. J. (2022). Childhood trauma, the stress response and metabolic syndrome: A focus on DNA methylation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 55(9–10), 2253–2296. https://doi.org/10.1111/EJN.15370
- Zheng, K. Z., Wang, H. N., Liu, J., Xi, Y. Bin, Li, L., Zhang, X., Li, J. M., Yin, H., Tan, Q. R., Lu, H. B., & Li, B. J. (2018). Incapacity to control emotion in major depression may arise from disrupted white matter integrity and OFC-amygdala inhibition. *CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics*, *24*(11), 1053–1062. https://doi.org/10.1111/CNS.12800

Annexes

1. Protocols pertaining to the research in this thesis

1.1 Peripheral blood as tool to determine gene expression patterns in patients with psychiatric, neurological and other common disorders: a systematic review and metaanalysis protocol

1.2 Protocols for a systematic review and network meta-analysis comparing animal models of depression

1.3 Behavioral manifestations in rodent models of autism spectrum disorder: protocol for a systematic review and network meta-analysis

PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews



Animal review

1. * Review title.

Give the working title of the review. This must be in English. The title should have the interventions or exposures being reviewed and the associated health or social problems.

A systematic review and network meta-analysis of the predictive validity of the animal models of depression

2. Original language title.

For reviews in languages other than English, this field should be used to enter the title in the language of the review. This will be displayed together with the English language title.

3. * Anticipated or actual start date.

Give the date when the systematic review commenced, or is expected to commence.

01/01/2020

4. * Anticipated completion date.

Give the date by which the review is expected to be completed.

30/06/2021

5. * Stage of review at time of this submission.

Indicate the stage of progress of the review by ticking the relevant Started and Completed boxes. Additional information may be added in the free text box provided.

Please note: Reviews that have progressed beyond the point of completing data extraction at the time of initial registration are not eligible for inclusion in PROSPERO. Should evidence of incorrect status and/or completion date being supplied at the time of submission come to light, the content of the PROSPERO record will be removed leaving only the title and named contact details and a statement that inaccuracies in the stage of the review date had been identified.

This field should be updated when any amendments are made to a published record and on completion and publication of the review.

The review has not yet started: No

PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews

Review stage	Started	Completed
Preliminary searches	Yes	Yes
Piloting of the study selection process	Yes	No
Formal screening of search results against eligibility criteria	Yes	No
Data extraction	No	No
Risk of bias (quality) assessment	Yes	No
Data analysis	No	No

Provide any other relevant information about the stage of the review here (e.g. Funded proposal, protocol not yet finalised).

6. * Named contact.

The named contact acts as the guarantor for the accuracy of the information presented in the register record.

Alana Castro Panzenhagen

Email salutation (e.g. "Dr Smith" or "Joanne") for correspondence:

Miss Panzenhagen

7. * Named contact email.

Enter the electronic mail address of the named contact.

alana.castro@ufrgs.br

8. * Named contact address.

Enter the full postal address for the named contact.

Rua Ramiro Barcelos, 2600 - Anexo - Bairro Floresta - Porto Alegre - Rio Grande do Sul - Brazil - CEP 90035-000

9. Named contact phone number

Enter the telephone number for the named contact, including international dialling code.

+55 51 33085578

10. * Organisational affiliation of the review.

Full title of the organisational affiliations for this review and website address if available. This field may be completed as 'none' if the review is not affiliated to any organisation.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do

Sul, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil

Organisation web address:

11. * Review team members and their organisational affiliations.

Give the personal details and the organisational affiliations of each member of the review team. Affiliation refers to groups or organisations to which review team members belong. **NOTE: email and country are now mandatory fields for each person.**

Miss Alana Castro Panzenhagen. Programa de Pós-graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil

Professor Roberto Farina de Almeida. Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto

Dr Douglas Leffa. Programa de Pós-graduação em Psiquiatria e Ciências do Comportamento, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul

Mr Fernando Godoy Pereira das Neves. CEntro de PEsquisa Translacional em Transtornos de Humor e Suicídio (CEPETTHS). Programa de Pós-graduação em Ciências Médicas, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Professor José Cláudio Fonseca Moreira. Programa de Pós-graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul

Professor Flávio Shansis. CEntro de PEsquisa Translacional em Transtornos de Humor e Suicídio (CEPETTHS). Programa de Pós-graduação em Ciências Médicas, Universidade do Vale do Taquari

12. * Funding sources/sponsors.

Give details of the individuals, organisations, groups or other legal entities who take responsibility for initiating, managing, sponsoring and/or financing the review. Any unique identification numbers assigned to the review by the individuals or bodies listed should be included.

This work is supported by Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES),

Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), and Universidade do Vale do

Taquari.

Grant number(s)

13. * Conflicts of interest.

List any conditions that could lead to actual or perceived undue influence on judgements concerning the main topic investigated in the review.

None

14. Collaborators.

Give the name, affiliation and role of any individuals or organisations who are working on the review but who are not listed as review team members.

Miss Hanny Kirszenworcel Pereira. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Miss Isabel Christina de Carvalho Cyrne. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Mr Luciano Gouvêa de Moraes Silva. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Miss Marina Zanotto. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Mr Matheus Arcari. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Miss Amanda Cristina Wiest. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Mr Augusto Cezar Sartori Maffini. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Miss Eliege Bortolini. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Miss Luiza Lucas. Curso de Medicina, Universidade do Vale do Taquari Miss Júlia Souza Rosa Martins. Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto Mr Arthur Ripari Tribuzi. Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto Mr Dênio de Oliveira Júnior. Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto Miss Gabriela Esper Kallás Lopes. Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto Miss Gabriela Esper Kallás Lopes. Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto Preto

15. * Review question.

Give details of the question to be addressed by the review, clearly and precisely.

What are the behavioral and memory effects of pharmacological treatments in rat and mouse animal models of depression?

Context and rationale

Provide a brief description of the context and rationale of the review, including information on the relevance of your review for human health (max 250 words).

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a highly impairing condition that affects up to 364 million people worldwide. Appropriate treatment for MDD therefore poses a great health and also economic concern. In the US alone, it is estimated that the costs due to MDD impairing effects are as high as \$210.5 billion per year. Moreover, approximately 50% of patients do not respond to first and second line pharmacological treatments, leading to overall low response rates. These factors raise major concerns in the field, pointing to the desperate need for antidepressant drug discovery. Animal models are key to understanding the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders, but even more crucial to the investigation of new treatment approaches. Notwithstanding, models are not always ideal and should follow a set of rules and validities for them to be accepted as reliable tools. Although some authors have stated that there are several validities to be fulfilled, they are commonly still divided in three main dominia suggested primarily by Willner in 1984; these are construct, face, and predictive validity. In the herein focused predictive validity, animals should respond to well-documented treatments in clinical practice in a similar way as patients do. In this case, it means the reduction of depressive-like behaviors. Taking all this into account, in this systematic review and network meta-analysis, the consistency of the predictive validity of animal models of MDD will be tested through the evaluation of the behavioral responses of those models to pharmacological treatments.

16. * Searches.

Give details of the sources to be searched, and any restrictions (e.g. language or publication period). The full search strategy is not required, but may be supplied as a link or attachment.

The databases MEDLINE via PubMed, Web of Science, and Scopus will be searched. No restrictions will be imposed on language or publication period.

17. URL to search strategy.

Give a link to the search strategy or an example of a search strategy for a specific database if available (including the keywords that will be used in the search strategies).

Alternatively, upload your search strategy to CRD in pdf format. Please note that by doing so you are consenting to the file being made publicly accessible.

Do not make this file publicly available until the review is complete

PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews

18. * Human disease modelled.

Give a short description of the disease, condition or healthcare domain being modelled.

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a highly impairing condition that affects up to 364 million people worldwide. Appropriate treatment for MDD, therefore, poses great health and also an economic concern. In the US alone, it is estimated that the costs due to MDD impairing effects are as high as \$210.5 billion per year. Moreover, approximately 50% of patients do not respond to first and second-line pharmacological treatments, leading to overall low response rates.

19. * Animals/population.

Give summary criteria for the animals being studied by the review, e.g. species, sex, details of disease model. Please include details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria:

The following rat or mouse models of depression: olfactory bulbectomy, chronic unpredictable mild stress, chronic mild stress, mild stress, acute stress, social defeat, learned helplessness, and restrain stress. All age and gender groups will be included.

Exclusion criteria:

Studies that do not include at least of the animal models cited above.

20. * Intervention(s), exposure(s).

Give full and clear descriptions of the nature of the interventions or the exposures to be reviewed (e.g. dosage, timing, frequency). Please include details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria:

Any pharmacological intervention added or not by a second pharmacological intervention.

Exclusion criteria:

Studies that do not include pharmacological interventions or only have groups in which the pharmacological

intervention is added by a non-pharmacological intervention.

21. * Comparator(s)/control.

Where relevant, give details of the type(s) of control interventions against which the experimental condition(s) will be compared (e.g. another intervention or a non-exposed control group). Please include details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria:

A control/vehicle or any other pharmacological intervention.

Exclusion criteria:

Other non-pharmacological interventions.

22. * Study designs to be included.

Give details of the study designs eligible for inclusion in the review. If there are no restrictions on the types of study design eligible for inclusion, or certain study types are excluded, this should be stated. Please include details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria:

All designs will be included

Exclusion criteria:

None

23. Other selection criteria or limitations applied.

Give details of any other inclusion and exclusion criteria, e.g. publication types (reviews, conference abstracts), publication date, or language restrictions.

24. * Outcome measure(s).

Give detail of the outcome measures to be considered for inclusion in the review. Please include details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria:

Behavioral or memory test outcomes.

Exclusion criteria:

Studies that do not perform behavioral ou memory tests in the model/intervention groups included.

25. N/A.

This question does not apply to systematic reviews of animal studies for human health submissions.

26. * Study selection and data extraction.

Procedure for study selection

Give the procedure for selecting studies for the review, including the screening phases (title and/or titleabstract and/or full-text), the number of researchers involved, and how discrepancies will be resolved.

1) pre-screening based on title and abstract

2) full-text screening of the eligible articles

Prioritise the exclusion criteria

Multiple exclusion criteria may apply to an abstract/paper, which can cause discrepancies between reviewers in the reason for exclusion recorded. To avoid this, it is helpful to prioritize the exclusion criteria (e.g. 1) not an animal study; 2) not a myocardial infarction model, etc.) and record the highest ranking applicable criterion as the reason for exclusion. Please sort the exclusion criteria defined in questions 19 to 24. If

applicable, do so for each screening phase.

SeTetetistuply as a review, letter, or commentary

- 2. The study does not include rats or mice
- 3. The study does not include one of the chosen models
- 4. The study does not include any pharmacological intervention
- 5. The study does not include a second group with no treatment, vehicle, or intervention with another drug.
- 6. The study does not perform any type of behavioral or memory test with all included experimental groups

Selection phase 2:

- 1. The study is a review, letter, or commentary
- 2. The study does not include rats or mice
- 3. The study does not include one of the chosen models
- 4. The study does not include any pharmacological intervention
- 5. The study does not include a second group with no treatment, vehicle, or intervention with another drug.
- 6. The study does not perform any type of behavioral or memory test with all included experimental groups

Methods for data extraction

Describe methods for data extraction, including the number of reviewers performing data extraction, extraction of data from text and/or graphs, whether and how authors of eligible studies will be contacted to provide missing or additional data, etc.

First extraction from text and tables, then from graphs and figures using WebPlotDigitizer v 4.3. When the

information required is not available, the authors of the original studies will be contacted. If no answer is

received in two months the records will be excluded from the analysis. All data will be extracted

independently by two reviewers. Discrepancies will be resolved by a third reviewer data extraction.

Data to be extracted: study design

Specify the data to be extracted related to characteristics of the study design, e.g. controlled versus crossover, number of experimental groups, etc.

Controlled trial or cross-over, number of experimental groups, sample sizes.

Data to be extracted: animal model

Specify the data to be extracted related to characteristics of the animal model, e.g. species, sex of the animals, etc.

Species, gender, type of disease induction, age of the animal upon induction and outcome assessment.

Data to be extracted: intervention of interest

Specify the data to be extracted related to characteristics of the intervention of interest, e.g. dose, timing, etc.

Type of intervention, dosage, timing, duration, route of administration.

PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews

Data to be extracted: primary outcome(s)

Define the primary outcome measure(s). For each outcome measure, specify in which format data will be extracted, including the eligible units of measurement, and data type (continuous/dichotomous). A description of any other manipulation or transformation of the extracted data that is planned may be included.

For behavioral or memory tests outcome measures: mean, standard deviation (SD) by group, and sample

size. Or other effect measures and p-values when the mean and SD are not available.

Data to be extracted: secondary outcome(s)

Define the secondary outcome measure(s). For each outcome measure, specify in which format data will be extracted, including the eligible units of measurement, and data type (continuous/dichotomous). A description of any other manipulation or transformation of the extracted data that is planned may be included.

None

Data to be extracted: other

Specify any other data or study characteristics to be extracted, e.g. bibliographical details, such as author, year and language.

First author, year of publication, journal name, DOI.

27. * Risk of bias and/or quality assessment.

State whether and how risk of bias and/or study quality will be assessed. Assessment tools specific for preclinical animal studies include SYRCLE's risk of bias tool and the CAMARADES checklist for study quality

No risk of bias and/or quality assessment planned

No

By use of SYRCLE's risk of bias tool

Yes

By use of SYRCLE's risk of bias tool adapted as follows:

No

By use of the CAMARADES checklist for study quality

No

By use of the CAMARADES checklist for study quality, adapted as follows:

No

Other criteria, namely

No

Method for risk of bias and/or quality assessment

Give the procedure for the risk of bias and/or quality assessment, including the number of reviewers

PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews

involved, their contribution, and how discrepancies will be resolved.

Two independent trained reviewers will assess the risk of bias assessment of each study. Discrepancies will be resolved by discussion between reviewers or assessment by a third reviewer when necessary.

28. * Strategy for data synthesis.

Planned approach

For each outcome measure, specify whether a quantitative or narrative synthesis is planned and how this decision will be made.

For all outcome measures the descriptive summary and effect sizes will be compared qualitatively. A metaanalysis will be conducted whenever there are at least three studies with the same design reporting data for the same animal model, drug, comparison group, and type of behavioral or memory test.

If a meta-analysis is planned, please specify the following:

Effect measure

For each outcome measure, specify the effect measure to be used (e.g. mean difference, odds ratio etc.).

Mean or median and standard deviation or interquartile interval when continuous and incidence/percentage

in each group when dichotomous outcomes of all behavioral and memory tests applied in the original records.

Effect models

For each outcome measure, specify the statistical model of analysis (e.g. random-effects or fixed-effect model).

Standardised mean difference will be used and odds or risk ratios when the first is not a possibility. A random

effects model will be used in order to account for heterogeneity.

Heterogeneity

Specify the statistical methods to assess heterogeneity (e.g. l², Q). For further guidance please refer to the introduction and practical guide to pre-clinical meta-analysis.

I² and Cochran Q statistics

Other

Specify other details of the meta-analysis methodology (e.g. correction for multiple testing, correction for multiple use of control group).

Bonferroni post hoc analysis will be conducted according to the number of tests performed. Whenever one

control is used multiple times the number will be adjusted by dividing the total sample size by the number of

Kindelisionally, stupping and under data and the gramphy (size the last author) will be included as an additional random variable

to account for neglected heterogeneity. A network meta-analysis will also be performed including all drugs in

each model.

29. * Analysis of subgroups or subsets.

Subgroup analyses

Give any planned exploration of subgroups or subsets within the review. 'None planned' is a valid response if no subgroup analyses are planned.

Subgroup meta-analyses (meta-regression or stratified regression) according to the following potential heterogeneity introducing variables: species, strain, sex, drug delivery route, drug dosage, age and/or weight of animals.

Sensitivity

For each outcome measure, specify any sensitivity analyses you propose to perform.

Sensitivity analyses will be performed as follows: a) following the Jackknife method for all main metaanalysis groups. b) according to risk of bias quality score of original studies (poorly classified studies in the 25% bottom quartile will be excluded). c) in case of doubts regarding the assumptions and interpretation of previous analyses.

Publication bias

Specify whether an assessment of publication bias is planned. If applicable, specify the method for assessment of publication bias.

Funnel plotting and Egger's regression test.

30. * Review type.

Type of review Animal model review No Experimental animal exposure review No Pre-clinical animal intervention review Yes

31. Language.

Select each country individually to add it to the list below, use the bin icon to remove any added in error. English

There is not an English language summary

32. * Country.

Select the country in which the review is being carried out from the drop down list. For multi-national collaborations select all the countries involved.

Brazil

33. Other registration details.

List other places where the systematic review protocol is registered. The name of the organisation and any unique identification number assigned to the review by that organisation should be included.

34. Reference and/or URL for published protocol.

Give the citation and link for the published protocol, if there is one.

Give the link to the published protocol.

Alternatively, upload your published protocol to CRD in pdf format. Please note that by doing so you are consenting to the file being made publicly accessible.

No I do not make this file publicly available until the review is complete

Please note that the information required in the PROSPERO registration form must be completed in full even if access to a protocol is given.

35. Dissemination plans.

Give brief details of plans for communicating essential messages from the review to the appropriate audiences.

The results of this study will be published in leading peer-reviewed journals of the area and also presented at

relevant national and international conferences.

Do you intend to publish the review on completion?

No

36. * Keywords.

Give words or phrases that best describe the review. Separate keywords with a semicolon or new line.

depression; animal models; antidepressants; behavior effects; memory

37. Details of any existing review of the same topic by the same authors.

Give details of earlier versions of the systematic review if an update of an existing review is being registered, including full bibliographic reference if possible.

38. * Current review status.

Review status should be updated when the review is completed and when it is published. Please provide anticipated publication date

Review_Ongoing

39. Any additional information.

Provide any further information the review team consider relevant to the registration of the review.

40. Details of final report/publication(s) or preprints if available.

This field should be left empty until details of the completed review are available OR you have a link to a preprint. Give the full citation for the preprint or final report or publication of the systematic review.

Give the link to the published review.

PERIPHERAL BLOOD AS TOOL TO DETERMINE GENE EXPRESSION PATTERNS IN PATIENTS WITH PSYCHIATRIC, NEUROLOGICAL AND OTHER COMMON DISORDERS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND META-ANALYSIS PROTOCOL

Alana Castro Panzenhagen¹, Alexsander Alves-Teixeira¹, Martina Schroeder Wissmann², Carolina Saibro Girardi¹, Lucas Santos¹, Alexandre Kleber Silveira¹, Daniel Pens Gelain¹, José Cláudio Fonseca Moreira^{1,3,4}

ABSTRACT

Introduction Common diseases are influenced by a variety of factors that can enhance one person's susceptibility to developing a specific condition. Complex traits have been investigated in several biological levels. One that reflects the high interconnectivity and interaction of genes, proteins and transcription factors is the transcriptome. In this study, we disclose the protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis aiming at summarizing the available evidence regarding transcriptomic gene expression levels of peripheral blood samples comparing subjects with psychiatric, neurological and other common disorders to healthy controls.

Methods and analysis The investigation of the transcriptomic levels in the peripheral blood enables the unique opportunity to unravel the etiology of common diseases in patients *ex-vivo*. However, the experimental results should be minimally consistent across studies for them to be considered as the best approximation of the true effect. In order to test this, we will systematically identify all transcriptome studies that compared subjects with common disorders to their respective control samples. We will apply meta-analyses to assess the overall differentially expressed genes throughout the studies of each condition.

Ethics and dissemination The data that will be used to conduct this study are available online and have already been published following their own ethical laws. Therefore this study requires no further ethical approval. The results of this study will be published in

leading peer-reviewed journals of the area and also presented at relevant national and international conferences.

Strengths and limitations of this study

- We present a new and systematically centered method to assess the overall effect of transcriptomic levels in the blood of subjects with common conditions.
- > Meta-analyses are a robust statistical method to assess effect sizes across studies.
- The analysis is limited by the availability of studies, as well as their quality and comprehensiveness.
- Subgroup and meta-regression analyses will be also limited by the amount and quality of sample characterization variables made available by original studies.

INTRODUCTION

Common human diseases are generally multifactorial, being influenced by both environmental and genetic factors that may interact on producing a certain phenotype [1,2]. Those diseases, related to the central nervous system (CNS) or otherwise, are usually associated with inflammation as well, which raises the possibility of systemic causal or resulting effects [3–9]. In neurodegenerative diseases as Parkinson's or Alzheimer's this association has even inspired the coining of the term "inflammaging" [10–12].

Diseases as diabetes, hypertension, psychiatric disorders or even continuous phenotypes, as body mass index (BMI) and height, are usually classified under the umbrella of complex traits. Those traits are influenced by an ensemble of different genetic variants and are therefore polygenic and "complex" [1,13]. This theory had already been partially developed by Fisher in 1919 [14]. Fisher's "infinitesimal model" takes into account that the contribution of each variant and gene becomes smaller as the number of genes associated with a trait grows larger, resulting in a normally distributed phenotype [15].

More recently, researchers have proposed that complex traits are not only polygenic, but also "omnigenic". The hypothesis of the omnigenic model states that all genes expressed in disease-relevant cells can actually affect core disease-related genes because of highly interconnected regulatory networks. This idea would suggest that a great amount of the heritability of those traits can also be explained by the influence of genes outside core pathways [13]. While this theory is nonetheless important to understand the etiology of complex traits, when referring ourselves to common diseases this should be translated into something that can be also applied therapeutically. In this sense, the continuing research on which pathways are mainly responsible for common diseases susceptibility remains crucial.

Multi-omics data has been vastly produced in the last few years from different types of human tissue and in several biological levels, such as in the genome, transcriptome, proteome, and even the microbiome. All these layers interact with each other and assessing a full perspective of the omics data has been one of the greatest challenges of today's

bioinformatics and biostatistics research [16–18]. However, the evidence is not even consolidated or provenly consistent across different studies within each omic. One of the most robust and widely applied statistical methods to solve similar problems in epidemiology is meta-analyzing data subsequently to a well-conducted systematic review of the literature in order to estimate overall effect sizes [19]. Having in mind that the interacting protein networks that influence diseases are mainly related to the regulation of gene expression, we have chosen to focus our study on the transcriptome level. Moreover, as tissue sample availability that is representative of common diseases is scarce, due to high heterogeneity and complexity, the investigation of peripheral factors becomes imperative. This is especially true for brain disorders and, as stated before, systemic effects might bring valuable insight to the matter. Hence, we have chosen to investigate transcriptomic differences in the most abundantly collected peripheral tissue: blood; which will hopefully solve inconsistencies across the field.

This study, therefore, aims at summarizing the available evidence regarding transcriptomic gene expression levels of blood samples comparing subjects with psychiatric, neurological and other common disorders to healthy controls. With this approach, we intend to identify the overall scenario regarding mRNA expression levels profile of complex traits, hopefully clarifying major inconsistencies in the field. Here we disclose the protocols for a systematic review and meta-analysis with the purpose of standardizing our methodology in order to increase quality and comprehensiveness, making it possible to be meticulously replicated hereafter.

METHODS AND ANALYSIS

For the present study report, we have followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Protocols (PRISMA-P) [20].

Eligibility criteria

We will include studies that compared the gene expression levels in blood of patients with psychiatric, neurological, and other common disorders with healthy controls. We will include experimental studies that assessed gene expression levels by coding mRNA quantification through both microarray and RNA-sequencing methodology. Only studies with a specified control or resilience group will be considered. We will include randomized clinical trials (RCTs), cohort, and / or case-control studies, provided that they present a control group without specific and unique treatment administration. Studies should have collected blood samples (leukocytes, lymphocytes, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs)) from patients affected with the disorder and healthy (or resilient) controls. All types of diagnosis will be included regardless of diagnosis manual or tool. Nevertheless, the diagnosis manual/tool will be included as variables in later sensitivity analyses. We have not imposed any restrictions regarding publication date, language or methodological quality, as well as age, sex or ethnicity of participants.

The following exclusion criteria will be applied: i) studies with a sample that comprises only genetically related individuals (*e.g.* family-based studies); ii) studies without original data; iii) studies in which every case has a unique type of comorbidity; iv) studies without healthy (or resilient) controls; v) studies in which remitters are referred to as healthy controls; vi) studies in which the blood samples received any kind of treatment *ex vivo* before microarray analysis or RNA-sequencing; and vii) studies in which all the case sample was receiving a specific type of drug that is not listed as "treatment as usual", such as the mainly prescripted drug or class of drugs.

Search and study identification

Studies will be identified through an online search using two different electronic databases: Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) (<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gds</u>) and ArrayExpress (<u>https://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/</u>). No search filters will be used and the reference list of published studies that were included will be searched for additional independent records. A further database search will be conducted for studies published since the last search date in GEO.

Search strategies will include subject headings for each disorder/disease (**Table 1**), indication for studies with human subjects, and blood. Full search strategies will be provided upon the final publication of the completed study.

Study selection

Study selection and inclusion will be performed in two steps. Firstly through title screening evaluation and secondly, by full GEO / ArrayExpress description details perusal. Both will be conducted by at least two independent reviewers (ACP, ATT, MSW, CSG, LS or AKT). Disagreements will be resolved in consultation with a third reviewer (ACP or JCFM).

Data collection

The descriptive data of each study will be extracted by at least two independent reviewers (ACP, ATT, MSW, CSG, LS or AKT). Discrepancies will be resolved by a third reviewer (ACP or JCFM). Data will be extracted as follows: description of studies (sample size, age mean and standard deviation, gender frequencies in the sample, ethnicity and country/region of origin, date of data collection, type of platform used for transcriptome analyses, diagnostic manual / tool, and data on medication or psychotherapy being used). The transcriptomic outcome data (raw and/or normalized gene expression data) will be assessed through the *GEOquery* R package [21] or by downloading directly from the GEO

and/or ArrayExpress websites. Whenever there is missing data, the authors of the original studies will be contacted. If no response is received in two months, the study will be excluded from the analyses.

Outcome measures

Our primary outcome measure is mRNA levels assessed through microarray (or any other kind of specific array) or by RNA-sequencing methods. Those measures are available in full in the online repositories, and we will, therefore, be able to have access to raw data most of the time. Normalized data will not be a problem in the analyses, as we can convert raw data into normalized if the information on which method was used is provided. Whenever only the mean and standard deviation/error values are provided, the meta-analysis will still remain possible after appropriate measurement conversions.

Bias assessment

Risk of bias will be assessed by two independent raters (ACP and MSW) through the NIH Quality Assessment of Case-Control Studies tool [22]. Any discrepancies in the assessment will be resolved through discussion and, where necessary, by a third rater (JCFM). Studies are rated as presenting high, unclear or low risk of bias. The NIH Quality Assessment tool comprises 12 questions about methodology quality of original case-control studies. However, we chose not to evaluate items 9 to 11, since they are not an issue in transcriptomic studies. This is because the exposure assessment, in this case, is performed by the automatic measurement of microarray or RNA-sequencing of samples. Furthermore, publication bias will be assessed using funnel plots and Egger's regression test [23].

Data synthesis

Gene expression data will be collapsed into one variable for each disorder through the *MetaMA* R package [24] and the overall differentially expressed genes computed. Subgroup analyses will be conducted for every study descriptive characteristics (e.g. gender, age, diagnostic tool, etc.) in which groups of at least three studies are formed.

Heterogeneity and subgroup analyses

Heterogeneity between studies will be assessed using both the χ^2 and the I² tests, in which a p-value ≤ 0.1 will be considered statistically significant in the first, and I² values of 25%, 50% and 75% will be considered as low, moderate and high heterogeneity, respectively. We will conduct separate analyses of studies in groups by gender, age, and ethnicity of subjects when the data is available. We will also separate studies by disorder/disease subtypes or symptom grouping when pertinent, and by diagnostic tool when the data is available. Whether studies present high heterogeneity, we will also perform meta-regression analyses when enough data is available.

Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses will be also performed in order to evaluate result differences related to the effects of individual or specific groups of studies. The following sensitivity analysis are planed: i) the jackknife method, a common procedure used to test the stability of the outcome after excluding one result at a time [25], ii) excluding studies without formal diagnostic criteria from the analyses, and iii) excluding studies presenting a concerning risk of bias (the 25% worst ranked studies). The exploratory objectives of our sensitivity analyses will be to i) observe if any study skews the overall result, ii) examining the impact of studies without formal diagnostic criteria, and iii) evaluate the impact of studies with a high risk of bias.

Pilot study

Each step of the analyses described above will be primarily tested in a pilot study, with a selected set of conditions, which are indicated by an asterisk in **Table 1**. We have chosen this set ambitioning to have more data on a broad variety of common conditions. This pilot study was thought of with the purpose of detecting possible misdesigns in the methodology and spot eventual issues that may emerge during the execution of the systematic review and/or meta-analysis.

ETHICS AND DISSEMINATION

The data that will be used to conduct this study are available online and have already been published following their own ethical laws. Therefore this study requires no further ethical approval. The results of this study will be published in leading peer-reviewed journals of the area and also presented at relevant national and international conferences.
medRxiv preprint doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/19007633; this version posted October 5, 2019. The copyright holder for this preprint (which was not certified by peer review) is the author/funder, who has granted medRxiv a license to display the preprint in perpetuity. It is made available under a CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 International license.

Author affiliations

¹Centro de Estudos em Estresse Oxidativo, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul – Brasil

²Escola de Saúde, Universidade do Vale do Rio dos Sinos (UNISINOS), Brasil

³Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biologia Celular e Molecular da UFRGS, Instituto de Biociências, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul – Brasil

⁴Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biociências, Universidade Federal de Ciências da Saúde de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul - Brasil

Authors' contributions

ACP and JCFM conceived the study. ACP designed and drafted the protocol and ATT, MSW, CSG, LS, AKT, DPG, and JCFM critically revised it. ACP, ATT, MSW, CSG, LS, and AKT will conduct the paired study search and paired inclusion of studies. Data extraction will be performed by ACP, AAT, and MSW. ACP will perform the analyses and draft the systematic review and meta-analysis manuscript and all authors will revise it. All authors have contributed to and approved the final protocol paper, as well as agreed on submission to BMJ Open.

Funding statement

This work was supported by FAPERGS/CNPq12/2014-PRONEX grant number 16/2551-0000 499-4, and also through scholarships by the agencies CNPq, CAPES and PROPESQ/UFRGS.

Competing interests statement

The authors declare no competing interests.

medRxiv preprint doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/19007633; this version posted October 5, 2019. The copyright holder for this preprint (which was not certified by peer review) is the author/funder, who has granted medRxiv a license to display the preprint in perpetuity. It is made available under a CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 International license.

REFERENCES

- 1 Furlong LI. Human diseases through the lens of network biology. *Trends Genet* 2013;**29**:150–9. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2012.11.004
- 2 Quintana-Murci L. Understanding rare and common diseases in the context of human evolution. *Genome Biol* 2016;**17**:225. doi:10.1186/s13059-016-1093-y
- 3 Michopoulos V, Powers A, Gillespie CF, *et al.* Inflammation in Fear- and Anxiety-Based Disorders: PTSD, GAD, and Beyond. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2017;42:254–70. doi:10.1038/npp.2016.146
- 4 Lontchi-Yimagou E, Sobngwi E, Matsha TE, *et al.* Diabetes mellitus and inflammation. *Curr Diab Rep* 2013;**13**:435–44. doi:10.1007/s11892-013-0375-y
- 5 Muriach M, Flores-Bellver M, Romero FJ, *et al.* Diabetes and the brain: oxidative stress, inflammation, and autophagy. *Oxid Med Cell Longev* 2014;**2014**:102158. doi:10.1155/2014/102158
- Réus GZ, Fries GR, Stertz L, *et al.* The role of inflammation and microglial activation in the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. *Neuroscience* 2015;**300**:141–54. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.05.018
- 7 Holmes C. Review: systemic inflammation and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* 2013;**39**:51–68. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.2012.01307.x
- Sampson TR, Debelius JW, Thron T, *et al.* Gut microbiota regulate motor deficits and neuroinflammation in a model of parkinson's disease. *Cell* 2016;167:1469-1480.e12. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.11.018
- 9 Rocha EM, De Miranda B, Sanders LH. Alpha-synuclein: Pathology, mitochondrial dysfunction and neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 2018;109:249–57. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2017.04.004
- 10 Franceschi C, Garagnani P, Vitale G, *et al.* Inflammaging and "Garb-aging". *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 2017;**28**:199–212. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2016.09.005
- Xia S, Zhang X, Zheng S, *et al.* An Update on Inflamm-Aging: Mechanisms, Prevention, and Treatment. *J Immunol Res* 2016;**2016**:8426874. doi:10.1155/2016/8426874
- 12 McGeer PL, Rogers J, McGeer EG. Inflammation, antiinflammatory agents, and alzheimer's disease: the last 22 years. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2016;**54**:853–7. doi:10.3233/JAD-160488
- 13 Boyle EA, Li YI, Pritchard JK. An expanded view of complex traits: from polygenic to omnigenic. *Cell* 2017;**169**:1177–86. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.038

- 14 Fisher RA. The Correlation between Relatives on the Supposition of Mendelian Inheritance. *Trans R Soc Edinb* 1919;**52**:399–433. doi:10.1017/S0080456800012163
- 15 Barton NH, Etheridge AM, Véber A. The infinitesimal model. *BioRxiv* Published Online First: 15 February 2016. doi:10.1101/039768
- 16 Hawe JS, Theis FJ, Heinig M. Inferring Interaction Networks From Multi-Omics Data. *Front Genet* 2019;10:535. doi:10.3389/fgene.2019.00535
- 17 Vasaikar SV, Straub P, Wang J, *et al.* LinkedOmics: analyzing multi-omics data within and across 32 cancer types. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2018;46: D956–63. doi:10.1093/nar/gkx1090
- 18 Huang S, Chaudhary K, Garmire LX. More Is Better: Recent Progress in Multi-Omics Data Integration Methods. *Front Genet* 2017;8:84. doi:10.3389/fgene.2017.00084
- 19 Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, *et al.* Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ* 2009;**339**:b2535. doi:10.1136/bmj.b2535
- 20 Shamseer L, Moher D, Clarke M, *et al.* Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015: elaboration and explanation. *BMJ* 2015;**350**:g7647. doi:10.1136/bmj.g7647
- Davis S, Meltzer PS. GEOquery: a bridge between the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) and BioConductor. *Bioinformatics* 2007;23:1846–7. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btm254
- 22 Study Quality Assessment Tools | National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI). https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools (accessed 11 Sep2019).
- 23 Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, *et al.* Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* 1997;**315**:629–34. doi:10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629
- Marot G. February 20, 2015. CRAN Published Online First: 28 January 2015.https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/metaMA/metaMA.pdf (accessed 11 Sep2019).
- 25 Miller RG. The jackknife-a review. *Biometrika* 1974;**61**:1–15. doi:10.1093/biomet/61.1.1

medRxiv preprint doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/19007633; this version posted October 5, 2019. The copyright holder for this preprint (which was not certified by peer review) is the author/funder, who has granted medRxiv a license to display the preprint in perpetuity. It is made available under a CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 International license.

Psychiatric disorders	Neurological disorders	Immune-relate d diseases	Common diseases and phenotypes
Attention- deficit/hyperactivity disorder	Alzheimer's disease*	Allergy	Body mass index*
Anorexia	Epilepsy	Asthma	Coronary artery disease*
Anxiety disorders	Stroke	Celiac disease	Diabetes*
Autism Spectrum Disorder*	Migraine disorders	Crohn's disease	Height*
Bipolar disorder	Multiple sclerosis	Lupus	Intelligence quotient
Major depressive disorder*	Parkinson's disease*	Psoriasis	Myocardial infarction
Obsessive compulsive disorder		Rheumatoid arthritis	Schooling years
Post-traumatic stress disorder			
Schizophrenia*			
Tourette syndrome			

Table 1 Common conditions and phenotypes that will be included in the study

*Phenotypes that will be used in the pilot study

PROTOCOL

Open Access

Behavioral manifestations in rodent models of autism spectrum disorder: protocol for a systematic review and network meta-analysis

Alana Castro Panzenhagen^{1,2}, Amanda Cavalcanti^{1,3}, Dirson João Stein^{1,4}, Ligia Lins de Castro^{1,5}, Mailton Vasconcelos^{1,6}, Mariana Boechat Abreu^{1,5}, Roberto Farina Almeida^{1,7}, Leandro José Bertoglio^{1,8} and Ana Paula Herrmann^{1,9*}

Abstract

Background: Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental condition associated with severe social communication, interaction, and sensory processing impairments. Efforts to understand its etiology and pathophysiology are crucial for improving treatment and prevention measures. Preclinical models of ASD are essential for investigating the biological mechanisms and should present translatability potential. We aim to evaluate the consistency of the most commonly used rodent models of ASD in displaying autistic-like behavior through a systematic review and meta-analysis.

Methods: This review will focus on the most frequently used autism models, surveying studies of six genetic (*Ube3a*, *Pten*, *Nlgn3*, *Shank3*, *Mecp2*, and *Fmr1*), three chemically induced (valproic acid (VPA), lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C))), and one inbred model (BTBR T+ Itpr3tf/J mouse strain). Two independent reviewers will screen the records. Data extraction of behavioral outcomes and risk of bias evaluation will be performed. We will conduct a meta-analysis whenever at least five studies investigate the same model and behavioral outcome. We will also explore the heterogeneity and publication bias. Network meta-analyses are planned to compare different models.

Discussion: By shortening the gap between animal behavior and human endophenotypes or specific clinical symptoms, we expect to help researchers on which rodent models are adequate for research of specific behavioral manifestations of autism, which potentially require a combination of them depending on the research interest.

Systematic review registration: PROSPERO CRD42021226299.

Keywords: Animal model, Autism, Autism spectrum disorder, Rodent model, Systematic review, Network metaanalysis, Protocol

*Correspondence: ana.herrmann@ufrgs.br

⁹ Departamento de Farmacologia, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, RS, Porto Alegre, Brazil Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



Background

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD), or simply autism, is a neurodevelopmental condition characterized by severe impairments in social communication, interaction, and sensory processing, often accompanied by repetitive behaviors and restricted interests. At the most severe

© The Author(s) 2022. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.



level, patients with ASD may also present varying levels of intellectual disability. Moreover, attention deficit/ hyperactivity, anxiety, major depressive disorders, and epilepsy are relatively frequent comorbidities in people with autism, making their therapeutic management further challenging [1, 2].

The worldwide prevalence of autism is below 1% [3], yet its diagnosis and identification have dramatically increased in the last decades. Epidemiological studies indicate significant variability in prevalence globally, although it is remarkably higher in high-income countries. ASD is highly heritable, occurs in all ethnic and socioeconomic groups, and is over four times more common among males than among females [4].

Despite extensive clinical and preclinical studies, the etiology and pathogenesis of ASD remain unclear. It has gradually led scientists to use in vitro and in vivo animal models to uncover the causes of ASD and improve treatment. This endeavor provided advances in understanding ASD pathophysiology, shedding light on new targets for therapy. Overall, animal models rely on a single gene dysfunction, epigenetic manipulations, or environmental interventions that ultimately influence the expression of risk genes. Although the behavioral assays mimicking specific symptoms are excellent translational research tools to investigate and identify the biological mechanisms underlying the core features of ASD [5], there has been no systematic investigation on whether they are interchangeable or complement each other. Considering the heterogeneity and complexity of ASD, it is hypothesized that a combination of various animal models is necessary to recapitulate its main behavioral manifestations. As a result, compiling information by reviewing and comparing existing data may more effectively guide future researchers' efforts.

Three criteria have been considered for assessing the validity of a given animal model, namely, face validity (i.e., does the model exhibit the salient features of the condition in humans?), construct validity (i.e., is the condition arising from the same biological background?), and predictive validity (i.e., will the model respond to well-established treatments?) [6]. Das et al. [7] present a manually curated annotation tool that used to be updated quarterly and gathered information on ASD research for circa 10 years. AutDB (https://gene.sfari.org/datab ase/animal-models/genetic-animal-models/) is a database platform. In 2019, as reported by Das et al., there were 787 articles identified and 18 behavioral phenotypes most frequently evaluated in genetic, induced, and inbred ASD rodent models. These behaviors were classified as core and auxiliary. Core behaviors are represented by social interaction, ultrasonic vocalization, and repetitive behavior. This classification was proposed by Basu et al. [8] when creating AutDB based on their similarity to the human phenotype (impairment related to social interaction, communication, and repetitive behavior). Das et al. [7] (from the same research group) provide an update regarding the annotated data so far. In order to summarize the evidence from the original studies annotated in AutDB, the researchers separated the results into qualitative terms to indicate the direction of change compared to control animals. Regarding the core categories, "no change" represented at least 36% of the annotations in the autism models used in the analyzed articles. In the auxiliary categories, the lack of changes was even more expressive, reaching 70%.

AutDB is a manually curated tool; however, its methodology for search strategy and selection of studies is far from a systematic review. Moreover, the platform started with a focus on genes for ASD. The search consisted of the terms "gene" AND ("autism" OR "autistic") restricted to the titles and abstracts of the publications for retrieval, only on PubMed. Therefore, we understand that the literature on ASD-like animal models is expressively larger than the one reported in AutDB. Furthermore, there is no quality control or assessment of the risk of bias in the studies annotated, nor is there any data extraction process for conducting meta-analyses. In view of this gap, and considering that Basu et al. [8] and Das et al. [7] are the only reports on attempts to gather the literature on ASD-like animal models, we intend to conduct a thorough systematic review to evaluate the validity and compare different rodent models of ASD available to date. Nonetheless, we based our inclusion criteria on Das et al. [7] report to choose the likely most frequently used models and evaluated behaviors.

This review aims to test model face validity and assess whether the most commonly used rodent ASD models reproduce behavioral phenotypes related to the core symptoms of the condition in humans. Moreover, we mean to understand what secondary phenotypes are also altered in such models. Finally, we will hopefully show which rodent models are more suitable for research in this area, enabling the assertion of models or compilation of models that present specific behavioral manifestations of ASD.

Methods

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols (PRISMA-P) statement [9] was followed to elaborate this protocol, which was registered in PROSPERO under registration number CRD42021226299. We intend to answer the following question through this study: what are the differences and similarities between the behavioral manifestations commonly assessed in the most widely used induced, inbred, or genetic rodent ASD models?

Model selection

This review will focus on the most frequently used ASD rodent models according to the estimate by Das et al. [7], which was based on data retrieved from AutDB. This comprehensive and integrated database collates in-depth annotation of genetic and non-genetic ASD models [8]. A frequency cutoff of at least ten references of either mouse or rat studies was set, leading to the selection of six genetic model groups based on the manipulated genes (Ube3a, Pten, Nlgn3, Shank3, Mecp2, and Fmr1), three chemically induced models (valproic acid (VPA), lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C))), and one inbred model (BTBR T+ Itpr3tf/J mouse strain). The number of references refers directly to what is reported in Das et al. [7], not necessarily corresponding to the number of studies or experiments. This corresponds to the "number of reports" in AutDB (https://gene.sfari.org/database/animal-models/geneticanimal-models/). This evidence has been used to choose the models to be included in the present systematic review. However, none of the data will be retrieved from the annotation tool. A full systematic review will be performed since the methodology used in AutDB does not compare to it in terms of criteria, accuracy, or inclusion of the whole literature on the matter.

Eligibility criteria

We will include preclinical studies evaluating behavioral outcomes in selected ASD models in mice and rats (P-participants/individuals). The E-exposure will include alterations of the whole organism at the DNA level for the genetic model groups based on the manipulated genes, without restriction for temporally controlled conditional models. We will include genetic alterations, such as knock-down, knock-in, or heterozygous models. In this sense, we will group the models as to the risk gene function (increased or decreased gene expression). Although we are confident there will be enough studies by model (we expect to find more studies through a systematic review than AutDB did), we also would like to see the results by groupings, which would make sense due to their biological nature. However, if heterogeneity is too high because of the variability in model development, we will refrain from making any conclusions from these analyses. Only interventions (E-exposure) administered prenatally or postnatally until weaning day (PND21) will be included for the induced models. Only studies with a comparison group (*C-comparison*) will be included; these will include control (without any intervention), sham (same staged intervention with a vehicle application or no actual induction), and wild-type (background genetic architecture). Any behavioral (*O-outcome*) related to the following broad categories will be considered: social or repetitive behavior, communication, emotion, learning and memory, and sensory and motor function (seizurerelated behavior will not be included). There will be no date or language restrictions.

Any publication that does not include original data will be excluded (e.g., review, letter, editorial, comment). We will also exclude studies (1) conducted in species other than rats or mice or purely ex vivo, in vitro, or in silico; (2) without a comparison group (model control); (3) using cell- or tissue-specific genetic models; (4) in which VPA, LPS, or poly(I:C) was not administered prenatally or postnatally until the weaning day (or PND21); (5) in which the groups of interest were subjected to an additional experimental intervention (e.g., stress, rescue treatment); and (6) lacking the report of a behavioral outcome in the categories of interest.

Search strategy

Studies will be identified through a literature search using three electronic databases: MEDLINE, Web of Science Core Collection, and Scopus. The basic combination of search concepts consists of (((Genetics or strain ASD model terms) OR ((Neonatal developmental terms) AND (Induced ASD model terms))) AND (Animal model identification terms). The detailed combination of search terms constructed for each database is shown in Additional file 1. No search filters are going to be used.

Report identification and selection

The identification and selection of reports (both for abstract and full-text screening) will be performed by nine reviewers using a web-based/smartphone application systematic research tool: Rayyan (Rayyan Systems Inc.). After gathering the search results from the three selected databases, duplicates/triplicates will be removed manually with Rayyan's automatic suggestions. Next, the list of unique hits will be randomly split into sets. Each set will be evaluated by a pair of independent reviewers, with a third reviewer as a tiebreaker for conflict cases, ensuring that at least two reviewers evaluate each identified report. The teams of reviewers will be formed at random, and each one will be combined with at least four other reviewers in four sets of unique studies to guarantee diversity in the decision-making style of the report selection. As reviewers will also serve as tiebreakers in other groups, meetings will be held regularly throughout the selection process to discuss identified error biases or address specific cases; this approach will unify decision rules across all reviewers.

The report selection and inclusion will be performed with a two-step screening process. Initially, the decision will be based on the title and abstract, and, if necessary, a full-text screening will be performed to include a report. The full-text review step will also be performed if an exclusion criterion is not observed in the first step.

Data collection

Five reviewers will extract all data, and a training procedure will be implemented to assure standardization of the process. The quality control procedures will be implemented in the early extraction stages. During the pilot phase of data collection, we expect to determine common variables for the more frequent phenotypic analysis, reducing data amount and facilitating the training for homogeneous and reliable data extraction. When the information required is not available, the corresponding author or the first and last authors of the original studies will be e-mailed. If no answer is received in 2 months, the records will be excluded from the analysis. Data and tables with relevant information will be accessed manually. Information of graphs and figures will be extracted using the WebPlotDigitizer version 4.3 software.

The following data will be extracted: study design (controlled trial or cross-over, number of experimental groups, and sample sizes) and animal model (species, strain, sex, type of disease induction, age of the animal upon induction, age at measurements, number of control groups, type of housing after weaning, and outcome assessment). In the case of induced models, intensity, dose, and administration route will be assessed. All reported measures will be extracted for the tests described in the "Outcomes" section.

The summary statistics to be extracted are mean, standard deviation (SD) by group, sample size when data are continuous, or percentage and sample size when data are dichotomous. Other effect measures will be extracted when the mean and SD or percentage are not available. We will recheck a random sample of 10% of studies and, based on the results, cross-check all the remaining data only for the variables where the highest proportion of mistakes are observed ("tricky variables").

Outcomes

A complete profile of behavioral outcomes in rodent ASD models adapted from AutDB will be used in this study. We will include tests of social memory, social interaction, social approach, self-grooming, repetitive digging, ultrasonic vocalization, exploratory activity, anxiety, spatial reference memory, spatial learning, object recognition memory, cued or contextual fear conditioning, motor coordination and balance, general locomotor activity, startle response, sensorimotor gating, and pain or nociception. A complete description of each behavioral category is listed in Additional file 2, where the phenoterms and tests, as described by Das et al. [7], are classified into seven categories (social behavior, repetitive behavior, communications, emotions, learning and memory, sensory, motor). In ASD models with face validity, we would expect the following differences (as compared to control animals) in the core behaviors: reduced social behavior (e.g., three-chamber sociability test: time in the social chamber), reduced communication (e.g., ultrasonic vocalizations: number of calls), and increased repetitive behavior (e.g., home cage behavior: repetitive rearing and climbing). The evaluation of outcomes from the auxiliary categories of phenoterms (emotion, learning and memory, sensory, motor) will be exploratory for the different studied models.

Risk of bias

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies will be evaluated by the SYstematic Review Centre for Laboratory animal Experimentation (SYRCLE's) risk of bias tool (RoB) [10], with suitable modifications adjusted by aspects that play relevant roles in ASD-associated rodent models. Each report criterion of the SYRCLE RoB tool to detect the risk of bias will be judged by experienced investigators according to the following items: (1) reporting of random allocation, (2) reporting of baseline characteristics, (3) reporting regarding if the animals were randomly housed during the experiment, (4) reporting the blinding methods used by caregivers and investigators, (5) reporting animal random outcome assessment, (6) reporting of blinded assessment of outcome, (7) reporting of animal exclusions, (8) selective outcome reporting, (9) reporting the correct unit-of-analysis, and (10) reporting of sample size calculation. Classification of low, high, or unclear risk of bias will be assigned for each item evaluating every included report, except the first item (reporting of random allocation) that will be characterized as low risk of bias (authors describe the method used to randomize), unclear (authors only say "random" without any specification), uncertain (authors did not describe the method used to randomize the sample), and high risk of bias (it is not random). After the risk of bias assessment, we will recheck a random sample of 10% of reports. Tricky items will be considered and discussed when interpreting the results.

Data synthesis

A meta-analysis will be conducted whenever at least five studies have the same design, reporting data for the same animal model, comparison group, and behavioral test type. The effect measures used to perform the meta-analysis will be standardized mean difference and odds or risk ratios when the first is impossible. The analysis will follow a random-effects model to account for heterogeneity. We will use "report" as a random factor. Notwithstanding, I^2 and Cochran Q statistics will be employed to quantify the statistical heterogeneity among studies. We will investigate any possible source of heterogeneity after conducting a subgroup analysis and consider adding them to the random-effects model.

Whenever one control is used multiple times, the final sample (of that control group) will be adjusted by dividing the total sample size by the number of times that group is included in the analysis.

A network meta-analysis will also be performed, comparing the models for each outcome, provided that each model has at least five different studies investigating the same behavior. Subgroup meta-analyses (meta-regression or stratified regression) will also be conducted according to the following potential heterogeneity introducing variables: species, strain, sex, intensity and duration of model behavior induction, age and weight of animals, lab/study group, and analyses by specific behavioral tests. All these will be performed when the subgroup is composed of at least ten different original studies.

When there are multiple and comparable outcomes reported for the same behavioral test (e.g., for elevated plus-maze: time spent in open arms, distance traveled in open arms, number of entries in open arms), we will choose the most frequently reported metric across studies; if a report does not report the chosen metric, then we will use the second most frequently reported metric, and so forth. The sign of the effect size will be reversed (multiplying it by minus one) when needed so that the direction of the effect can be interpreted consistently if the metrics have opposite meanings for the behavioral trait (e.g., exploration in the open versus closed arms in the elevated plus-maze; correct choices versus the number of errors in learning tests). Behavioral variables that are not the most common across reports for the same behavioral test will not be used in the meta-analysis. Moreover, we will refrain from mixing different behavioral tests that are not based on the same apparatus (e.g., grooming in the open field test and grooming in the elevated plus-maze test).

Sensitivity analyses will be performed as follows: (a) following the Jackknife method for all main meta-analysis groups, (b) according to the risk of bias quality score of original studies (poorly classified studies with two or more items rated as high risk of bias will be excluded—this represents around a quarter of the studies based on our pilot data), and (c) in case of doubts regarding the assumptions and interpretation of previous analyses. Publication bias will be investigated through funnel plotting and Egger's regression test [11]. These will only be

All analyses will be conducted using the R Project for Statistical Computing (https://www.r-project.org/) [12] packages *metafor* (https://cran.r-project.org/package= metafor) [13] and *ggplot2* [14].

Whenever a meta-analysis is not possible to be conducted, the descriptive summary and effect sizes from the original studies will be compared qualitatively, also following the five (5) studies' rule. We will summarize the effect estimates, discussing the range and distribution of observed effects when a comparable estimate of effect is provided (or can be arrived upon through conversion). A narrative summary will be done carefully considering the study quality (including the risk of bias) and sample sizes. Figures (including scatterplots, barplots, or radar plots) will also be constructed to visualize the differences in effect, *P*-value, and direction of findings over the years.

Piloting

Every step of the methods for this protocol either has been piloted or is planned to be piloted in the next steps of the systematic review. The search described in Additional file 1 and performed on November 5, 2020, identified 18,336 reports in Scopus, 14,202 in Web of Science, and 17,648 in PubMed. The duplicates were removed manually with the help from the Rayyan AI for identification. After this step, the remaining reports (24,983) were randomized, and a sample of 378 reports was used for report selection piloting. Agreement between all nine reviewers reached 95%. Moreover, 6% of the reports were included, leading us to estimate around 1500 to be included in the systematic review.

We have decided to include a variety of behavioral tests, as described in Additional file 2. However, only studies within the same animal model and that have data on the same variables for the same behavioral tests will be compared in the traditional meta-analysis. This means that we have to identify all common tests before going further. With this in mind, the first step in our data extraction procedure will be a screening of all included studies to identify tests and variables used in the original reports. This will guide us as to which studies can be compared. From the screening, we will have data on which animals were used for which behavioral assessment and if the same variables were reported within and between different reports. This will allow us to identify and control the analyses (if applicable) for duplicated samples, repeated measures, and which outcomes are more widely reported for each comparable behavioral assay.

The entire protocol has been based on small pilot studies. A large part of the group has been trained to conduct systematic reviews with meta-analyses of preclinical studies; pilots are the form of training we have adopted. We had pilot phases that often consisted of familiarization, followed by training, and finally, a comparison of reliability or other metrics among researchers. Researchers met regularly to discuss the issues and misunderstandings. That happened for the use of Rayyan and initial selection of the studies and will happen for the data extraction. For the screening pilot, four rounds of judgment were performed with 50–60 hits of random abstracts per round; agreement between all nine reviewers reached 95%.

For the risk of bias analysis pilot, the SYRCLE's tool for risk of bias assessment was adapted for the two groups of studies based on the induced or genetically altered models of ASD. After three rounds of judgment with 20 fulltext studies per round, we obtained an agreement of 85%, on average, for studies of induced models. Training for risk of bias in models based on genetic alterations, data extraction, and conducting meta-analyses has not yet been completed.

Discussion

We established the current protocol to synthesize and compare the behavioral outcomes of studies using common genetic- (Pten, Fmr1, Ube3a, Nlgn3, Shank3, or Mecp2) and chemically induced (VPA, LPS, or poly(I:C)) rodent models of ASD, besides the BTBR mice, an inbred strain naturally expressing manifestations similar to the core human phenotypes [15]. It is anticipated that researchers interested in this field, especially those aiming at combining complementary models to advance the neurobiology and therapeutic interventions for autism spectrum disorders in humans, will benefit from having comprehensive information on this subject to plan new study designs. Another expected contribution of this review is improving research reproducibility and translatability, minimizing research costs and waste. Finally, by intending to bridge the gap between animal behavior and human endophenotypes or specific clinical symptoms, we expect to foster clinical ASD research indirectly.

Abbreviations

ASD: Autism spectrum disorder; PRISMA-P: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols; Ube3a: Ubiquitin-protein ligase E3A; Pten: Phosphatase and tensin homolog; NIgn3: Neuroligin-3; Shank3: SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domains 3; Mecp2: Methyl CpG binding protein 2; Fmr1: Fragile X mental retardation 1; LPS: Lipopolysaccharide; VPA: Valproic acid; Poly(I:C): Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid; BTBR: BTBR ⁺¹Itpr3t^{f/J} mouse strain; PND: Postnatal day; SYRCLE: SYstematic Review Centre for Laboratory animal Experimentation; RoB: Risk of bias; SD: Standard deviation.

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-022-02028-w.

Additional file 1. Search strategy. The complete search strategy syntax for PubMed, Web of Science, and Scopus databases.

Additional file 2. Behavioral outcomes. List of behavioral categories and examples of experimental paradigms.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Instituto Serrapilheira, the funder of the Brazilian Reproducibility Initiative (https://reprodutibilidade.bio.br). The Brazilian Reproducibility Initiative in Preclinical Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (BRISA) Collaboration (https://reprodutibilidade.bio.br/brisa) emerged as a spin-off of the Brazilian Reproducibility Initiative.

Authors' contributions

ACP (guarantor) devised and designed the research and contributed to writing the manuscript. All authors contributed to the writing and deciding critical points of the methodology, critically evaluated methodological planning, and read and approved the final manuscript. In addition, APH provided invaluable clinical translatability inputs and supervised the protocol.

Funding

This work is supported by Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), and Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) by providing scholarship stipend to ACP. Funding bodies had no role in the study's design, collection, analysis, data interpretation, or manuscript writing.

Availability of data and materials

All raw data, processed and meta-data, analysis codes used, lists of included and excluded full-text studies, and the datasets generated and analyzed during the current study will be made available in the Open Science Framework repository (https://doi.org/10.17605/OSF.IO/DXMW7) [15].

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Since this protocol is for a systematic review and meta-analysis, ethical approval is not required.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹ Brazilian Reproducibility Initiative in preclinical Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (BRISA) Collaboration, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil. ²Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas: Bioquímica, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ³Instituto Nacional de Traumatologia e Ortopedia, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil. ⁴Programa de Pós-Graduação em Medicina: Ciências Médicas, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ⁵Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil. ⁶Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil. ⁷Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, SC, Brazil. ⁹Departamento de Farmacologia, Instituto de Ciências Básicas da Saúde, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, RS, Porto Alegre, Brazil.

Received: 13 October 2021 Accepted: 13 July 2022 Published online: 26 July 2022

- Hossain MM, Khan N, Sultana A, Ma P, McKyer ELJ, Ahmed HU, et al. Prevalence of comorbid psychiatric disorders among people with autism spectrum disorder: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and metaanalyses. Psychiatry Res. 2020;287:112922.
- Feroe AG, Uppal N, Gutiérrez-Sacristán A, Mousavi S, Greenspun P, Surati R, et al. Medication use in the management of comorbidities among individuals with autism spectrum disorder from a large nationwide insurance database. JAMA Pediatr. 2021;175:957–65.
- Chiarotti F, Venerosi A. Epidemiology of autism spectrum disorders: a review of worldwide prevalence estimates since 2014. Brain Sci. 2020;10:274.
- Loomes R, Hull L, Mandy WPL. What is the male-to-female ratio in autism spectrum disorder? A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2017;56:466–74.
- Crawley JN. Translational animal models of autism and neurodevelopmental disorders. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2012;14:293–305.
- Tadenev ALD, Burgess RW. Model validity for preclinical studies in precision medicine: precisely how precise do we need to be? Mamm Genome. 2019;30:111–22.
- Das I, Estevez MA, Sarkar AA, Banerjee-Basu S. A multifaceted approach for analyzing complex phenotypic data in rodent models of autism. Mol Autism. 2019;10:11.
- Basu SN, Kollu R, Banerjee-Basu S. AutDB: a gene reference resource for autism research. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009;37(Database issue):D832–6.
- Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, et al. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev. 2015;4:1.
- Hooijmans CR, Rovers MM, de Vries RBM, Leenaars M, Ritskes-Hoitinga M, Langendam MW. SYRCLE's risk of bias tool for animal studies. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014;14:43.
- 11. Egger M, Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. BMJ. 1997;315:629–34.
- 12. R Development Core Team. R: the R Project for Statistical Computing. 2021. https://www.r-project.org/. Accessed 30 May 2022.
- Viechtbauer W. Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. J Stat Softw. 2010;36:1–48.
- 14. Wilkinson L. ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis by Wickham, H. Biometrics. 2011;67:678–9.
- Panzenhagen A, Herrmann AP, Bertoglio L, Cavalcanti A, Stein D, de Castro L, et al. W12. behavioral manifestations in genetic rodent models of autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analyses. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2021;51:e153–4.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



2. Co-authored research articles published during the PhD

On the following pages there are presented research articles published in peer-reviewed journals as co-author.

In summary:

1. Systematic review and meta-analysis of 10 years of unpredictable chronic stress in zebrafish. Lab Anim (IF = 6.9). Oct 2023.

 Site effects how-to and when: An overview of retrospective techniques to accommodate site effects in multi-site neuroimaging analyses. Front Neurol (IF = 4.086). Oct 2022.

 Neurological impairment caused by Schistosoma mansoni systemic infection exhibits early features of idiopathic neurodegenerative disease. JBC. (IF = 5.486) Jul 2021.

 Incidence of lung cancer and mortality among civil construction industry workers: A protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLOS ONE (IF = 3.582). Apr 2021.

5. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and brain metabolites from proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy: a systematic review and meta-analysis protocol. Trends Psychiatry Psychother (Impact Score: 2.30). Mar 2021.

6. Effects of foetal and breastfeeding exposure to methylmercury (MeHg) and retinol palmitate (Vitamin A) in rats: Redox parameters and susceptibility to DNA damage in liver. Mutat Res Genet (IF = 3.189). Dec 2020

7. Virtual meetings and social isolation in COVID-19 times: transposable barriers.Trends Psychiatry Psychother (Impact Score: 2.30). Sep 2020.

8. Hepatic and neurobiological effects of foetal and breastfeeding and adulthood exposure to methylmercury in Wistar rats. Chemosphere (IF = 8.943). Apr 2020.

3. Attendance in conferences

3.1. Work presented as poster

"Inflammatory markers and suicide behaviour: a systematic review and metaanalysis," World Congress of Psychiatric Genetics, Montreal, Canada, 2023.

"Biclustering Algorithm Applied to Structural Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Major Depressive Disorder," Society of Biological Psychiatry Meeting, San Diego, USA, 2023.

"Biclustering Algorithm Applied to Structural Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Major Depressive Disorder," World Congress of Psychiatric Genetics, Florence, Italy, 2022.

"Hippocampal histone trimethylation and neurogenesis are associated with resilience in a rat model with depressive-like behavior," ISN-APSN Meeting, Honolulu, USA, 2022.

"Behavioral Manifestations in Genetic Rodent Models of Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses," World Congress of Psychiatric Genetics, Virtual, 2021.

"Peripheral Blood as a Tool to Determine Gene Expression Patterns in Patients With Psychiatric and Neurological Disorders: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis," World Congress of Psychiatric Genetics, Virtual, 2020.

"The evolutionary interplay of human apoptosis, senescence, autophagy and genome- stability gene pathways," Natal Bioinformatics Forum, Natal, Brazil, 2019.

3.2. Speaker

"A investigação de marcadores inflamatórios através das ômicas em transtornos de humor," XV Congresso Gaúcho de Psiquiatria, Virtual, 2022

Chair in the Systematic review in psychotherapy session, XIV Congresso Gaúcho de Psiquiatria, Bento Gonçalves, 2019

4. Awards and positions within scientific initiatives

4.1. Awards
PGC Trainers Program
October 2023
Society of Biological Psychiatry Travel Fellowship Award
April 2023
International Society of Neurochemistry Travel Award
August 2022

WCPG Early Career Investigator Program Award

October 2020

4.2. Positions in scientific initiatives

Latin American Genomics Consortium - Suicide Working Group

Member since 2022

Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy

Junior Editor since 2020

Brazilian Reproducibility Initiative in preclinical Systematic review and meta-

Analysis

Founding member since 2020 and co-coordinator (2020-2022)

5. Co-supervised BSc and MSc theses

M.Sc.

 Present. Student: Lorena Pigoso. University: Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina (UFSC)

M.D.

• 2021. Student: Isabel de Carvalho Cyrne. University: Universidade do Vale do Taquari (UNIVATES)

• 2020. Student: Luciano Gouvea De Moraes Silva. University: Universidade do Vale do Taquari (UNIVATES)

• 2019. Student: Lucas Pires Freitas. University: Universidade do Vale do Taquari (UNIVATES)

• 2019. Student: Augusto Cézar Sartori Maffini. University: Universidade do Vale do Taquari (UNIVATES)

B.Sc.

• 2018. Student: Maikel Varal. University: Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS)